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Does 1-99

New Braunfels, TX 78132
PRO SE

Date Filed

Docket Text

07/05/2016

.16

COMPLAINT against All Defendants (Filing fee $ 400) filed by Rick
Wayne Munson, Candace Louise Curtis. (Attachments: # 1 (p.16)
Civil Cover Sheet, # 2 (p.82) Cover Letter)(rosaldana, 4) (Main
Document 1 replaced on 7/7/2016) (rosaldana, 4). (Entered:
07/05/2016)

07/05/2016

2 (p.82)

Plaintiff Candace Louise Curtis' MOTION for Permission for
Electronic Case Filing by Candace Louise Curtis, filed. Motion
Docket Date 7/26/2016. (Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Proposed
Order)(rosaldana, 4) (Entered: 07/05/2016)

07/05/2016

Initial Filing fee: $400 re: 1 (p.16) Complaint, receipt number
HOU064001, filed. (thanniable, 4) (Entered: 07/05/2016)

07/06/2016

:

.84

ORDER for Initial Pretrial and Scheduling Conference and Order to
Disclose Interested Persons. Initial Conference set for 10/28/2016 at
09:00 AM in Courtroom 8B before Judge Alfred H Bennett(Signed
by Judge Alfred H Bennett) Parties notified.(ckrus, 4) (Entered:
07/06/2016)

07/20/2016

8

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES by Plantiffs,
filed.(jtabares, 1) (Entered: 07/22/2016)

07/22/2016

o~

.86

WAIVER OF SERVICE Returned Executed as to Candace
Kunz-Freed served on 7/9/2016, answer due 9/7/2016, filed.(Reed,
Cory) (Entered: 07/22/2016)

07/22/2016

(@]

87

WAIVER OF SERVICE Returned Executed as to Albert VVacek, Jr
served on 7/12/2016, answer due 9/12/2016, filed.(Reed, Cory)
(Entered: 07/22/2016)

07/25/2016

~J

90

Mail Returned Undeliverable as to Candace Louise Curtis re: 3 (p.84)
Order for Initial Conference - FORM,, filed. (klopez, 7) (Entered:
07/28/2016)

07/28/2016

(Court only) Documents Sent by regular mail to Candace Louise
Curtis re: 3 (p.84) Order for Initial Conference - FORM,, filed.
(klopez, 7) (Entered: 07/28/2016)

08/05/2016

O

93

WAIVER OF SERVICE Returned Executed as to Christine Riddle
Butts served on 7/9/2016, answer due 9/7/2016, filed.(dnoriega, 1)
(Entered: 08/08/2016)

08/05/2016

94

WAIVER OF SERVICE Returned Executed as to Clarinda Comstock
served on 7/9/2016, answer due 9/7/2016, filed.(dnoriega, 1)
(Entered: 08/08/2016)
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08/08/2016

92

WAIVER OF SERVICE Returned Executed as to Jason Ostrom
served on 7/9/2016, answer due 9/7/2016, filed.(Ostrom, Jason)
(Entered: 08/08/2016)

08/10/2016

9

WAIVER OF SERVICE Returned Executed as to Bobbie Bayless
served on 8/2/2016, answer due 10/3/2016, filed.(dnoriega, 1)
(Entered: 08/11/2016)

08/10/2016

E| Bl

96

NOTICE of Related Case by Rick Wayne Munson, filed. (dnoriega,
1) (Entered: 08/11/2016)

08/10/2016

—

99

MOTION for Permission for Electronic Case Filing by Candace
Louise Curtis, Rick Wayne Munson, filed. Motion Docket Date
8/31/2016. (Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Proposed Order)(dnoriega, 1)
(Entered: 08/11/2016)

08/12/2016

104

ORDER granting 13 (p.99) MOTION Permission for Electronic Case
Filing (Signed by Judge Alfred H Bennett) Parties notified.(olindor,
4) (Entered: 08/12/2016)

08/16/2016

105

Request for Issuance of Summons as to Toni Biamonte, Amy
Brunsting, Anita Brunsting, Bradley Featherston, Gregory Lester,
Bernard Lyle Matthews, Il1, Stephen A. Mendel, Darlene Payne
Smith, Neal Spielman, Jill Williard Young, filed.(Munson, Rik)
(Entered: 08/16/2016)

08/17/2016

Summons Issued as to Toni Biamonte, Amy Brunsting, Anita
Brunsting, Bradley Featherston, Gregory Lester, Bernard Lyle
Matthews, 111, Stephen A. Mendel, Darlene Payne Smith, Neal
Spielman, Jill Williard Young. Issued summons returned to plaintiff
by: First-class mail, filed.(hler, 4) (Entered: 08/17/2016)

08/18/2016

(Court only) ***Motion(s) terminated: 2 (p.82) MOTION for
Permission for Electronic Case Filing. (ledwards, 4) (Entered:
08/18/2016)

08/24/2016

125

First CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES by Jason Ostrom,
filed.(Ostrom, Jason) (Entered: 08/24/2016)

08/30/2016

128

WAIVER OF SERVICE Returned Executed as to Toni Biamonte
served on 8/16/2016, answer due 10/17/2016, filed.(ssilva, 7)
(Entered: 08/31/2016)

09/02/2016

129

Unopposed MOTION for Extension of Time File Responsive
Pleading by Jason Ostrom, filed. Motion Docket Date 9/23/2016.
(Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Proposed Order)(Ostrom, Jason) (Entered:
09/02/2016)

09/07/2016

133

MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM by
Candace Kunz-Freed, Albert Vacek, Jr, filed. Motion Docket Date
9/28/2016. (Reed, Cory) (Entered: 09/07/2016)

09/07/2016

153

MOTION to Dismiss For Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction by
Candace Kunz-Freed, Albert Vacek, Jr, filed. Motion Docket Date
9/28/2016. (Reed, Cory) (Entered: 09/07/2016)

09/07/2016

167
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CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES by Bobbie Bayless,
filed.(Bayless, Bobbie) (Entered: 09/07/2016)

09/07/2016

22 (p.171

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES by Candace
Kunz-Freed, Albert Vacek, Jr, filed.(Reed, Cory) (Entered:
09/07/2016)

09/07/2016

23 (p.174

MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM by
Bobbie Bayless, filed. Motion Docket Date 9/28/2016. (Attachments:
# 1 (p.16) Proposed Order)(Bayless, Bobbie) (Entered: 09/07/2016)

09/08/2016

24 (p.180

ORDER granting 18 (p.129) Unopposed MOTION for Extension of
Time File Responsive Pleading. Responses due by 11/7/2016.(Signed
by Judge Alfred H Bennett) Parties notified.(olindor, 4) (Entered:
09/09/2016)

09/12/2016

28 (p.1766

MOTION for Access to Electronic Filing by Anita Brunsting, filed.
Motion Docket Date 10/3/2016. (Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Proposed
Order)(mxperez, 5) (Entered: 09/19/2016)

09/12/2016

29 (p.1772

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES by Anita Brunsting,
filed.(ocasas, 7) (Entered: 09/19/2016)

09/15/2016

25 (p.181

MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM by
Jill Williard Young, filed. Motion Docket Date 10/6/2016.
(Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Exhibit A)(Schaefer, Rafe) (Entered:
09/15/2016)

09/15/2016

26 (p.202

Supplemental MEMORANDUM addendum re: 1 (p.16) Complaint
by Candace Louise Curtis, filed. (Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Exhibit, # 2
(p.82) Exhibit, # 3 (p.84) Exhibit, # 4 (p.86) Exhibit, # 5 (p.87)
Exhibit, # 6 (p.88) Exhibit, # 7 (p.90) Exhibit, # 8 (p.92) Exhibit, # 9
(p.93) Exhibit, # 10 (p.94) Exhibit, # 11 (p.95) Exhibit, # 12 (p.96)
Exhibit, # 13 (p.99) Exhibit, # 14 (p.104) Exhibit, # 15 (p.105)
Exhibit, # 16 (p.125) Exhibit, # 17 (p.128) Exhibit, # 18 (p.129)
Exhibit, # 19 (p.133) Exhibit, # 20 (p.153) Exhibit, # 21 (p.167)
Exhibit, # 22 (p.171) Exhibit, # 23 (p.174) Exhibit, # 24 (p.180)
Exhibit, # 25 (p.181) Exhibit, # 26 (p.202) Exhibit, # 27 (p.1763)

Exhibit, # 28 (p.1766) Exhibit, # 29 (p.1772) Exhibit, # 30 (p.1776)
Exhibit, # 31 (p.1783) Exhibit)(Munson, Rik) (Entered: 09/15/2016)

09/16/2016

30 (p.1776

MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM by
Anita Brunsting, filed. Motion Docket Date 10/7/2016. (Attachments:
# 1 (p.16) Proposed Order)(rnieto, 1) (Entered: 09/22/2016)

09/16/2016

31 (p.1783)

MOTION for Access to Electronic Filing by Amy Brunsting, filed.
Motion Docket Date 10/7/2016. (Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Proposed
Order) (rnieto, 1) (Entered: 09/22/2016)

09/16/2016

32 (p.1789

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES by Amy Brunsting,
filed. (rnieto, 1) (Entered: 09/23/2016)

09/18/2016

27 (p.1763

AFFIDAVIT, filed.(Munson, Rik) (Entered: 09/18/2016)

09/21/2016

35 (p.2296

MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM by
Amy Brunsting, filed. Motion Docket Date 10/12/2016.
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(Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Proposed Order)(avleal, 1) (Entered:
09/28/2016)

09/27/2016

33 (p.1793

RESPONSE in Opposition to 20 (p.153) MOTION to Dismiss For
Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction, 19 (p.133) MOTION TO
DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM , filed by Rik
Wayne Munson. (Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Exhibit, # 2 (p.82) Exhibit,
# 3 (p.84) Exhibit, # 4 (p.86) Exhibit, # 5 (p.87) Exhibit, # 6 (p.88)
Exhibit, # 7 (p.90) Exhibit, # 8 (p.92) Exhibit, # 9 (p.93) Exhibit, # 10
(p.94) Exhibit)(Munson, Rik) (Entered: 09/27/2016)

09/27/2016

34 (p.2060)

RESPONSE in Opposition to 23 (p.174) MOTION TO DISMISS
FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM , filed by Rik Wayne
Munson. (Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Exhibit, # 2 (p.82) Exhibit, # 3
(p.84) Exhibit, # 4 (p.86) Exhibit, # 5 (p.87) Exhibit, # 6 (p.88)
Exhibit, # 7 (p.90) Exhibit, # 8 (p.92) Exhibit, # 9 (p.93) Exhibit, # 10
(p.94) Exhibit, # 11 (p.95) Exhibit)(Munson, Rik) (Entered:
09/27/2016)

09/30/2016

36 (p.2303

MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM -
Rule 12(b)(6) by Bradley Featherston, Stephen A. Mendel, filed.
Motion Docket Date 10/21/2016. (Mendel, Stephen) (Entered:
09/30/2016)

09/30/2016

37 (p.2314

First CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES by Bradley
Featherston, Stephen A. Mendel, filed.(Mendel, Stephen) (Entered:
09/30/2016)

10/03/2016

38 (p.2318

MOTION to Strike 26 (p.202) Memorandum,, by Jill Williard Young,
filed. Motion Docket Date 10/24/2016. (Schaefer, Rafe) (Entered:
10/03/2016)

10/03/2016

39 (p.2328

MOTION to Dismiss by Neal Spielman, filed. Motion Docket Date
10/24/2016. (Schexnayder, Martin) (Entered: 10/03/2016)

10/03/2016

40 (p.2335

MOTION to Dismiss based on lack of subject matter jurisdiction by
Neal Spielman, filed. Motion Docket Date 10/24/2016. (Schexnayder,
Martin) (Entered: 10/03/2016)

10/03/2016

41 (p.2341)

RESPONSE to 25 (p.181) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE
TO STATE A CLAIM filed by Candace Louise Curtis. (Attachments:
# 1 (p.16) Exhibit, # 2 (p.82) Exhibit, # 3 (p.84) Exhibit, # 4 (p.86)
Exhibit, # 5 (p.87) Exhibit, # 6 (p.88) Exhibit, # 7 (p.90) Exhibit, # 8

(p.92) Exhibit, # 9 (p.93) Exhibit, # 10 (p.94) Exhibit, # 11 (p.95)
Exhibit)(Curtis, Candace) (Entered: 10/03/2016)

10/04/2016

42 (p.2490)

JOINDER in 38 (p.2318) MOTION to Strike 26 (p.202)
Memorandum,, , filed by Candace Kunz-Freed, Albert Vacek, Jr.
(Reed, Cory) (Entered: 10/04/2016)

10/05/2016

43 (p.2494)

MOTION to Consolidate Lead Case No. 4:12-cv-0592 and Member
Case No. 4:16-cv-01969 by Candace Louise Curtis, filed. Motion
Docket Date 10/26/2016. (Curtis, Candace) (Entered: 10/05/2016)

10/05/2016

48 (p.2588

RETURN of Service of SUMMONS Executed as to Jill Williard
Young served on 8/26/2016, answer due 9/16/2016, filed.(mcodina,
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7) (Entered: 10/07/2016)

10/05/2016

49 (p.2590)

RETURN of Service of SUMMONS Executed as to Anita Brunsting
served on 8/25/2016, answer due 9/15/2016, filed.(mcodina, 7)
(Entered: 10/07/2016)

10/05/2016

50 (p.2592

RETURN of Service of SUMMONS Executed as to Gregory Lester
served on 9/2/2016, answer due 9/23/2016, filed.(mcodina, 7)
(Entered: 10/07/2016)

10/05/2016

51 (p.2594

RETURN of Service of SUMMONS Executed as to Amy Brunsting
served on 8/30/2016, answer due 9/20/2016, filed.(mcodina, 7)
(Entered: 10/07/2016)

10/05/2016

52 (p.2596

RETURN of Service of SUMMONS Executed as to Stephen A.
Mendel served on 9/2/2016, answer due 9/23/2016, filed.(mcodina, 7)
(Entered: 10/07/2016)

10/06/2016

44 (p.2509

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES by Neal Spielman,
filed.(Schexnayder, Martin) (Entered: 10/06/2016)

10/06/2016

45 (p.2511

RESPONSE to 30 (p.1776) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE
TO STATE A CLAIM, 35 (p.2296) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR
FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM filed by Candace Louise Curtis.
(Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Exhibit, # 2 (p.82) Exhibit, # 3 (p.84)
Exhibit)(Curtis, Candace) (Entered: 10/06/2016)

10/06/2016

46 (p.2579

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES by Jill Williard Young,
filed.(Schaefer, Rafe) (Entered: 10/06/2016)

10/07/2016

47 (p.2583)

Unopposed MOTION for Leave to File Motion to Dismiss In Excess
of Page Limit by Toni Biamonte, Christine Riddle Butts, Clarinda
Comstock, filed. Motion Docket Date 10/28/2016. (Attachments: # 1
(p.16) Proposed Order)(Hedge, Laura) (Entered: 10/07/2016)

10/07/2016

53 (p.2598

MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM by
Toni Biamonte, Christine Riddle Butts, Clarinda Comstock, filed.
Motion Docket Date 10/28/2016. (Hedge, Laura) (Entered:
10/07/2016)

10/07/2016

54 (p.2631)

MOTION for Leave to File Motion To Dismiss In Excess of Page
Limit( Motion Docket Date 10/28/2016.), Unopposed AMENDED 47
(p.2583) MOTION by Toni Biamonte, Christine Riddle Buitts,
Clarinda Comstock, filed. (Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Proposed
Order)(Hedge, Laura) (Entered: 10/07/2016)

10/11/2016

55 (p.2636

REPLY in Support of 25 (p.181) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR
FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM , filed by Jill Williard Young.
(Schaefer, Rafe) (Entered: 10/11/2016)

10/11/2016

61 (p.2692

MOTION to Consolidate Lead Case No. 4:12-cv-592 and Member
Case No. 4:16-cv-1969 by Candace Louise Curtis, filed. Motion
Docket Date 11/1/2016. (Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Proposed
Order)(jengonzalez, 7) (Entered: 10/14/2016)

10/12/2016

56 (p.2643

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES by Toni Biamonte,
Christine Riddle Butts, Clarinda Comstock, filed.(Hedge, Laura)
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(Entered: 10/12/2016)

10/13/2016

57 (p.2648)

RESPONSE to 53 (p.2598) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE
TO STATE A CLAIM filed by Rik Wayne Munson. (Attachments: #
1 (p.16) Exhibit, # 2 (p.82) Exhibit, # 3 (p.84) Exhibit)(Munson, Rik)
(Entered: 10/13/2016)

10/13/2016

58 (p.2681

PROPOSED ORDER re: 57 (p.2648) Response to Motion,
filed.(Munson, Rik) (Entered: 10/13/2016)

10/13/2016

59 (p.2682

MOTION to Stay Rule 26(f) Conference and All Discovery Pending
Resplution of Motions to Dismiss by Candace Kunz-Freed, Albert
Vacek, Jr, filed. Motion Docket Date 11/3/2016. (Reed, Cory)
(Entered: 10/13/2016)

10/14/2016

60 (p.2687

JOINDER in 38 (p.2318) MOTION to Strike 26 (p.202)
Memorandum,, , filed by Toni Biamonte, Christine Riddle Butts,
Clarinda Comstock. (Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Proposed
Order)(Hedge, Laura) (Entered: 10/14/2016)

10/14/2016

62 (p.2707

RESPONSE to 36 (p.2303) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE
TO STATE A CLAIM - Rule 12(b)(6) filed by Candace Louise
Curtis. (Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Exhibit, # 2 (p.82) Exhibit, # 3 (p.84)
Exhibit)(Munson, Rik) (Entered: 10/14/2016)

10/17/2016

63 (p.2786

REPLY to Response to 53 (p.2598) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR
FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM , filed by Toni Biamonte, Christine
Riddle Butts, Clarinda Comstock. (Hedge, Laura) (Entered:
10/17/2016)

10/17/2016

(Court only) ***Motion(s) terminated: 47 (p.2583) Unopposed
MOTION for Leave to File Motion to Dismiss In Excess of Page
Limit. (ledwards, 4) (Entered: 10/17/2016)

10/18/2016

64 (p.2790)

ORDER granting 47 (p.2583) Motion for Leave to File; granting 54
(p.2631) Motion for Leave to File.(Signed by Judge Alfred H
Bennett) Parties notified.(jdav, 4) (Entered: 10/18/2016)

10/18/2016

65 (p.2791

RESPONSE to 38 (p.2318) MOTION to Strike 26 (p.202)
Memorandum,, filed by Rik Wayne Munson. (Attachments: # 1
(p.16) Exhibit)(Munson, Rik) (Entered: 10/18/2016)

10/18/2016

66 (p.2811

REPORT of Rule 26(f) Planning Meeting by Rik Wayne Munson,
filed.(Munson, Rik) (Entered: 10/18/2016)

10/19/2016

67 (p.2824

OBJECTIONS to 66 (p.2811) Report of Rule 26(f) Planning Meeting
, filed by Bobbie Bayless, Toni Biamonte, Anita Brunsting, Christine
Riddle Butts, Clarinda Comstock, Bradley Featherston, Candace
Kunz-Freed, Stephen A. Mendel, Neal Spielman, Albert Vacek, Jr,
Jill Williard Young. (Schaefer, Rafe) (Entered: 10/19/2016)

10/21/2016

68 (p.2827

Unopposed MOTION to Substitute Attorney Adraon D. Greene in
place of Stephen A. Mendel by Bradley Featherston, Stephen A.
Mendel, filed. Motion Docket Date 11/14/2016. (Attachments: # 1
(p.16) Proposed Order)(Greene, Adraon) (Entered: 10/21/2016)

10/24/2016

69 (p.2830
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RESPONSE to 40 (p.2335) MOTION to Dismiss based on lack of
subject matter jurisdiction, 39 (p.2328) MOTION to Dismiss filed by
Rik Wayne Munson. (Munson, Rik) (Entered: 10/24/2016)

10/25/2016 70 (p.2844) [ RESPONSE in Opposition to 61 (p.2692) MOTION to Consolidate
Lead Case No. 4:12-cv-592 and Member Case No. 4:16-cv-1969, 43
(p.2494) MOTION to Consolidate Lead Case No. 4:12-cv-0592 and
Member Case No. 4:16-cv-01969, filed by Jill Williard Young.
(Schaefer, Rafe) (Entered: 10/25/2016)

10/27/2016 71 (p.2848) | MOTION for Joinder as to 38 (p.2318) MOTION to Strike 26 (p.202)
Memorandum,, by Bradley Featherston, Stephen A. Mendel, filed.
Motion Docket Date 11/17/2016. (Deiss, David) (Entered:
10/27/2016)

10/27/2016 72 (p.2852) | MOTION for Sanctions by Jill Williard Young, filed. Motion Docket
Date 11/17/2016. (Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Proposed Order)(Schaefer,
Rafe) (Entered: 10/27/2016)

10/28/2016 73 (p.2861) [ RETURN of Service of SUMMONS Executed as to Bradley
Featherston served on 10/18/2016, answer due 11/8/2016,
filed.(ckrus, 4) (Entered: 10/28/2016)

10/28/2016 74 (p.2863) [ RETURN of Service of SUMMONS Executed as to Bernard Lyle
Matthews, 111 served on 10/18/2016, answer due 11/8/2016,
filed.(ckrus, 4) (Entered: 10/28/2016)

10/28/2016 75 (p.2865) [ RETURN of Service of SUMMONS Executed as to Darlene Payne
Smith served on 10/20/2016, answer due 11/10/2016, filed.(ckrus, 4)
(Entered: 10/28/2016)

10/28/2016 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Judge Alfred H Bennett.
SCHEDULING CONFERENCE held on 10/28/2016. Motion hearing
set for December 12, 2016 at 10:00 AM Appearances:Bob Harrell,
Eron Reid, Zander Foley. Bobbie G Bayless, Laura Beckman Hedge,
Stephen A Mendel, Adraon DelJohn Greene, Cory S Reed.(Court
Reporter: H. Alcarez), filed.(ledwards, 4) (Entered: 10/28/2016)

10/28/2016 76 (p.2867) | NOTICE of Setting as to 25 (p.181) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR
FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM, 40 (p.2335) MOTION to Dismiss
based on lack of subject matter jurisdiction, 36 (p.2303) MOTION
TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM - Rule
12(b)(6), 28 (p.1766) MOTION, 30 (p.1776) MOTION TO DISMISS
FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM, 20 (p.153) MOTION to
Dismiss For Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction, 35 (p.2296)
MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM, 23
(p.174) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A
CLAIM , 39 (p.2328) MOTION to Dismiss , 19 (p.133) MOTION
TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM . Parties
notified. Motion Hearing set for 12/9/2016 at 10:00 AM in
Courtroom 8C before Judge Alfred H Bennett, filed. (ledwards, 4)
(Entered: 10/28/2016)

10/28/2016 77 (p.2868) [ CORRECTED NOTICE of Setting as to 25 (p.181) MOTION TO
DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM , 40 (p.2335)
MOTION to Dismiss based on lack of subject matter jurisdiction, 30
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(p.1776) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A
CLAIM, 20 (p.153) MOTION to Dismiss For Lack of Subject Matter
Jurisdiction, 53 (p.2598) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE
TO STATE A CLAIM, 35 (p.2296) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR
FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM, 23 (p.174) MOTION TO
DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM , 39 (p.2328)
MOTION to Dismiss , 19 (p.133) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR
FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM . Parties notified. Motion Hearing
set for 12/12/2016 at 10:00 AM in Courtroom 8C before Judge Alfred
H Bennett, filed. (ledwards, 4) (Entered: 10/28/2016)

10/31/2016

78 (p.2869)

First MOTION to Dismiss Complaint by Jason Ostrom, filed. Motion
Docket Date 11/21/2016. (Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Proposed Order
Order Granting Jason Ostrom's Motion o Dismiss
Complaint)(Ostrom, Jason) (Entered: 10/31/2016)

10/31/2016

79 (p.2894

RESPONSE to 61 (p.2692) MOTION to Consolidate Lead Case No.
4:12-cv-592 and Member Case No. 4:16-cv-1969 filed by Toni
Biamonte, Christine Riddle Butts, Clarinda Comstock. (Attachments:
# 1 (p.16) Proposed Order)(Hedge, Laura) (Entered: 10/31/2016)

10/31/2016

80 (p.2902

ORDER granting 68 (p.2827) Motion to Substitute Counsel for
Stephen A. Mendel and Bradley E. Featherson. Attorney Stephen A
Mendel terminated. (Signed by Judge Alfred H Bennett) Parties
notified. (rosaldana, 4) (Entered: 11/02/2016)

11/02/2016

81 (p.2903

MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM by
Bernard Lyle Matthews, Ill, filed. Motion Docket Date 11/23/2016.
(Mathews, Bernard) (Entered: 11/02/2016)

11/04/2016

82 (p.2907

NOTICE of Setting. Parties notified. Motion Hearing set for
12/15/2016 at 11:00 AM in Courtroom 8C before Judge Alfred H
Bennett, filed. (ledwards, 4) (Entered: 11/04/2016)

11/07/2016

83 (p.2908

First MOTION to Dismiss Complaint by Gregory Lester, filed.
Motion Docket Date 11/28/2016. (Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Exhibit
Exhibit A, # 2 (p.82) Exhibit Exhibit B, # 3 (p.84) Proposed Order
Proposed Order)(Ostrom, Jason) (Entered: 11/07/2016)

11/10/2016

84 (p.2940

MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM by
Darlene Payne Smith, filed. Motion Docket Date 12/1/2016.
(Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Proposed Order Order)(Abrams, Barry)
(Entered: 11/10/2016)

11/18/2016

85 (p.2970

RESPONSE to 78 (p.2869) First MOTION to Dismiss Complaint
filed by Rik Wayne Munson. (Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Exhibit, # 2
(p.82) Exhibit, # 3 (p.84) Exhibit, # 4 (p.86) Exhibit, # 5 (p.87)
Exhibit, # 6 (p.88) Proposed Order)(Munson, Rik) (Entered:
11/18/2016)

11/23/2016

86 (p.3002

RESPONSE to 81 (p.2903) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE
TO STATE A CLAIM filed by Rik Wayne Munson. (Attachments: #

1 (p.16) Exhibit, # 2 (p.82) Exhibit, # 3 (p.84) Exhibit, # 4 (p.86)
Proposed Order)(Munson, Rik) (Entered: 11/23/2016)

11/27/2016

87 (p.3056)
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RESPONSE to 83 (p.2908) First MOTION to Dismiss Complaint
filed by Rik Wayne Munson. (Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Exhibit, # 2

(p.82) Exhibit, # 3 (p.84) Exhibit, # 4 (p.86) Exhibit, # 5 (p.87)
Proposed Order)(Munson, Rik) (Entered: 11/27/2016)

11/30/2016 88 (p.3086) | NOTICE of Resetting. Parties notified. Motion Hearing set for
12/15/2016 at 11:30 AM in Courtroom 8C before Judge Alfred H
Bennett, filed. (ledwards, 4) (Entered: 11/30/2016)

12/01/2016 (Court only) ***Motion(s) terminated: 54 (p.2631) MOTION for
Leave to File Motion To Dismiss In Excess of Page LimitUnopposed
AMENDED 47 (p.2583) MOTION. (ledwards, 4) (Entered:
12/01/2016)

12/01/2016 89 (p.3087) | RESPONSE to 84 (p.2940) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE
TO STATE A CLAIM filed by Rik Wayne Munson. (Attachments: #
1 (p.16) Exhibit, # 2 (p.82) Exhibit, # 3 (p.84) Exhibit, # 4 (p.86)
Exhibit, # 5 (p.87) Exhibit, # 6 (p.88) Exhibit, # 7 (p.90) Exhibit, # 8
(p.92) Exhibit, # 9 (p.93) Exhibit, # 10 (p.94) Exhibit Exhibits
redacted, # 11 (p.95) Exhibit, # 12 (p.96) Proposed Order)(Munson,
Rik) (Entered: 12/01/2016)

12/13/2016 90 (p.3323) | REPLY to Response to 84 (p.2940) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR
FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM |, filed by Darlene Payne Smith.
(Abrams, Barry) (Entered: 12/13/2016)

12/15/2016 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Judge Alfred H Bennett.
MOTION HEARING held on 12/15/2016. Motions taken under
advisement Appearances:Zander Foley, Amy Brunsting, Bob Harrell,
Anita Brunsting, Adron Green, Erin Reed, Rick Musuin. Bobbie G
Bayless, Laura Beckman Hedge, Adraon DelJohn Greene, Cory S
Reed, Bernard Lilse Mathews, 11, Jason B Ostrom, Barry Abrams,
Martin Samuel Schexnayder, Rafe A Schaefer.(Court Reporter: K.
Metzger), filed.(ledwards, 4) (Entered: 12/15/2016)

05/16/2017 91 (p.3329) | ORDER granting 35 (p.2296) Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a
Claim; granting 36 (p.2303) Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a
Claim; granting 39 (p.2328) Motion to Dismiss; granting 40 (p.2335)
Motion to Dismiss; denying as moot 43 (p.2494) Motion to
Consolidate Cases; granting 53 (p.2598) Motion to Dismiss for
Failure to State a Claim; denying as moot 61 (p.2692) Motion to
Consolidate Cases; denying 72 (p.2852) Motion for Sanctions;
granting 78 (p.2869) Motion to Dismiss; granting 81 (p.2903) Motion
to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim; granting 83 (p.2908) Motion
to Dismiss; granting 84 (p.2940) Motion to Dismiss for Failure to
State a Claim; granting 19 (p.133) Motion to Dismiss for Failure to
State a Claim; granting 20 (p.153) Motion to Dismiss; granting 23
(p.174) Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim; granting 25
(p.181) Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim; granting 30
(p.1776) Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim.(Signed by
Judge Alfred H Bennett) Parties notified.(ledwards, 4) (Entered:
05/16/2017)

05/16/2017 (Court only) ***Motion(s) terminated: 59 (p.2682) MOTION to Stay
Rule 26(f) Conference and All Discovery Pending Resplution of
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Motions to Dismiss, 28 (p.1766) MOTION, 31 (p.1783) MOTION for
Access to Electronic Filing, 71 (p.2848) MOTION for Joinder as to
38 (p.2318) MOTION to Strike 26 (p.202) Memorandum,, , 38
(p.2318) MOTION to Strike 26 (p.202) Memorandum,, . Moot via
Doc. #91 which dismissed the entire case. (dosmith, 4) (Entered:
05/16/2017)

05/26/2017 92 (p.3336) | NOTICE OF APPEAL to US Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit
by Candace Louise Curtis, Rik Wayne Munson, filed.(olindor, 4)
(Entered: 05/26/2017)

05/26/2017 Confirmation of receipt of payment from Rick Munson, Candace Luis
Curtis in the amount of $ 505 Receipt date: 5/26/2017. Receipt
number HOU72706. Purpose Description: Notice of Appeal. (olindor,
4) (Entered: 05/26/2017)

05/30/2017 93 (p.3337) | Clerks Notice of Filing of an Appeal. The following Notice of Appeal
and related motions are pending in the District Court: 92 (p.3336)
Notice of Appeal. Fee status: Paid. Reporter(s): H. Alcaraz, K.
Metzger, filed. (Attachments: # 1 (p.16) Notice of Appeal, # 2 (p.82)
Order, # 3 (p.84) Docket Sheet) (scastillo, 1) (Entered: 05/30/2017)

05/30/2017 Appeal Review Notes re: 92 (p.3336) Notice of Appeal. Fee status:
Paid. The appeal filing fee has been paid. Hearings were held in the
case. DKT13 transcript order form(s) due within 14 days of the filing
of the notice of appeal. Number of DKT-13 Forms expected: 2,
filed.(scastillo, 1) (Entered: 05/30/2017)

06/05/2017 94 (p.3362) | DKT13 TRANSCRIPT ORDER REQUEST by Curtis. This is to
order a transcript of Scheduling Conference 10/28/2016 before Hon.
Judge Alfred H. Bennett. Court Reporter/Transcriber: Heather
Alcaraz. This order form relates to the following: Scheduling
Conference,, filed.(Munson, Rik) (Main Document 94 replaced on
6/6/2017) (bcampos, 1). (Entered: 06/05/2017)

06/05/2017 95 (p.3363) | DKT13 TRANSCRIPT ORDER REQUEST by Munson. This is to
order a transcript of Motion Hearing on 12/15/2016 before the Hon.
Alfred H. Bennett. Court Reporter/Transcriber: Kathy Metzger. This
order form relates to the following: Motion Hearing,, filed.(Munson,
Rik) (Main Document 95 replaced on 6/6/2017) (bcampos, 1).
(Entered: 06/05/2017)

06/08/2017 Assignment of USCA No. 17-20360 re: 92 (p.3336) Notice of
Appeal, filed.(bcampos, 1) (Entered: 06/08/2017)

06/27/2017 96 (p.3378) | APPEAL TRANSCRIPT re Motion Hearing held on 12/15/2016
before Judge Alfred H Bennett. Court Reporter/Transcriber K.
Metzger. Ordering Party: Rik W. Munson. This transcript relates to
the following: 95 (p.3363) Appeal Transcript Request. Release of
Transcript Restriction set for 9/25/2017, filed. (kmetzger) (Entered:
06/27/2017)

06/28/2017 97 (p.3365) [ Notice of Filing of Official Transcript as to 96 (p.3378) Transcript -
Appeal,. Party notified, filed. (dbenavides, 1) (Entered: 06/28/2017)

07/05/2017 98 (p.3367
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APPEAL TRANSCRIPT re Initial Conference held on 10/28/16
before Judge Alfred H Bennett. Court Reporter Heather Alcaraz.
Ordering Party: Rik Munson. This transcript relates to the following:
94 (p.3362) Appeal Transcript Request, 92 (p.3336) Notice of
Appeal. Release of Transcript Restriction set for 10/3/2017, filed.
(halcaraz, ) (Entered: 07/05/2017)

07/06/2017 99 (p.3366) | Notice of Filing of Official Transcript as to 98 (p.3367) Transcript -
Appeal,. Party notified, filed. (dhansen, 4) (Entered: 07/06/2017)
07/06/2017 (Court only) Set/Cleared Flags. Appeal_Nat flag cleared. (dnoriega,

1) (Entered: 07/06/2017)
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Case 4:16-cv-01969 Document 1 Filed in TXSD on 07/05/16 Page 1 of 64

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR
THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
HOUSTON DIVISION

Candace Louise Curtis
Rik Wayne Munson
Private Attorneys General Plaintiffs

Vs.
Civil Action No.

Candace Kunz-Freed

Albert Vacek, Jr.

Bernard Lyle Mathews I11

Neal Spielman United States Courts

Bradley Featherston Southern T:n'sltrFu‘s_‘t of Texas

Stephen A. Mendel

Darlene Payne Smith

Jason Ostrom

Gregory Lester

Jill Willard Young

Christine Riddle Butts

Clarinda Comstock

Toni Biamonte

Bobbie Bayless

Anita Brunsting

Amy Brunsting

Does 1-99
Defendants in their individual capacities

JUL 05 2016

Davic J. Gracicy, Gl ©1 Lol

Demand for Jury Trial

O L LY L L L LY L LD LT LY LT L O L M M L M L D L O L

VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES

f—

18 U.S.C. §1962 (c) Violations of the Racketeer Influenced Corrupt Organization Act
involving multiple predicate acts that include both spoke and hub, and chain conspiracies.
18 U.S.C. §1962 (d) Conspiracy to violate 18 U.S.C. §1962 (c)

42 U.S.C. §1983 Substantive Due Process State Actor Conspiracy Against Civil Rights;
42 U.S.C. §1985 Conspiracy to Deny Equal Protection of Law;

18 U.S.C. §242 Conspiracy to deprive plaintiff of impartial forum;

Breach of Fiduciary to the Public Trust;

In Concert Aiding and Abetting Breach of Fiduciary both Public and Private;

In Concert Aiding and Abetting Misapplication of Fiduciary; and,

The right of claims provided at 42 U.S.C. §1988(a), 18 U.S.C. §1964 (c) and Rule 10b-5
Securities Exchange act of 1934 (17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5) and the right of private claims
implied therefrom.

O PN AU s W

This lawsuit raises concerns affecting the public interest
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L. Verified Complaint

1. COMES NOW Rik Wayne Munson and Candace Louise Curtis, Plaintiffs in the
above-styled and numbered cause, filing this Complaint against Defendants: Candace Kuntz-
Freed, Albert Vacek Jr., Bernard Lyle Mathews IIl, Neal Spielman, Bradley Featherston,
Stephen A. Mendel, Darlene Payne Smith, Jason Ostrom, Gregory Lester, Jill Willard Young,
Christine Riddle Butts, Clarinda Comstock, Toni Biamonte, Bobbie Bayless, Anita Brunsting,
Amy Brunsting and Does 1-99 (collectively, “Defendants™) and in support thereof would show
unto the Court the following matters and facts. Plaintiffs have personal knowledge and are also
informed and believe and therefore’aver that:

I1. Jurisdiction

2. Jurisdiction of this Honorable Court is invoked pursuant to 28 USC §1331 and 18
U.S.C. 1964 (c), as the substantive claims in this action raise federal questions arising under the
Racketeering Influenced Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO) 18 U.S.C. §1961-1968 and the right
of claims at 18 U.S.C. §1964(c) (civil remedy for RICO violations) and under 42 U.S.C. §§1983
and 1985 (remedies for color of official right and other Civil Rights violations).

3. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the state law and common law tort
claims under 28 U. S. C. §1367(a), because the claims arise out of the same controversy,
transactions and occurrences.

4. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to the Federal Declaratory
Judgment Act of 1946: Title 28 United States Code §§2201-2202, RICO 18 U.S.C. § 1965(a),
(b), and (d); and Rules 57 and 65 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure; and pursuant to the

general legal and equitable powers of this Court.
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5. This Court also has supplemental jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action
pursuant to Section 27 of the Exchange Act' (15 U.S.C. §78aa) and exclusive jurisdiction over
these claims, as this action also arises under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C.
§§78j(b) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder (17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5) and the right of private
claims implied therefrom.

6. Venue is proper in the Southern District of Texas under 28 USC §1391(a)(1),
because all of the events herein complained of occurred in the Southern District of Texas and
elsewhere within the jurisdiction of the Court.

I11. Parties

7. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference herein all allegations set forth above, and by
this reference incorporate the same herein and makes each a part hereof as though fully set forth.

DEFENDANTS

8. Defendant Candace Kuntz-Freed is an adult resident citizen of Texas, with a
principal place of business in Harris County, Texas and may be served with process at:
Candace Kuntz-Freed

9545 Katy Freeway, Suite 390,
Houston, Texas 77024

At all times material to this complaint Defendant Candace Kunz-Freed was a person, attorney
with the Vacek Law firm, a partner in Vacek & Freed PLLC and also a Texas Notary Public,
engaged in the practice of law at 11777 Katy Freeway, Suite 300 South, Houston, Texas 77079-

9545.

9. Defendant Albert Vacek Jr. is an adult resident citizen of Texas, with a principal

place of business in Harris County, Texas and may be served with process at:

! Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. §§78a-78kk (1982)
3
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Albert Vacek, Jr.
11777 Katy Freeway, Suite 300 South
Houston, Texas 77079

At all times material to this complaint Defendant Albert Vacek Jr. was a person, attorney with
the Vacek Law firm and a partner in Vacek & Freed PLLC engaged in the practice of law at

11777 Katy Freeway, Suite 300 South, Houston, Texas 77079.

10.  Defendant Bernard Lyle Mathews III. is an adult resident citizen of Texas, with a
principal place of business in Harris County, Texas and may be served with process at:

Bernard Lyle Mathews II1
11777 Katy Freeway, Suite 300 South
Houston, Texas 77079

At all times relevant to this complaint Defendant Bernard Lyle Mathews III was a person, an
attorney with the Vacek Law firm a.k.a. Vacek & Freed PLLC, engaged in the practice of law at

11777 Katy Freeway, Suite 300 South, Houston, Texas 77079.

11.  Defendant Neal E. Spielman is an adult resident citizen of Texas, with a principal
place of business in Harris County, Texas and may be served with process at:

Neal E. Spielman

Griffin & Matthews

1155 Dairy Ashford, Suite 300
Houston, Texas 77079

At all times material to this complaint Defendant Neal E. Spielman was a person engaged in the

practice of law at 1155 Dairy Ashford, Suite 300, Houston, Texas 77079.

12. Defendant Bradley Featherston is an adult resident citizen of Texas, with a
principal place of business in Harris County, Texas and may be served with process at:
Bradley E. Featherston
Featherston Tran PLLC

20333 State Highway 249, Suite 200
Houston, Texas 77070
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At all times material to this complaint Defendant Bradley Featherston was a person engaged in
the practice of law at The Mendel Law Firm, L.P., 1155 Dairy Ashford, Suite 104, Houston,

Texas 77079.

13.  Defendant Stephen A. Mendel is an adult resident citizen of Texas, with a
principal place of business in Harris County, Texas and may be served with process at:

Stephen A. Mendel

The Mendel Law Firm, L.P.
1155 Dairy Ashford, Suite 104
Houston, Texas 77079

At all times material to this complaint Defendant Stephen A. Mendel was a person engaged in

the practice of law at 1155 Dairy Ashford, Suite 104 Houston, Texas 77079

14.  Defendant Darlene Payne Smith is an adult resident citizen of Texas, with a
principal place of business in Harris County, Texas and may be served with process at:

Darlene Payne Smith

Crain, Caton & James

Five Houston Center, 17" Floor
1401 McKinney, Suite 1700
Houston, Texas 77010

At all times material to this complaint, Defendant Darlene Payne Smith was a person engaged in

the practice of law at 1401 McKinney, Suite 1700, Houston, Texas 77010.

15.  Defendant Jason Ostrom is an adult resident citizen of Texas, with a principal
place of business in Harris County, Texas and may be served with process at:
Jason Ostrom
Ostrom Morris, PLLC

6363 Woodway, Suite 300
Houston, Texas 77057

At all times relevant to this complaint, Defendant Jason Ostrom was a person engaged in the

practice of law at 5020 Montrose Blvd., Suite 310, Houston, Texas 77079.
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16.  Defendant Gregory Lester is an adult resident citizen of Texas with a principal
place of business in Harris County, Texas and may be served with process at:
Gregory Lester

955 N Dairy Ashford Rd # 220
Houston, Texas 77079

At all times material to this complaint Defendant Gregory Lester was a person engaged in the

practice of law at 955 N Dairy Ashford Rd # 220, Houston, Texas 77079.

17. Defendant Jill Willard Young is an adult resident citizen of Texas, with a
principal place of business in Harris County, Texas and may be served with process at:
Jill Willard Young
Maclntyre, McCulloch, Stanfield and Young LLP

2900 Weslayan, Suite 150
Houston, Texas 77027

At all times material to this complaint Defendant Jill Willard Young was a person engaged in the

practice of law at 2900 Weslayan, Suite 150, Houston, Texas 77027.

18. Defendant Christine Riddle Butts is ari adult resident citizen of Texas, with a
principal place of business in Harris County, Texas and may be served with process at:
Christine Riddle Butts
Harris County Civil Courthouse

201 Caroline
Houston, Texas 77002

At all times material to this complaint, Defendant Christine Riddle Butts was a person, an elected
State official occupying the office of Judge of Harris County’s Probate Court No. 4, a position of
public trust charged with the preservation of public justice, liable in her individual capacity for

the non-judicial acts complained of herein.

19. Defendant Clarinda Comstock is an adult resident citizen of Texas, with a

principal place of business in Harris County, Texas and may be served with process at:
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Clarinda Comstock

Harris County Civil Courthouse
201 Caroline

Houston, Texas 77002

At all times material to this complaint, Defendant Clarinda Comstock was a person, an Associate
Judge of Harris County Probate Court No. 4, a position of public trust charged with the
preservation of public justice, liable in her individual capacity for the non-judicial acts

complained of herein.

20.  Defendant Toni Biamonte is an adult resident citizen of Texas, with a principal
place of business in Harris County, Texas and may be served with process at:
Toni Biamonte
Office of the Court Reporter
Harris County Civil Courthouse

201 Caroline
Houston, Texas 77002

At various times relevant to this Complaint, Defendant Toni Biamonte was a person, employed
as an Official Court Reporter at the Harris County Civil Courthouse, 201 Caroline, Houston,

Texas 77002.

21. Defendant Bobbie Bayless is an adult resident citizen of Texas, with a principal
place of business in Harris County, Texas and may be served with process at:
Bobbie G. Bayless

2931 Ferndale
Houston, Texas 77098

At all times material to this complaint, Defendant Bobbie G. Bayless was a person engaged in

the practice of law at 2931 Ferndale Houston, Texas 77098.

22. Defendant Anita Brunsting is an individual person, resident citizen of Victoria

County, Texas, not a state actor, and may be served with process at:
7
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Anita Kay Brunsting
203 Bloomingdale Circle
Victoria, Texas 77904

23.  Defendant Anita Brunsting owes fiduciary obligations to Plaintiff Curtis and has
breached those fiduciary duties. Each of the above named Defendants were fully aware of the
fiduciary duties Anita Brunsting owed to Plaintiff Curtis when they aided and abetted Anita’s
breach of those fiduciary duties.

24.  Defendant Anita Brunsting is proximately related to Harris County Probate Court,
an enterprise which engages in and the activities of which affect interstate and foreign
commerce, through her attorneys: Co-Defendants, Bradley Featherston and Stephen Mendel and
co-conspirator Defendant Candace Kuntz-Freed.

25.  Defendant Amy Brunsting is an individual person, resident citizen of Comal
County, Texas, not a state actor, and may be served with process at:

Amy Ruth Brunsting
2582 Country Ledge
New Braunfels, Texas 78132

26.  Defendant Amy Brunsting owes fiduciary obligations to Plaintiff Curtis. Each of
the above named Defendants was fully aware of the fiduciary duties owed to Plaintiff Curtis by
Amy Brunsting when they aided and abetted Amy’s breach of those fiduciary duties.

27.  Defendant Amy Brunsting is proximately related to Harris County Probate Court,
an enterprise which engages in and the activities of which affect interstate and foreign
commerce, through her attorney, Defendant Neal Spielman and co-conspirator Defendant
Candace Kuntz-Freed.

28. At all relevant times, each RICO Defendant above-named was a “person” within

the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961(3) and 1962(c).
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PLAINTIFFS

29.  Plaintiff Candace Louise Curtis (Curtis) is a citizen resident of California and, as
set forth in the following paragraphs of this Complaint, Plaintiff Curtis has standing to bring this
action as provided at 18 U.S.C. 1964(c) because she has suffered concrete financial injury to her
business and property rights proximately caused by the Defendants’ conspiracy to violate 18
U.S.C. §1962(c) as set forth in this Complaint.

30. At all times material to this complaint Plaintiff Curtis was a citizen resident of
California and, as set forth in the following paragraphs of this Complaint, is actively engaged in
defending her property interests in Harris County Texas Probate Court No. 4, an enterprise which
engages in and the activities of which affect interstate and foreign commerce, and has standing to
bring this action as provided at 18 U.S.C. 1964(c) and 42 U.S.C. §§1983, 1985 and 1988(a)
having suffered tangible injury to business and property as the actual and proximate result of
Defendants’ color of law criminal conduct.

31.  Plaintiff Curtis is a member of the body politic of this nation, entitled to and
having a property interest in honest government and, because the issues raised herein affect the
public interest at large, Plaintiff Curtis also has standing to bring this action on behalf of the
public trust as a Private Attorney General, under the Racketeer Influenced Corrupt Organization
Statutes, codified at 18 U.S.C. §§1961-1968 as hereinafter more fully appears.

32.  Atall times material to this complaint Plaintiff Rik Wayne Munson (Munson) was
a citizen resident of California. Plaintiffs Munson and Curtis have been domestic partners for
nine years, with overlapping business activities. Munson has also suffered tangible harm to his

business and property proximately caused by Defendants’ criminal color of law conduct.
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33. Munson is a member of the body politic of this nation, entitled to and having a
property interest ih honest government and, because the issues raised herein affect the public
interest at large, Munson also has standing to bring this action on behalf of the public trust as a
Private Attorney General, under the Racketeer Influenced Corrupt Organization Statutes,
codified at 18 U.S.C. §§1961-1968 as hereinafter more fully appears.

34, Plaintiffs can be served at 218 Landana Street, American Canyon, California
94503-1050.

IV. CLAIM 1
18 U.S.C. §1962(d) the Enterprise

Harris County Probate Court No. 4

35. At all times material to this Complaint:

36.  Harris County Probate Court No. 4 constituted an "enterprise” within the meaning
of Title 18 United States Code Section 1961(4), (hereinafter, “the enterprise”), a legal entity,
which was engaged in, and the activities of which affected interstate and foreign commerce.

37.  Harris County Probate Court was created by statute to administer, apply, and
interpret the laws of the State of Texas in a fair and unbiased manner without favoritism,
extortion, improper influence, personal self-enrichment, self-dealing, concealment, or conflicts
of interest.

38.  As a statutory state probate court the Harris County Probate Court was involved
in various aspects of interstate and foreign commerce including, but not limited to, the
adjudication of lawsuits involving parties residing or based outside the state of Texas; lawsuits
involving properties in other states and in foreign naticns; lawsuits involving property under the
control of corporations, insurance companies, and other large business entities that conduct

national and international business and pay litigation costs, judgments, and settlements, out of
10
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funds derived from doing national and international business affecting interstate and foreign
commerce.

39.  As a statutory state probate court the Harris County Probate Court has original
jurisdiction in cases involving the settling of estates that include titles to land, control over
securities, control of large monetary sums, and other matters in which jurisdiction was not placed
in another trial court.

40.  As a statutory state probate court the Harris County Probate Court was involved
in various aspects of interstate and foreign commerce including, but not limited to the settling of
estates and the distribution of assets that included real property located in foreign states and
countries, along with securities traded under the laws of the United States, and assets held by
federally insured banks and brokerage companies.

The Vacek Law Firm a.k.a. Vacek & Freed PLLC

41. The Vacek Law Firm, also known as Vacek & Freed PLLC constituted an
"enterprise," as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1961(4), a legal entity associated
with Harris County Probate Court, an enterprise engaged in, and the activities of which affected
interstate and foreign commerce.

42.  Defendants Albert Vacek Jr. and Candace Kuntz-Freed were employed by or
associated with The Vacek Law Firm.

The Mendel Law Firm, LP

43. The Mendel Law Firm constituted an "enterprise," as defined in Title 18, United
States Code, Section 1961(4), a legal entity associated with Harris County Probate Court, an

enterprise engaged in, and the activities of which affected interstate and foreign commerce.
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44.  Defendants Bradley Featherston and Stephen Mendel were employed by or
associated with The Mendel Law Firm.

Griffin & Matthews

45.  The Griffin & Matthews law firm constituted an "enterprise," as defined in Title
18, United States Code, Section 1961(4), a legal entity associated with Harris County Probate
Court, an enterprise engaged in, and the activities of which affected interstate and foreign
commerce.

46.  Defendant Neal Spielman was employed by or associated with the Griffin &
Matthews law firm.

Crain, Caton & James

47. The Crain, Caton & James law firm constituted an "enterprise," as defined in Title
18, United States Code, Section 1961(4), a legal entity associated with Harris County Probate
Court, an enterprise engaged in, and the activities of which affected interstate and foreign
commerce.

48.  Defendant Darlene Payne Smith was employed by or associated with the Crain,
Caton & James law firm.
Bayless & Stokes

49, The Bayless & Stokes law firm constituted an "enterprise," as defined in Title 18,
United States Code, Section 1961(4) a legal entity associated with Harris County Probate Court,
an enterprise engaged in, and the activities of which affected interstate and foreign commerce.

50.  Defendant Bobbie Bayless was employed by or associated with the Bayless &

Stokes law firm.

12
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Maclntyre, McCulluch, Stanfied & Young LLP

51.  The Maclntyre, McCulluch, Stanfied & Young L.L.P Law firm constituted an
"enterprise," as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1961(4) a legal entity associated
with Harris County Probate Court, an enterprise engaged in, and the activities of which affected
interstate and foreign commerce.

52.  Defendant Jill Willard Young was employed by or associated with the MaclIntyre,
McCulluch, Stanfied & Young LLP law firm,

V. Enterprise in Fact Association

53.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference herein all allegations set forth above and
below, and by this reference incorporate the same herein and makes each a part hereof as though
fully set forth.

54.  Atall times material to this complaint:

55. Defendants Candace Kuntz-Freed, Albert Vacek Jr., Neal Spielman, Bradley
Featherston, Stephen A. Mendel, Darlene Payne Smith, Jason Ostrom, Gregory Lester, Jill
Willard Young, and Bobbie Bayless, were attorneys and officers of the Court practicing in the
Harris County Probate Court, a legal entity, which was engaged in, and the activities of which
affected interstate and foreign commerce in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere within
the Jurisdiction of the Court and were thus state actors within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. §1983
and 18 U.S.C. §1951, liable in their individual capacities.

56. At various times material to this complaint Defendants Candace Kuntz-Freed,
Albert Vacek Jr., Neal Spielman, Bradley Featherston, Stephen A. Mendel, Darlene Payne
Smith, Jason Ostrom, Gregory Lester, Jill Willard Young, Christine Riddle Butts, Clarinda

Comstock, and Bobbie Bayless, were persons associated together in fact for the common purpose
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of carrying out an ongoing criminal enterprise, as described in this Complaint; namely, through a
multi-faceted campaign of lies, fraud, threats and official corruption in furtherance of a
conspiracy involving a pattern of racketeering activity, constituting various "enterprise in fact
associations" as defined in Title 18 United States Code Section 1961(4), which engaged in, and
the activities of which affected interstate and foreign commerce. (See Boyle v. United States,

129 S. Ct. 2237, (2009)).
Harris County Tomb Raiders a.k.a. The Probate Mafia

57.  Atall times material to this complaint the “Harris County Tomb Raiders” (HCTR)
was a secret society of persons, both known and unknown to Plaintiffs, associated together in
fact for the common purpose of carrying out an ongoing criminal theft enterprise, as described in
this Complaint; namely, through a multi-faceted campaign of lies, fraud, threats, and official
corruption in furtherance of a conspiracy involving a pattern of racketeering activity as
hereinafter more fully appears.

58.  All Public Actor Defendants are believed to be regular participants in this secret
society.

CLAIM 2
The Racketeering Conspiracy 18 U.S.C. 1962(C)

59.  From various unknown dates, and continuing thereafter up to and including July
2008, and continuing thereafter up to and including March 9, 2016 and continuing thereafter, in
the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere within the jurisdiction of the Court, the Defendants:

Candace Kuntz-Freed, Albert Vacek Jr., Bernard Lvle Mathews III, Neal Spielman, Bradley

Featherston, Stephen A. Mendel, Darlene Payne Smith, Jason Ostrom, Gregory Lester, Jill

Willard Young, Christine Riddle Butts, Clarinda Comstock, Toni Biamonte, Bobbie Bayless,

Anita Brunsting, and Amy Brunsting, together with others known and unknown to Plaintiffs,
14
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being persons employed by or associated with Harris County Probate Court, an enterprise which
engaged in, and the activities of which affected interstate and foreign commerce, did at various
times unlawfully, willfully and knowingly combine, conspire and agree with each other to
violate 18 U.S.C. Sections 1962(c), by participating, directly and indirectly, in the conduct of the
affairs of that enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity involving multiple predicate

acts within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §1961(1) in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1962(c) and (d) to wit:

a. Conspiracy to deprive the citizens of Texas and other litigants of the honest

services of elected officials, 18 U.S.C. §§1341, 1343, & 1346.

i. 18 U.S.C. §1341 (Property Mail Fraud);

ii. 18 U.S.C. §§1341 and 1346 (Honest Services Mail Fraud);
iii. 18 U.S.C. §1343 (Property Wire Fraud);
iv. 18 U.S.C. §§1343 and 1346 (Honest Services Wire Fraud);

b. State Law Theft - Texas Penal Codes 31.02 and 31.03 and Hobbs Act Extortion

18 USCS §1951(b)(2) and 2;

C. Tampering with a federal judicial proceeding by false affidavit, 18 U.S.C.
§8402, 1001 and 2 (overlap with 18 U.S.C. §§1503, 1505, 1512, 1621. 1622 and 1623;

perjury, subornation of perjury, and false declarations).

d. Obstruction of Justice and conspiracy to obstruct Justice, 18 U.S.C. §371--
conspiracy to injure or intimidate any citizen on account of his or her exercise or
possibility of exercise of Federal right (overlap with 18 U.S.C. §§1503, 1510, 1512, and

1513)
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e. Suborning perjury, 18 U.S.C. §1622, may also be an 18 U.S.C. §1503 omnibus

clause offense.

f. Spoliation: Destruction or concealment of evidence or attempts to do so, 18

U.S.C. §1512(c) conspiracy (18 U.S.C. §1512(k)

g. Misapplication of fiduciary in excess of $300,000 Texas Penal Codes §§32.45,

theft 31.02, 31.03

h. Illegal Wiretapping in violation of Texas Penal Code §16.02 and 18 U.S.C. §2511
(§§2510-22), as amended by the Electronic Communications Privacy Act (ECPA) (Pub.
L. 99-508; 10/21/86) Title IIl of the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of

1968, (Pub. L. 90-351; 6/19/68), also known as the "Wiretap Act"
i. Identity Theft 18 U.S.C. §1028(a)(7)
] False Instruments used to commit Banking Fraud 18 U.S.C. §1344

k. False Instruments used to commit Sections 18 U.S.C. §§1341, 1343 & 1346

(Property and Honest Services Mail and Wire Fraud)
1. False Instruments used to commit Extortion 18 U.S.C. §1951(b)(2) and 2
m. Aiding and abetting each of the above, (all actors, all counts) 18. U.S.C. §371

n. Conspiring to promote, conceal and protect predicate activities (a-m above) from

discovery, investigation and prosecution by legitimate governmental interests.

60. The above enumerated “RICO Defendants” did unlawfully, willfully, and

knowingly combine, conspire, and agree with each other and with other persons known and
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unknown to Plaintiffs to violate 18 U.S.C. §1962(c) as described herein, in violation of 18 U.S.C.

§1962(d).

61.  In connection with the acts and omissions alleged in this Complaint, Defendants,
directly or indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including, but
not limited to, the internet, the mails, interstate public switched telephone network wire and

cellular telephone communications, and the facilities of the national securities exchange.

62.  Upon information and belief, these Defendants knew that they were engaged in a
conspiracy to commit the predicate acts, and they knew that the predicate acts were part of such
racketeering activity, and that the participation and agreement of each of them was necessary to

facilitate the commission of this pattern of racketeering activity.

63. Upon information and belief, each above-named RICO Defendant agreed to
conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct, management, or operation of the
Enterprise's affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity in violation of 18 U.S. C. §1962(c)
and (d).

64.  Each RICO Defendant knew about and agreed to facilitate the Enterprise's scheme

to obtain property from Plaintiffs.

65. It was part of the conspiracy that the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators
would commit a pattern of racketeering activity in the conduct of the affairs of the Enterprise,
including aiding, abetting, promoting and concealing the racketeering activity and predicate acts

hereinafter set forth.

66. It was part of the racketeering conspiracy that through the use of estate plan

instruments Defendants, acting in concert both individually and severally, would and did
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intercept assets intended for the heirs of estates that pass through Harris County Probate Court,
an enterprise, which engaged in, and the activities of which affected interstate and foreign

commerce.

67. It was part of the racketeering conspiracy that through the use of trust instruments
Defendants, acting in concert, both individually and severally, would and did intercept assets
intended for beneficiaries of trusts that pass through the Harris County Probate Court, an
enterprise, which engaged in, and the activities of which affected interstate and foreign

commerce.

68. It was part of the racketeering conspiracy that “trust and estate plan attorneys”
would use the “Doctrine of Privity” to shield their part in the pattern of racketeering activity
from possible culpability or any liability to the intended victims of the inheritance expectancy

interception scheme.

69. It was part of the racketeering conspiracy that attorneys participating in the
scheme and artifice to deprive would use the Texas Attorney Immunity Doctrine to shield their
part in the pattern of racketeering activity from possible culpability or any liability to the

intended victims of the inheritance expectancy interception scheme.

70. It was part of the racketeering conspiracy that judges participating in the scheme
and artifice to deprive would use the doctrines of Judicial, Qualified and Absolute Immunity to
shield their participation in the pattern of racketeering activity from possible culpability or any

liability to the intended victims of the inheritance expectancy interception scheme.

71. It was part of the racketeering conspiracy that through the use of guardianship

actions Defendants, acting in concert, both individually and severally, would and did use the
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Harris County Probate Court, an enterprise, which engaged in, and the activities of which
affected interstate and foreign commerce, to judicially kidnap and rob the elderly, our most
vulnerable citizens, of their freedom, dignity, fundamental human and civil rights and property
accumulated throughout a lifetime, often also robbing heirs and beneficiaries of familial relations

and inheritance expectancies.

72. It was part of the racketeering conspiracy that Defendants would commit

violations of constitutionally protected rights under the disguise of a statutory scheme.

73. It was understood that each conspirator would participate in the commission of at
least two acts of racketeering activity in the conduct of the affairs of the enterprise, as part of the

racketeering conspiracy.

74. It was also a part of the racketeering conspiracy that Defendants, acting in
concert, both individually and severally, would and did promote, conceal, and otherwise protect
the purposes of the racketeering activity from possible criminal investigation and prosecution as

hereinafter more fully appears.

V1. Purposes of the Racketeering Activity

75.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference herein all allegations set forth above and
below, and by this reference incorporate the same herein and makes each a part hereof as though

fully set forth and alleges that:

76.  From an unknown date and continuing thereafter up to and including the specific
events complained of herein, these Defendants, in concert with persons both known and
unknown to Plaintiffs, individually and severally, conspired to participate and did participate in

an organized criminal consortium for the purpose of actively redirecting trust, estate and other
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third party property into the state probate courts, where Defendants operate to convert third party

property to their own unjust self-enrichment.

77. It was a purpose of the racketeering activity that Defendants, acting in concert,
both individually and severally, would and did loot assets held by private trusts and estates
against the will of the victims, family members, and friends, through the use of guardianship

protection statutes and other schemes.

78. It was a purpose for the racketeering activity that trust and estate plan attorneys
acting in concert with other attorneys and with persons both known and unknown to Plaintiffs,
would and did exploit the elders of our society for the purpose of syphoning off the assets of our
eldest and most vulnerable citizens through the aforementioned schemes and artifices, as

exemplified herein and elsewhere in the public domain and as hereinafter more fully appears.

79.  The purpose for the racketeering activity was to facilitate the looting of wealth,

also known as Involuntary Redistribution of Assets (IRA) from its rightful owners, for the

unjust enrichment of attorneys and other legal professionals operating out of state probate courts,
including but not limited to Harris County Probate Court No. 4 and these co-conspirator

Defendants.

80.  The specific quid pro quo method of profit sharing is unknown to Plaintiffs but
appears to include political aspiration, judicial favors, campaign contributions, bribes and

kickbacks, cronyism and “Good Ole Boy” networking.

81.  The conclusion that there is a reciprocal stream-of-benefits necessarily flows from

the facts of the in-concert illegal activities of the co-conspirators, as exemplified herein.
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82.  Based upon personal knowledge and upon information and belief Plaintiffs allege

that;

83.  The above enumerated “RICO Defendants” unlawfully, knowingly and willfully
combined, conspired, confederated and agreed together and with others to violate 18 U.S.C.

§1962(c) as described herein, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d).

84.  Upon information and belief, Each RICO Defendant knew about and agreed to
facilitate the Enterprise's scheme to obtain property from Plaintiff and others, and to participate,
directly or indirectly, in the conduct, management, or operation of the Enterprise's affairs

through a pattern of racketeering activity in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1962(c).

85.  The RICO Defendants knew that they were engaged in a conspiracy to commit
the predicate acts, and they knew that the predicate acts were part of such racketeering activity,
and that the participation and agreement of each of them was necessary to allow the commission
of this pattern of racketeering activity. This conduct constitutes a conspiracy to violate 18 U.S.C.

§ 1962(c), in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1962(d).

86.  Each of the above named RICO Defendants conducted or participated, directly or
indirectly, in the conduct, management, or operation of the Enterprise's affairs through a "pattern
of racketeering activity" within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1961 (5) and in violation of 18

U.S.C. § 1962(c) & (d), to wit:

Commercial Purpose

87.  The constituent members comprising each ENTERPRISE are engaged in a
concerted campaign to extort, defraud, trick, deceive and corruptly persuade their client victims

(probate court litigants) to exercise proprietary control over, and extract maximum value from,
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the target trust and/or estate, in much the same way a bankruptcy trustee operates to control a

bankruptcy estate.

88.  Further, in unfairly protecting their commercial purposes, each ENTERPRISE
operative works with the others to harass, threaten, abuse, denigrate, impugn, threaten, and

intimidate litigants, competitors, critics, reformers, and others.

89.  The various ENTERPRISES operate as a “cabal”, a semi-private, sometimes
secret, informal affiliation of entities with public presence and identity that is wholly or partially

inaccurate and misleading as to the true goals, affiliations, and processes of the cabal.

90. The ENTERPRISES achieve their respective purposes by collusion among
operators and affiliates, who in their COMMERCIAL SPEECH represent to their clients that the
relationships among the members are in compliance with legal and ethical PROFESSIONAL

DUTIES when they, in fact, are not.

91.  Funded by fraudulent exploitation of the parties, ENTERPRISE operators and
affiliates engage in bribery, exchanging value, emoluments, patronage, nepotism, and/or
kickback schemes within their networks to assure system-wide ‘“cash flow” and continued

viability and vitality of the ENTERPRISES.

92. ENTERPRISES refuse such cooperation with non-affiliates, thereby baring
potential competitors. These bars include fraudulently manipulated referrals, representations,
certifications, nepotism, illegal antitrust tactics, and manufactured pitfalls to support the

pervasive “who you know” method the cabal uses in defiance of the rule of law.

93.  Probate Mafia operators, like the attorney Defendants here, regularly breach one

or more of their PROFESSIONAL DUTIES of loyalty, zealous advocacy, fiduciary
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responsibility, and professional competence through one or more “false flag” frauds to induce,
deprive, or deceive clients and other litigants not schooled in the law. These “False Flag”
maneuvers involve one or more COMMERCIAL SPEECH misrepresentations to unsophisticated
layperson parties, thereby depriving them of the benefits of legitimate legal professional services

and perpetrating fraud upon the Court.

94.  Probate Mafia operatives have developed numerous pernicious tools to maximize
their benefits from the wealth redistribution. A prominent artifice is the “independent” appointee

that appears in virtually every case.

95.  Probate Mafia schemes and artifices also include such practices as Poser
Advocacy. “Poser Advocacy” is the practice and sale of what appears to be the practice of law to
inexperienced parties. Attorneys engaging in poser advocacy act to appeal to their client’s
emotions, greed, or other untoward ends to generate fees, with no beneficial legal work

performed.

96.  Poser Advocates write angry letters, exchange worthless formwork discovery, and
repeatedly file baseless amendments and motions with no hope of productive benefit, for the sole

purpose of generating a bill.

97. In the more sophisticated commercial legal marketplace poser advocacy is not

tolerated, as clients insist upon, and attorneys abide by, legitimate practice and ethical standards.

98.  Because of the unique nature of the clients and market, Probate Mafia members

like these are generally able to pass off Poser Advocacy as if it was real legal work. It is not.

99. In the Probate Mafia enterprise scheme of things the familial wealth hijacker

represents an exploitation opportunity and, as such, receives special attention.
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VII. Means and Methods of the Racketeering Conspiracy

100.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference herein all allegations set forth above and
below, and by this reference incorporate the same herein and makes each a part hereof as though

fully set forth and alleges that:

101. It was a part of the racketeering conspiracy that a modern day criminal cabal
through a network of probate lawyers, judges, court appointed administrators, guardians, social
workers, doctors and “care facilities” would use county courtrooms relying upon the judicially
created and judicially enlarged doctrine of absolute judicial immunity, the Texas Attorney
Immunity Doctrine, the Doctrine of Privity and the Probate Exception to federal diversity
jurisdiction as a license to steal money and other liquid assets and to liquidate their victims’ real
and other property for their own unjust self-enrichment, all without their victim’s consent and

over their objections.

102. This looting has been given the appearance of legitimacy under the health and
welfare label of “guardianship protection” stealing not only assets, but also the due process

rights, liberty, and human dignity of their victims.

103. It was a part of the conspiracy that Defendants would and did use the Harris
County Probate Courts and the offices of Judge to deprive the citizens of Texas and other
litigants, of their right to the honest services of elected officials, while promoting, concealing,
and otherwise protecting the purposes of the racketeering activity from possible criminal

investigation and prosecution.

104. It was part of the racketeering conspiracy that Defendants would and did use the
various probate instruments and legal artifice and that acting in concert, both individually and

severally, Defendants would and did siphon off assets rightfully belonging to others.
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105. It was part of the racketeering conspiracy that the various probate instruments
would be and were designed to facilitate falsifications and alterations and that the enterprise
participants would be selectively blind to the obvious inconsistencies, avoiding any questions of

forgery or fraud appearing in the public record.

106. It was part of the racketeering conspiracy that Defendants acting individually and
in concert would and did use the Harris County Probate Courts and the offices of Judge to trap
litigant victims in an endless cycle of delay and expense until the victims were forced to settle
for the least injustice in order to walk away with even a meager portion of what rightfully

belongs to them from the onset.

107. It was part of the racketeering conspiracy that Defendants acting individually and
in concert would obtain and did attempt to obtain improper dominion over the property of
Plaintiff Curtis and others, attempting to obtain consent induced by the wrongful use of actual
and threatened force, violence and fear of economic harm to Plaintiff Curtis’ rights in property,

using the 8/25/2010 extortion instrument, hereinafter more fully described.

108. It was part of the racketeering conspiracy that unscrupulous attorneys who market
trust and estate plan instruments promising to provide asset protection, minimize taxes, avoid
probate, and avoid guardianship, acting individually and in concert, would engage in the
redirection of family trusts into the hands of the “Probate Cabal” by undermining those products
when the aging client weakens and by generating conflicts amongst the beneficiaries, thus

delivering their client’s prosperity to the exact evil that victims were guaranteed protection from.

109. It was part of the racketeering conspiracy that Defendants, for their own unjust
self-enrichment, acting individually and in concert, would use the Harris County Probate Court

and the appearance of legitimacy that attaches to public offices and officers to manipulate and
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game the legal process in ways that deprived citizens who came before the court of rights

guaranteed and protected by our state and federal constitutions.

110. In the matter from which these RICO claims arise, “Curtis v Brunsting”, both the
estate instruments and the inter vivos family trust agreements were the vehicles used by
Defendant enterprise acolytes to foster and maintain the estate and trust looting probate litigation

that Decedents were promised the trust would, but did not, provide protection from.

111.  As an actual consequence and proximate result of the actions of the very people
who sold the Brunstings “Peace of Mind”, promising that their products and services would

provide protection from probate, the Brunsting trust and estate are caught in probate stasis.

112. Defendants, in concert, have maintained the litigation and are holding the
Brunsting trusts hostage to a settlement agreement that will include the attorneys’ fees getting

paid from the trust corpus, in direct opposition to the Grantors express intentions.

113. In the case in point, Plaintiff/Beneficiary Curtis was at the precipice of legal
victory and the enterprise stepped in to redirect the outcome away from the public record to a
mediation/ADR bait-and-switch, in which the outcome is predetermined by the personal interests

of enterprise acolytes and not by law.

114. In pursuit of that plan Plaintiff Curtis is being coerced into a staged mediation,

with Defendants who have demonstrated no intention of honoring any legal or moral obligations.

115. It is also part of the conspiracy that the true purpose of mediation is to convert the
controversy from breach of the trust agreement and the drafting of false instruments, into
discussions regarding breach of a mediated settlement agreement which, like the family trust

agreement and remand agreement, is certain to also not be honored by the acolytes.
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116. In this way enterprise acolytes maximize the take while preventing the dirt from
floating to the surface of the public record, and promoting, concealing, and otherwise protecting

the purposes of the racketeering activity from possible criminal investigation and prosecution.

117. In the case in point, the probate Court judges and the attorneys are holding

settlement of the Brunsting family of trusts hostage to the payment of attorneys” fees.

118. The controversy is over on the pleadings and Plaintiff Curtis prevails as a matter
of law, but the lawyers and judges will not allow any resolution that does not have the lawyers
walking away with the lion’s share of the family inheritance, nor any solution that allows the

facts to be compiled on the public record.

119. Defendant Candace Freed is neatly sequestered in the District Court so that she
will never be confronted by a legitimate plaintiff and there is no executor occupying the office.
There is no docket control order or trial date, and summary judgment motions were swept off the
table on the very last day in which summary judgment motions were to be heard and the
summary judgment motion hearing became a hearing on a motion for protective order regarding
dissemination of illegally obtained wiretap recordings, in furtherance of a pattern of racketeering

activity as hereinafter more fully appears.

VHI. Predicate Acts and Actors

120. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference herein all allegations set forth above and
below, and by this reference incorporate the same herein and makes each a part hereof as though

fully set forth:

CLAIM 3 (Honest Services) 18 U.S.C. §1346 and 2
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121.  From an unknown date, known to be on or before July 21, 2015 and continuing
thereafter up to and including September 10, 2015 and continuing thereafter up to and including
March 9, 2016 and continuing thereafter in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere within
the jurisdiction of the Court, for the purpose of executing or attempting to execute a scheme and

artifice to defraud and deprive, Defendants Neal Spielman, Bradley Featherston, Stephen

Mendel, Greg Lester, Christine Butts, Clarinda Comstock, Jill Young, and Toni Biamonte, being
“persons” employed by or associated with Harris County Texas Probate Court, an enterprise
which engages in and the activities of which affect interstate and foreign commerce, together
with persons both known and unknown to Plaintiffs, individually and severally, did unlawfully,
willfully and knowingly conspire to alter the course of justice under color of official right, for the
purpose of executing or attempting to execute the scheme and artifice to defraud and deprive, in
that Defendants conspired to redirect civil litigation away from the public record to a staged
mediation planned for the purpose of obtaining Plaintiff Curtis’ property by consent, using
disinheritance threats, that in order to get any of her property at all she will have to agree to
“settle”, for the purpose of adding delay and increasing expense, for bringing further extortion
pressure to bear, to intimidate, for the purpose of holding the money cow trust hostage for
attorney fee ransoms, for the purpose of avoiding summary judgment hearings thus preventing
evidence of the racketeering conspiracy from reaching the public record, for the purpose of
diverting the discussion away from breach of the ruptured and looted trust agreement to
argument over breach of a mediated settlement agreement, all in furtherance of a pattern of

racketeering activity affecting interstate and foreign commerce in that:?

2 Also violations of 18 U.S.C. §242 and 42 U.S.C. §§1983, 1985 and right of claims under §1988 also including in
concert aiding and abetting public and private breach of fiduciary and misapplication of fiduciary.
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CLAIM 4 - (Honest Services) 18 U.S.C. §1346 and 2

122.  On or about September 10, 2015, in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere

within the jurisdiction of the Court, Defendants Neal Spielman, Bradley Featherston, Greg

Lester, Christine Riddle Butts, Clarinda Comstock, Jill Willard Young, and Toni Biamonte, did

unlawfully, willfully and knowingly conspire to alter the course of justice, under color of official
right, for the purpose of executing or attempting to execute a scheme and artifice to defraud and
deprive, in furtherance of a pattern of racketeering activity affecting interstate and foreign

commerce in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1346:

CLAIM S - (Honest Services) 18 U.S.C. §1346 and 2;

CLAIM 6 - (Wire Fraud) 18 U.S.C. §1343 and 2;

CLAIM 7 - (Fraud) 18 U.S.C. §1001 and 2;

CLAIM 8 (Theft/ Hobbs Act Extortion) Texas Penal Codes 31.02 & 31.03 and 18 U.S.C.
§1951(b)(2) and 2;

CLAIM 9 (Conspiracy to Obstruct Justice) 18 USAC §371;§

123. On or about January 14, 2016, in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere

within the jurisdiction of the Court, Defendants Gregory Lester and Jill Willard Young did

unlawfully, willfully and knowingly conspire to alter the course of justice for the purpose of
executing or attempting to execute a scheme and artifice to defraud and deprive by electronically
filing a fictitious report into the Harris County Probate Court No. 4, an enterprise which engages
in and the activities of which affect interstate and foreign commerce, as part of the conspiracy
entered into on or before September 10, 2015 and in furtherance of a pattern of racketeering
activity affecting interstate and foreign commerce in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§371, 1001, 1346,

1343, 1951(b)(2) and 2 — Texas Penal Codes 31.02 and 31.03.

* Also violations of 18 U.S.C. §242 and 42 U.S.C. §§1983, 1985 and right of claims under §1988 also including in
concert aiding and abetting public and private breach of fiduciary and misapplication of fiduciary.
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CLAIM 10 - (Honest Services) 18 U.S.C. §1346 and 2;
CLAIM 11 - (Fraud) 18 U.S.C. §1001 and 2;

CLAIM 12 (Theft) Texas Penal Codes 31.02 & 31.03/ Hobbs Act Extortion 18 U.S.C.
§1951(b)(2) and 2;
CLAIM 13 (Conspiracy) 18 USAC §371 and 2;

124.  On or about March 9, 2016, in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere
within the jurisdiction of the Court, Defendants Neal Spielman, Stephen A. Mendel, Gregory

Lester, Bobbie Bayless, and Clarinda Comstock did unlawfully conspire to alter the course of

justice, under color of official right, for the purpose of executing or attempting to execute the
scheme and artifice to defraud and deprive, entered into on or before July 2015, in furtherance of
a pattern of racketeering activity affecting interstate and foreign commerce involving violations
of 18 U.S.C. §§371, 1001, 1346, 1343, 1951(b)(2) and 2, and 42 U.S.C. §§242, 1983 and 1985

and Texas Penal Codes §§31.02 and 31.03. 32.21.

125. As part of the racketeering conspiracy Defendants, acting in concert, both
individually and severally, acted together to promote, conceal, and otherwise protect the

purposes of the racketeering activity from possible criminal investigation and prosecution.

CLAIM 14 (Illegal Wiretap) Texas Penal Code 16.02 and 18 U.S.C. §2511 and 24

126. From an unknown date, including but not limited to March and April of 2011, and
continuing thereafter in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere within the jurisdiction of
the Court, for the purpose of executing or attempting to execute the scheme and artifice to

defraud and deprive, Defendants Anita Brunsting and Amy Brunsting acting individually and in

concert with persons both known and unknown to Plaintiff Curtis, conspired to unlawfully,

4 Texas Penal Code 16.02 and 18 U.S.C. §2511 (§§2510-22) Texas Civil Wire Tap Act found at Tex. Civ. Prac. &
Rem. Code, Title 123 as amended by the Electronic Communications Privacy Act (ECPA)(Pub. L. 99-508;
10/21/86) Title I1I of the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968, (Pub. L. 90-351; 6/19/68), also
known as the "Wiretap Act".
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willfully and knowingly intercept and did unlawfully intercept, record, possess, conceal,
manipulate and selectively disseminate illegal wiretap recordings of private telephone
conversations intercepted by use of an electronic recording device attached to the telephone line
of Nelva Brunsting, in furtherance of a pattern of racketeering activity affecting interstate and

foreign commerce in that:

CLAIM 15 - Dissemination of illegal wiretap Recordings by mail 18 U.S.C.

127. On or about July 1, 2015, in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere within
the jurisdiction of the Court, for the purpose of executing or attempting to execute the scheme

and artifice to defraud and deprive, Defendants Anita Brunsting and Bradley Featherston, aided

and abetted by persons known and unknown to Plaintiffs and aiding and abetting persons known
and unknown to Plaintiffs, did unlawfully, willfully and knowingly cause illegal wiretap
recordings of private telephone conversations between Carl Brunsting and his wife Drina
Brunsting, to be delivered by certified mail to Plaintiff Curtis and the third party attorneys for
parties in multiple pending lawsuits, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §2511(1)(c) and Texas Penal Code
16.02. The illegal wiretap recordings selectively disseminated on CD-ROM, are believed to have
been made on or about March and April 2011. The CD contained items which were Bates

numbered 5814 to 5840. Included among those items were the following four audio recordings:’
CLAIM 16 - Illegal Wiretap (Tampering and Manipulation’

(1) a 43 second phone conversation between Carl and his mother which, according to
the file properties, was both created and modified on February 27, 2015 (Brunsting

5836.wav);

’ Excerpted from Carl Brunstings Motion for Protective Order filed July 17, 2015.
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CLAIM 17 - Illegal Wiretap (Tampering and Manipulation)

(2) a phone conversation lasting 6 minutes and 44 seconds between Carl and Drina
which, according to the file properties, was both created and modified on February 27,

2015 (Brunsting 5837.wav);

CLAIM 18 - Illegal Wiretap (Manipulation)

(3) a telephone conversation lasting 19 minutes and 18 seconds between Carl and Drina
which, according to the file properties, was both created and modified on April 22,

2011 (Brunsting 5838.wav); and
CLAIM 19 - illegal wiretap (Manipulation

(4) a telephone conversation lasting 8 minutes and 53 seconds between Carl and Drina
which, according to the file properties, was both created and modified on March 21,

2011 (Brunsting 5839.wav).

CLAIMS 20 and 21 TIllegal Wiretap, in Concert Aiding and Abetting: Spoliation,
Destruction or Concealing Evidence 18 U.S.C/ 881512(c¢) conspiracy 1512(k) & 1519 and 2

128. On July 21, 2015 in the southern district of Texas and elsewhere within the
jurisdiction of the Court, Counsel for Anita Brunsting - Bradley Featherston, Counsel for Amy
Brunsting - Neal Spielman, and Counsel for Carole Anne Brunsting - Darlene Payne Smith, filed
in-concert objections to the application for protective orders filed by Carl Brunsting, and while
objecting to the protective order and arguing the recordings contained relevant and admissible

evidence, Defendants Bradley Featherston, Neal Spielman, and Darlene Payne Smith

simultaneously objected to qualifying the recordings in any way and just like the infamous
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8/25/2010 extortion instrument, when confronted with demands for a show of proof they are

unwilling to bring forth any evidence, and none of them claim to know anything individually.

129. Implicit in the assertion the recordings were relevant and the content admissible,
Defendants claimed to possess personal knowledge that: “(1) the recording device was capable
of recording the events offered in evidence; (2) the operator was competent to operate the device;
(3) the recording is authentic and correct; (4) changes, additions, or deletions have not been
made in the recording; (5) the recording has been preserved in a manner that is shown to the
court; (6) the speakers on the tape are identified; and (7) the conversation elicited was made

voluntarily and in good faith, without any kind of inducement.”

130. Defendants have obtained, possessed, manipulated and disseminated illegal

wiretap recordings and are now concealing:

a. The device used
b. The original wiretap media
c. Other wiretap recordings

d. The chain of custody

CLAIM 22 - Conspiracy to Obstruct Justice

131.  On or about July 22, 2015 in the southern district of Texas and elsewhere within

the jurisdiction of the Court, Defendants Bobbie Bayless, Clarinda Comstock, and Neal

Spielman, aided and abetted by persons known and unknown to Plaintiffs and aiding and
abetting persons known and unknown to Plaintiffs, did unlawfully, willfully and knowingly
combine, conspire and agree with each other to obstruct and conceal evidence and engage in

predicate acts including but not limited to 18 U.S.C. §§1512(c) conspiracy 1512(k), 1519 and 18
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U.S.C. §§1951(b)(2) and 2, Extortion and Texas Penal Codes §§31.02, 31.03 and 32.21
(theft/extortion) by removing Summary Judgment Motions from Calendar and creating stasis, as
part of a conspiracy to deprive Plaintiff Curtis of an impartial forum (18 USC §§242) , access to
the Courts (42 U.S.C. §1983) substantive due process, (42 U.S.C. §1985) equal protection, and

(Texas Penal Code §§31.02 and 31.03) property rights.®

CLAIM 23 — Conspiracy Re: State Law Theft/ Extortion - in Concert Aiding and Abetting

132.  From an unknown date and continuing thereafter up to and including July 21, 2015 and
continuing thereafter up to and including September 10, 2015 and March 9, 2016 and continuing
thereafter in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere within the jurisdiction of the Court,

Defendants Neal Spielman, Bradley Featherston, Stephen A. Mendel, Gregory Lester, Christine

Riddle Butts, Clarinda Comstock, Jill Willard Young, and Toni Biamonte, together with persons

both known and unknown to Plaintiffs, individually and severally, did unlawfully, willfully and
knowingly conspire to obstruct, delay and affect, and did attempt to obstruct, delay and affect,
commerce as that term is defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1951, and the
movement of articles and commodities in such commerce, by extortion under color of official
right, as that term is defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1951(b)(2), in that
Defendants conspired to obtain and did attempt to obtain the property of Plaintiff Candace
Louise Curtis, endeavoring to obtain consent induced by the wrongful use of actual and
threatened force, violence and fear, in that the Defendants did conspire to use a fictional report, a
staged mediation, an extortionist thug mediator, acts obstructing and delaying justice, and the

forged extortion instrument, to make threats with the intention of instilling fear of economic

® 18 U.S.C. §2: In concert aiding and abetting: Public Services Fraud, Breach of Fiduciary, Misapplication of
Fiduciary, Concealing evidence of forgery (Texas Penal Code §32.21) and racketeering.
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harm in Plaintiff Curtis in furtherance of a pattern of racketeering activity affecting interstate and

foreign commerce.

CLAIM 24 - State Law Theft/ Hobbs Act Extortion 18 U.S.C. 1951(b)(2) and 2

133.  On or about August 25, 2010, and continuing thereafter in the Southern District of

Texas and elsewhere within the jurisdiction of the Court, Defendants Candace Freed and Anita

Brunsting did unlawfully, knowingly and intentionally further a conspiracy to obstruct, delay and
affect, and did attempt to obstruct, delay and affect commerce, and the movement of articles and
commodities in such commerce, by extortion under color of official right, as that term is defined
in Texas Penal Codes 31.02 and 31.03 and Title 18, United States Code, Section 1951, in that
Defendant Candace Freed, with persons both known and unknown to Plaintiffs, did conspire to
obtain improper dominion over the assets of the Brunsting family of trusts and the expected
property of Plaintiff Curtis, by collaborating to obtain consent induced by the wrongful use of
threatened force, violence and fear, in that Defendant Candace Freed did implement the Vacek
design in drafting the heinous 8/25/2010 “Qualified Beneficiary Designation and Testamentary
Power of Appointment under Living Trust Agreement” (hereinafter the “8/25/2010 QBD” or
“Extortion Instrument”). Such instrument was, in fact, used to make threats and to instill fear of
economic harm in the victims of the inheritance theft conspiracy, for which the extortion
instrument was created, along with other intended illicit purposes as hereinafter more fully

appears.

CLAIM 25 - State Law Theft/Hobbs Act Extortion 18 U.S.C. §1951(b)(2) and 2
CLAIM 26 — Wire Fraud 18 U.S.C. §§1343

134.  On or about October 23, 2010, in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere

within the jurisdiction of the Court, Defendant Anita Brunsting knowingly and intentionally
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furthered the extortion conspiracy by emailing the extortion instrument (8/25/2010 QBD) to

Plaintiff Curtis, along with trust instruments, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§1343 and 1951.

CLAIM 27 - State Law Theft/Hobbs Act Extortion 18 U.S.C. §1951(b)(2) and 2
CLAIM 28 — Mail Fraud 18 U.S.C. §§1341

135.  On or about June 4, 2015, in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere within

the jurisdiction of the Court, Defendant Anita Brunsting knowingly and intentionally furthered
the extortion conspiracy in her response to Plaintiff Curtis’ first interrogatories. At item number
15 page 6, Anita uses the heinous extortion instrument to threaten Carl and Candace, both of

whom are victims of Anita’s felony thefts in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§1951.

136. Defendants Anita Brunsting and Bradley Featherston placed the June 4, 2015

response to interrogatories containing extortion threats for delivery with the U.S. Postal Service

in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1341.

CLAIM 29 - State Law Theft/Hobbs Act Extortion 18 U.S.C. §1951(b)(2) and 2
CLAIM 30 — Wire Fraud 18 U.S.C. §§1341

137.  On or about February 18, 2015, in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere

within the jurisdiction of the Court, Defendant Amy Brunsting knowingly and intentionally

furthered the extortion conspiracy in her response to Plaintiff Curtis’ second application for
distribution. On page 7, Amy Brunsting and her Counsel Neal Spielman advance threats using
the heinous extortion instrument in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1951(b)(2) and 2, knowing full well

that it is not a legitimate instrument by any measure.

138. Defendants Amy Brunsting and Neal Spielman placed the June 4, 2015 response

to interrogatories containing extortion threats for delivery with the U.S. Postal Service in

violation of 18 U.S.C. §1341, 1951(b)(2) and 2.
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CLAIM 31 - State Law Theft/Hobbs Act Extortion 18 U.S.C. §1951(b)(2) and 2
CLAIM 32 — Mail Fraud 18 U.S.C. §§1341

139.  On or about June 25, 2015, in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere within

the jurisdiction of the Court, Defendant Amy Brunsting and her Counsel, Defendant Neal

Spielman unlawfully, willfully and knowingly advanced threats using the heinous extortion
instrument in Amy’s response to Plaintiff Curtis’ Request for Production, delivered USPS in

violation of 18 USC §§1341, 1951.

CLAIM 33 - State Law Theft/Hobbs Act Extortion 18 U.S.C. §1951(b)(2) and 2
CLAIM 34 — Mail Fraud 18 U.S.C. §§1341

140.  On or about December 5, 2014, Defendant Anita Brunsting through her Counsel,

Defendant Bradley Featherston, advanced and furthered the extortion conspiracy when

Featherston filed Anita’s objection to Carl Brunsting and Plaintiff Curtis’ applications for
distribution. In section F on page 6 Anita uses the extortion instrument to allege that both theft
victims Carl and Candace had violated the in terrorem clause in the extortion instrument by

defending their beneficial interests, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1951 and 1341.

“4. If the Court finds the in terrorem clause is enforceable, then Candace and
Carl have no right to any distribution from the trust”.

CLAIM 35 - State Law Theft/Hobbs Act Extortion 18 U.S.C. §1951(b)(2) and 2
CLAIM 36 - Mail Fraud 18 U.S.C. §1341

141. On or about June 4, 2015 in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere within
the jurisdiction of the Court, Defendant Anita Brunsting, in response to Plaintiff Curtis’ first
interrogatories, at item number 15 page 6, again used the heinous extortion instrument to threaten
Carl and Candace, both of whom are victims of Anita’s first degree felony thefts, delivered

USPS in violation of 18 USC §§1341 and 1951.

37

17-20360.52


17-20360.52


Case 4:16-cv-01969 Document 1 Filed in TXSD on 07/05/16 Page 38 of 64

CLAIM 37 — Tampering with Federal Judicial Proceeding by False Affidavit 18 U.S.C.
§371, 1621 and 2

142. On March 6, 2012, in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere within the

jurisdiction of the Court, Defendants Amy Brunsting and Bernard Lyle Mathews III, aided and

abetted by others unknown to Plaintiff and aiding and abetting others unknown to Plaintiff, did
corruptly, unlawfully, knowingly, and willfully obstruct, influence, and impede an official
proceeding, and did attempt to do so, that proceeding being Candace Louise Curtis v. Anita
Brunsting et al., No. 4:12-CV-00592 the United States District Court for the Southern District of
Texas, Houston Division, by filing a false affidavit In violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Sections 1001, 1512(c)(2), 1623, and 18 U.S.C. §402 and F.R.C.P. Rule 11(b).

CLAIM 38 - Spoliation, Destruction or Concealing Evidence 18 U.S.C.
Conspiracy 1512(k) and 1519 and 2

143. On or about September 10, 2015 and continuing thereafter, in the Southern

District of Texas and elsewhere within the jurisdiction of the Court, Defendant Toni Biamonte as

an official court reporter did unlawfully, knowingly and willfully spoliate, destroy or otherwise
conceal material evidence of a racketeering conspiracy in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§1512(c)
conspiracy 1512(k) and 1519, aiding and abetting the racketeering conspiracy and is, thus, a
principal in acts in furtherance of the aforementioned and described conspiracy to violate 18

U.S.C. §1962(c) in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1962(d).

CLAIM 39 - Forgery on Internal Revenue forms 18 U.S.C. §§287, 371, and 1001 and 2

144. On or about June 7, 2011, in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere within

the jurisdiction of the Court, Defendant Anita Brunsting, for the purpose of executing or

attempting to execute a scheme and artifice to defraud and deprive did unlawfully, knowingly
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and willfully apply the Social Security Number, the record identifier used to ensure proper
payment of benefits in both the Title II and Title XVI programs, and did forge the signature of
Plaintiff Curtis on stock transfer forms, to facilitate the improper transfer of securities by

Computershare, an investment services corporation.

CLAIM 40(a-d) - Forgery & False Instruments, Aiding and Abetting Theft, Banking, Wire,
Mail and Securities Fraud (Texas Penal Codes 31.02 & 31.03 & 18 U.S.C. §§1001 and 2)

Conspiracy to commit securities, mail, wire and banking fraud,

a. False Instruments used to trade in Securities 18 USC §§1348/1349 — Securities
Fraud, 15 U.S.C. §78aa and 15 U.S.C. §§78j(b) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated
thereunder (17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5) and the right of claims implied therefrom.
(fraudulent trading in securities is civilly and criminally actionable but are not

predicate acts)
b. False Instruments used to commit Banking Fraud 18 U.S.C. §1344

c. False Instruments used to commit Sections 18 U.S.C. §§1341, 1343 and 1346

(Property Mail and Wire Fraud)
d. False Instruments used to commit 18 U.S.C. §1951 Hobbs Act Extortion

145. From an unknown date, known to be before July 1, 2008, and continuing
thereafter up to and including August 25, 2010 and conﬁnuing thereafter up to and including
December 21, 2010 and continuing thereafter in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere

within the jurisdiction of the Court, Defendant Candace Kuntz-Freed drafted false instruments,

undermining the trust instrument products and estate plan services marketed by Vacek & Freed
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PLLC, to facilitate the theft of trust assets by Anita Brunsting, as part of a racketeering

conspiracy in that:

146.  Anita Brunsting used the illicit July 1, 2008 Appointment of Successor Trustees

drafted by Candace Freed to commit acts complained of herein.

147.  Anita Brunsting used the illicit August 25, 2010 appointment of successor co-

trustees to commit acts complained of herein.

148.  Anita Brunsting used the illicit December 21, 2010 appointment of successor

trustee to commit acts complained of herein.

149. Freed drafted the illicit 8/25/2010 “Qualified Beneficiary Designation and
Testamentary Power of Appointment under Living Trust Agreement” (The Extortion Instrument)

in concert with Anita Brunsting, and not at the behest of her client Nelva Brunsting.

150.  Anita Brunsting used the illicit 8/25/2010 “Qualified Beneficiary Designation and
Testamentary Power of Appointment under Living Trust Agreement” (The Extortion
Instrument), in concert with others known and unknown to Plaintiff, to commit the acts of theft

and extortion complained of herein.

151.  Plaintiff Curtis was damaged in her property rights by Anita Brunsting’s improper

use of the illicit instruments drafted by Candace Freed.

CLAIM 41 - Misapplication of fiduciary in excess of $300.000.00 Texas Penal Code Thefts
31.02, 31.03, 32.45 (against elderly person Tex. Pen. Cd. 32.45(d))

CLAIMS 42(a—q) Wire, Mail, and Banking Fraud 18 USC §8§1341, 1343, 1344 and 2

152. From an unknown date, known to be on or before December 21, 2010 and
continuing thereafter, in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere within the jurisdiction of

the Court, Defendant Anita Brunsting, aided and abetted by persons known and unknown to
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Plaintiff and aiding and abetting persons known and unknown to Plaintiff, did unlawfully,
willfully and knowingly, misapply fiduciary assets in excess of $300,000 (Texas Penal Code

theft §§32.45, 31.02, 31.03) in that:

153.  Defendant Anita Brunsting paid her personal credit card debts and made other

improper transfers from a trust bank account, in violation of provisions of the family trust, the
common law and the Texas trust code. These comingling and misapplication transactions were

perfected by electronic funds transfer and the use of the mails.’

IX. Non-Predicate Act Civil Claims for Damages

CLAIMS 43 (a-j) Section 27 of the Exchange Act (1S5 U.S.C. §78aa) and Section 10(b) of the

Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. §§78i(b) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder (17 C.F.R. §
240.10b-5)

154. From an unknown date, believed to be on or before December 21, 2010, and
continuing thereafter in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere within the jurisdiction of

the Court, Defendant Anita Brunsting did unlawfully, willfully and knowingly misapply

fiduciary assets in excess of $300,000 (Texas Penal Code theft §§32.45, 31.02, 31.03). Many of
the transactions involved Electronic Funds Transfers and others involved the use of the mails.
Many transactions also involved banking and/or securities fraud 18 USC §§1341, 1343, 1344
and 2 and Section 27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. §78aa) and Section 10(b) of the Exchange

Act (15 U.S.C. §§78j(b) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder (17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5) in that:

155. May 11, 2011, using the illicit instruments drafted by Defendant Candace Freed,

Defendant Anita Brunsting, acting trustee de son tort, unlawfully, knowingly and willfully

7 Please see Appendix A attached hereto for a chart of events, dates, transactions and mediums employed.
(Securities fraud is not considered a Predicate Act and the securities theft transactions are herein pled in the
alternative as misapplications of fiduciary involving wire, mail and banking fraud)
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misappropriated and misapplied fiduciary assets by improperly transferring 1120 Shares of
Exxon and Chevron securities valued at $90,854.00 in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1343 (Wire
Fraud) and Section 27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. §78aa) and Section 10(b) of the
Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. §§78j(b) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder (17 C.F.R. §240.10b-

5)

156.  June 15, 2011 using the illicit instruments drafted by Defendant Candace Freed,

Defendant Anita Brunsting, acting trustee de son tort, unlawfully, knowingly and willfully
misappropriated and misapplied fiduciary assets by improperly transferring 2320 shares of
Exxon and Chevron securities valued at $208,122.80 in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1343 (Wire
Fraud) and Section 27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. §78aa) and Section 10(b) of the
Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. §§78j(b) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder (17 C.F.R. §240.10b-

5).

157. Between April 20, 2012 and April 2, 2013 using the illicit instruments drafted by

Defendant Candace Freed, Defendants Anita Brunsting, and Amy Brunsting, acting trustees de

son tort, unlawfully, knowingly and willfully misappropriated and misapplied fiduciary assets in
excess of $38,000 by paying personal legal liabilities with trust funds from a trust bank account

in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1344 (Banking Fraud) and 18 U.S.C. §1343 (Wire Fraud) and §2

(aiding and abetting).®

158. Plaintiff Curtis, as a beneficiary and the de jure trustee for the Brunsting trusts,

has fiduciary duties interfered with and prevented by the racketeering activity, has beneficial

¥ Please see appendix A attached here to for a chart of event dates, transactions and mediums employed
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property interests in the assets so misapplied and has suffered tangible injury to business and

property as a direct and proximate result of all the tortious acts herein claimed.

CLAIM 44 - Conspiracy to violate 18 USC §§242 and 2, & 42 U.S.C. §§1983 and 1985

159. From an unknown date and continuing thereafter in the Southern District of Texas
and elsewhere within the jurisdiction of the Court, each of the Defendants herein named,
individually and severally, aided and abetted by persons known and unknown to Plaintiff and
aiding and abetting persons known and unknown to Plaintiff, did unlawfully, willfully and
knowingly conspire together to participate, and did participate, in a scheme or artifice to deprive
Plaintiff Curtis of rights, privileges, and immunities secured and protected by the Constitution
and laws of the United States, under color of law and color of official right, statute, ordinance,
regulation, custom and policy, in violation of 18 USC §§242 and 2, and 42 U.S.C. §§1983 and

1985.

CLAIM 45 - Aiding and Abetting Breach of Fiduciary, Defalcation and Scienter

160. The RICO Defendants understood that Anita and Amy Brunsting owed fiduciary
duties to Plaintiff Curtis and that the acts and omissions of Anita and Amy Brunsting were torts
and breaches of those duties, and the RICO Defendants aided and abetted Anita and Amy

Brunsting’s torts and breaches in pursuit of their own unjust self-enrichment anyway.

161. As an actual consequence and proximate result Plaintiff Curtis has been injured in
her business and property and is entitled to damages from all Defendants as joint tortfeasers, for
in-concert aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary both before and after the fact, in an exact

amount to be proven at trial.
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162. Plaintiff is entitled to damages from all Defendants as joint tortfeasers, for in-

concert aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary both before and after the fact.

CLAIM 46 - Aiding and Abetting Misapplication of Fiduciary, Defalcation and Scienter

163.  The RICO Defendants understood that Anita and Amy Brunsting owed fiduciary
duties to Plaintiff Curtis and that Anita and Amy Brunsting had misapplied fiduciary in excess of
$300,000 and that Plaintiff Curtis had an inheritance expectancy interest in those assets. The
RICO Defendants aided and abetted Anita and Amy Brunsting’s continued misapplications of

fiduciary anyway.

164. As an actual consequence and proximate result Plaintiff Curtis has been injured in
her business and property and is entitled to damages from all Defendants as joint tortfeasers, for
in-concert aiding and abetting misapplications of fiduciary both before and after the fact, in an

exact amount to be proven at trial.

CLAIM 47 - Tortious Interference with Inheritance Expectancy

165. The RICO Defendants understood that Plaintiff Curtis had an expectancy of an
inheritance right. The RICO Defendants intentionally interfered with Plaintiff Curtis’
expectancy. The interference was through acts of fraud and duress and the interference was, thus,

tortious.

166. As an actual consequence and proximate result, Plaintiff Curtis has been injured
in her business and property and is entitled to damages from all Defendants as joint tortfeasers,
for in-concert aiding and abetting tortious interference with Plaintiff Curtis’ inheritance

expectancy, both before and after the fact, in an exact amount to be proven at trial.
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IX. Continuity

167. The law and economics of development focuses its attention on the effects that
well-functioning legal and judicial systems have on economic efficiency in the development of
nations. As studies have shown, a factor that has greatly retarded commerce in developing
nations is the imperfection of the law and the uncertainty in its application. Entrenched corrupt
practices within the public sector (i.e., official systemic corruption) hamper the clear definition

and enforcement of laws, and therefore commerce is impeded.

168. Systemic corruption within the public sector can be defined as the systematic use
of public office for private benefit that results in a reduction in the quality or availability of
public goods and services (Buscaglia 1997a). In these cases, corruption is systemic when a

government agency only supplies a public good or service if an otherwise unwilling transfer of

wealth takes place from an individual or firm to the public sector through bribery, extortion,

fraud, or embezzlement.’

169. Widespread corruption is a symptom that the state is functioning poorly. In fact,
the entrenched characteristic of official corrupt practices is rooted in the abuse of market or
organizational power by public sector officials. Many studies have already shown that the
presence of perceived corruption retards economic growth, lowers investment, decreases private
savings, and hampers political stability. Moreover, foreign direct investment has demonstrated a
special negative reaction to the presence of corruption within the public sectors in developing
countries showing that the degree of corruption in importing developing countries also affects

the trade structure of exporting countries.

® Although published in a 1999 the Hoover Institute Article written by Eduardo Buscaglia describes the Harris
County Probate Court racketeering enterprise operations with this statement and is on all fours with the facts of the
case in point.
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170.  The multi-billion dollar Probate industry is an illicit wealth redistribution empire
run by morally bankrupt judges and attorneys, supported by an army of tax-dollar fed “judicial

administrators,” and social workers that George Orwell would marvel at.

171.  Harris County Probate Court has become the enterprise out of which public
corruption operates an institutionalized theft cartel, involved in redistributing the assets of our
elderly, and most vulnerable citizens, amongst a cabal of corrupt judges, lawyers and “board

certified professionals”.

172.  The very people who occupy offices of public trust charged with the preservation
of public justice, with the advent of absolute judicial impunity from civil claims, have become
the worst organized cartel of predatory criminals in the history of this nation. Genovese,
Luciano, Bonanno, Gambino, Lucchese, Capone, Cohen, Nitty, and the Krays would be drooling
with envy and admiration, as they could never have built such an invasive and successful

criminal empire in the private sector.

173. Judicial Corruption Enterprise activities involve kidnap, carjack, assault, murder,
armed robbery, extortion, false arrest, malicious prosecution, denial of due process and false
imprisonment, amounting to color of law human trafficking and domestic terrorism. The root
cause for all of this institutionalized organized criminal and terrorist activity can be traced to
more than one scheme to defraud, but those schemes are but variations on a limited number of

known artifices.

174. Amongst the main culprits is the perversion and expansion of the 17™ Century
English common law doctrine of limited judicial immunity, into a doctrine of absolute criminal

impunity where public corruption flourishes because there are no deterrent consequences.
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175.  Once having crossed the solid demarcation between right and wrong, the line

begins to grey until, one day, it becomes completely invisible.

176. The notion that these people can operate with criminal impunity has led to an
environment where the appearance of legitimacy is no longer of any real importance and the
displays of criminal intent have become more than blatant. It has become a trade practice in the

state Courts of this nation.

177.  Plaintiff Curtis is one of those victims, as were Elmer and Nelva Brunsting, Carl
Brunsting, Willie Jo Mills, Ruby Peterson, Helen Hale, Olga De Francesca, Doris Conte and
countless others both known and unknown to Plaintiffs.'” The Estate of Nelva Brunsting, the

Brunsting Trusts and the Brunsting heirs and trust beneficiaries were among the victims.

X. Jurisdiction over Conduct Affecting Interstate Commerce

178.  All federal crimes are treated as commercial'!. Pursuant to Article 1, Section 8,
Clause 3 of the federal Constitution, the United States Congress has exclusive jurisdiction over

commerce amongst the states (the Commerce Clause).

179.  Article VI, Section 2, of the U.S. Constitution is known as the Supremacy Clause
because it provides that the "Constitution, and the Laws of the United States ... shall be the
supreme Law of the Land." It means that the federal government, in exercising any of the powers
enumerated in the Constitution, must prevail over any conflicting or inconsistent state exercise of

power.

1 These names are well known to anyone who ever heard the phrase “Probate Mafia” and bothered to do a google
type search to find out what is meant by the phrase.

197 CFR.72.11

47

17-20360.62


17-20360.62


Case 4:16-cv-01969 Document 1 Filed in TXSD on 07/05/16 Page 48 of 64

180. The RICO statutes were designed by Congress to combat organized crime in both
the public and the private sectors and specifically provides a civil right of claims for injuries to
business or property as a result of a pattern of activity involving two (2) or more of the listed

predicate acts. That criterion has been satisfied as herein delineated.

XI. Affirmative Pleading on Doctrines of Immunity

181. Fraus Omnia Vitiat.

182. There is no judicial immunity to civil liability for non-judicial acts, anti-judicial
acts or RICO Predicate Acts forming a pattern of racketeering activity, as none of these types of

conduct can be said to be judicial functions even when disguised as such.

183. Article III, Section 1 of the Constitution for the United States of America,
specifically creates the U.S. Supreme Court and gives Congress the authority to create the lower
federal courts. Congress used this power to establish 13 U.S. Courts of Appeals, 94 U.S. District

Courts, the U.S. Court of Claims, and the U.S. Court of International Trade.

184. The U.S. Supreme Court is the only court of general jurisdiction in the federal
system, all other federal courts are courts of limited jurisdiction created and empowered by

Congressional statute.
185.  Chief Justice Marshall, writing for the Court in Cohens, 19 U.S. at 404 observed:

It is most true that this Court will not take jurisdiction if it should not: but it is
equally true, that it must take jurisdiction if it should. The judiciary cannot, as the
legislature may, avoid a measure because it approaches the confines of the
constitution. We cannot pass it by because it is doubtful. With whatever doubts,
with whatever difficulties, a case may be attended, we must decide it, if it be
brought before us. We have no more right to decline the exercise of jurisdiction
which is given, than to usurp that which is not given. The one or the other would
be treason to the constitution. Questions may occur which we would gladly avoid;
but we cannot, "Congress, and not the Judiciary, defines the scope of federal
Jurisdiction within the constitutionally permissible bounds."
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186.  The list of predicate acts specifically enumerated at 18 U.S.C. §1961(1) includes

§§371, 1346 and 1951 each of which requires a public corruption/color of law element.

187.  To argue that a judge is immune from a public corruption statute if acting within
the four walls of a court room and exempt if not acting in his public capacity is a very precise
statement that judges are above the law and that the victims of public corruption related

deprivations of rights have no remedy and, thus, no rights.

188. 42 U.S.C. §1983 clearly states an exception to actions brought against judicial
officers. That one exception provides pre-requisites to injunctive relief in actions brought against
judicial officers. To conclude that Congress did not intend a private right of claims against
judges under §1983 is to render the language of the statute superfluous, which the rules

governing statutory construction will not allow.
42 U.S.C. §1983 Civil Action for Deprivation of Civil Rights (emphasis added)

Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or
usage, of any State or Territory or the District of Columbia, subjects, or causes to
be subjected, any citizen of the United States or other person within the
Jjurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities
secured by the Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an
action at law, suit in equity, or other proper proceeding for redress, except that
in_any action brought against a judicial officer for an act or omission taken in
such officer’s judicial capacity, injunctive relief shall not be granted unless a
declaratory decree was violated or declaratory relief was unavailable. For the
purposes of this section, any Act of Congress applicable exclusively to the District
of Columbia shall be considered to be a statute of the District of Columbia.

(R.S. §1979; Pub. L. 96-170, § 1, Dec. 29, 1979, 93 Stat. 1284; Pub. L. 104-317,
title III, § 309(c), Oct. 19, 1996, 110 Stat. 3853.)

189. There is no privity defense, no attorney immunity defense and no judicial

immunity exception to the federal Racketeer Influenced Corrupt Organization statutes. The
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language of the Act differentiates between criminal and civil liability and explicitly provides
private parties with civil remedy for injuries to property and business caused by a pattern of
racketeering activity involving two (2) or more of the predicate acts defined at 18 USC §1961(1).
The RICO Act provides for criminal penalties in Section 1963 and provides private litigants with

civil remedy in section 1964(c).

190.  Several predicate act statutes, mostly codified in Title 18 of the United States
Code, provide for federal prosecution of public corruption. Among these are the Hobbs Act (18
USC §1951), the mail and wire fraud statutes (18 USC §§1341 & 1343), the honest services
fraud provision (18 USC §1346), the Travel Act (18 USC §1952), the federal official bribery and
gratuity statute, (18 U.S.C. § 201 enacted 1962), the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA)
(enacted 1977), the federal program bribery statute, 18 U.S.C. § 666 (enacted 1984) and the
Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO) (18 USC §§1961-1968 enacted in
1970). Each statute directly addresses public corruption and most of these are specifically

identified as RICO predicate acts at 18 U.S.C. 1961(1).

191.  The recent plea bargain and sentencing of Texas State 404" District Court Judge
Abel Limas to six years in federal prison for violating 18 U.S.C. §§1343 (Honest Services Wire
Fraud), §1346 (Honest Services Fraud) and §1951 and 2 (Hobbs Act Extortion), clearly verifies

that these public corruption statutes apply to judges by operation of the RICO statutes'?.

192.  According to the Indictment, Limas accepted paltry sums as bribes, in return for

ad litem appointments and other favorable judicial treatments. Counts 1-8 were that Limas:

12 Case 1:11-cr-00296 Filed in TXSD on 03/29/11
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a. Accepted $600 for the continuation and subsequent termination of a probation

revocation proceeding in violation of Texas Penal Code 36.02(a)(2) (bribery).

b. Accepted $700 in exchange for changing the terms of a criminal defendant’s

appearance bond in violation of Title 18 United States code sections 1951 and 2.

c. Accepted $1,500 for changing the terms of a criminal defendant’s conditions of
probation to permit the defendant to report by mail rather than in person in

violation of Texas Penal Code section 36.02(a)(2) (bribery).

d. Accepted $1,800 in a scheme or artifice to defraud in violation of title 18, United

States Code, sections 1343 and 1346.

e. Accepted $8,000 for favorable judicial rulings on motions, case transfers, and
other matters in civil cases for the benefit of participating attorneys in violation of
Title 18, United States code, section 1951 and 2, and in violation of Texas Penal

Code section 36.02(a)(2) (bribery).

f. Accepted $4,500 for an ad litem appointment in a civil case in violation of Texas

Penal Code section 36.02(a)(2) (bribery).

g. Accepted $5,000 for denial of a motion for sanctions and other judicial acts in
violation of Title 18 United States Code sections 1951 and 2, and in violation of

Texas Penal Code section 36.02(a)(2).

h. Accepted $2,000 for the modification of the terms of probation and dismissal of
charges against a criminal defendant in violation of Title 18 United States Code

sections 1951 and 2, and in violation of Texas Penal Code section 36.02(a)(2).
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193.  This cancerous judicial black market plague has spread like wildfire throughout
the state court systems whether family law court, juvenile, traffic, probate or any other municipal
level judicial arena on the state wide level. They have all become criminal racketeering
enterprises and the root cause for each of these obscenities is “impunity” by any other name.

194.  The cases of convicted Judge Abel Limas (6 years), convicted attorney Marc
Rosenthal (26 years) and convicted Texas State Senator Jim Solis (47 months) are not isolated
specific instances of public corruption, but limited examples of a national public corruption
pandemic. Congress, in drafting the RICO statutes, determined public prosecutorial resources
were insufficient to address this problem and specifically provided for private civil remedy.

195.  Imposition of an enlarged version of the judicially created English common law
doctrine of limited Judicial Immunity to foreclose private claims for civil remedy against judges
under the RICO and civil rights statutes, has nurtured a contagion of public corruption
throughout all three branches of government, is in direct opposition to the clearly expressed
intentions of Congress in providing such remedy, is a violation of the separation of powers
doctrine and, as the learned Chief Justice Marshall expressed, “freason to the constitution”.

196. Article I Section 8 Clause 3 of the federal Constitution grants exclusive
jurisdiction over interstate and foreign commerce to Congress. Given that all federal crimes are
commercial the nexus with interstate commerce is inarguable and the notion that state court
judges are absolutely immune from 42 U.S.C. §1983 or 18 U.S.C. §1964(c) actions ignores the
very clear language of those sections and violates the supremacy clause.

XII. Aiding and Abetting, Fraud, and the Texas Attorney Immunity Doctrine

197. “Attorney Immunity” is a vague expression. Any civil immunity an attorney has
is strictly limited to the litigation context and does not include actively engaging in an organized

criminal color of law enterprise involving RICO predicate act conduct.
52

17-20360.67


17-20360.67


Case 4:16-cv-01969 Document 1 Filed in TXSD on 07/05/16 Page 53 of 64

198. The RICO Defendant attorneys understood that the conduct of their clients was
tortious and criminal and the lawyers helped the clients with the conduct thinking only to stuff
their own pockets, showing no regard for ethics or law.

199. Conduct sufficient to state a claim of a racketeering conspiracy including
predicate acts of extortion §1951, Obstruction §371, Honest Services §1346, Impartial Forum
§242, Illegal Wiretap §2511, Mail Fraud §1341, Wire Fraud §1343, Banking Fraud §1344 and
Securities Fraud 15 U.S.C. 78 et seq., is not within the scope of legal representation and cannot
be excused as part of the attorney’s discharge of his duties to his client, even when masqueraded
under the litigation umbrella. (The Litigation Privilege)

200. Acts constituting knowing substantial assistance, sufficient to state a claim for in-
concert aiding and abetting RICO predicate act crimes, torts and breaches of fiduciary committed
by the client, are sufficient to establish in-concert liability of the attorney. There are no
exceptions.

201. In reading the text and legislative history of the RICO act, the Fifth Circuit has
interpreted that Congress intended the act to strike at criminal conduct characterized by at least
two consequential dimensions. The offenses must be of a degree sufficiently serious not only to
inflict injury upon its immediate private victims, but also to cause harm to significant public
processes or institutions, or otherwise pose threats to larger societal interests worthy of the
severe punitive and deterrent purposes embodied in the statute.

202. These aims and structure are somewhat akin to those reflected in the Clayton Act,
15 U.S.C. §15, after which RICO civil remedies were patterned.

203. Both statutes bring to bear the pressure of “private attorneys general” on a serious

national problem for which public prosecutorial resources are deemed “inadequate"; see also
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Sedima, 473 U.S. at 489; Genty v. Resolution Trust Co., 937 F.2d 899, 912 (3d Cir. 1991)
("Congress obviously had much more in mind than merely providing compensation for
individual RICO victims when it authorized RICO civil actions. Indeed, the harm of racketeering
is dispersed among the public at large, including draining resources from the economy,
subverting the democratic process and undermining the general welfare.")

204. This construction accords with the legislative intent of RICO. As explained by the
Supreme Court, the purpose of the Act was to address a problem which Congress perceived "was
of national dimensions." Turkette, 452 U.S. at 586. Specifically, in the Statement of Findings and
Purpose of the Organized Crime Control Act of 1970, Title IX of which encompassed RICO,
Congress declared that the activities of organized crime that prompted the legislation "weaken
the stability of the Nation's economic system, harm innocent investors and competing
organizations, interfere with free competition, seriously burden interstate and foreign commence,
threaten the domestic security, and undermine the general welfare of the Nation and its citizens."
Statement of Findings and Purpose, Organized Crime Control Act of 1970, Pub. L. No. 91-452,
84 Stat. 922, 923 (1970).

205. Congress did not distinguish between public and private Organized Crime. Public
corruption and criminal abuse of the state judicial office has become the number one threat to the
security of the people of this nation. The creation of the RICO act as exemplified by the
“Statement of Findings and Purpose” and the inclusion of public corruption requisite statutes
among the list of predicate acts at 18 U.S.C. §1961(1) clearly indicates a congressional intention
to curb public corruption and abuse of the doctrines of immunity, by a dishonest self-protection

criminal racketeering industry.
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206.  The protection for criminal conduct in Texas has also been expanded to include
wrongful conduct by attorneys under the Texas Attorney Immunity Doctrine, which has also led
to the corruption and criminal takeover of our state judicial institutions.

207. Congress never intended to immunize state-court judges from federal civil rights
suits nor from federal Racketeering suits and a doctrine of judicial immunity implemented by the
judiciary to protect a corrupt judiciary from legislation designed to protect the public interest
from corruption violates the Separation of Powers Doctrine and undermines the public’s
confidence in the legitimacy of the government of this Nation.

XIII. Affirmative Pleading on Conspiracy and Statutes of Limitations

208. Before the Court are allegations of public corruption involving a conspiracy to
deprive the People of Texas and others of the honest services of elected public officers. The
conduct complained of is only a small part of a complex multi-layered, multi-faceted criminal
industry run by state court judges, who act with impunity with the full collusion, cooperation
and participation of attorneys, court appointed administrators, social workers and others.

209. Federal conspiracy laws rest on the belief that criminal schemes are equally, or
even more reprehensible than are the substantive offenses to which they are devoted. The
Supreme Court has explained that a “collective criminal agreement—[a] partnership in crime—
presents a greater potential threat to the public than individual delicts. Concerted action both
increases the likelihood that the criminal object will be successfully attained and decreases the

probability that the individuals involved will depart from their path of criminality.”'* Moreover,

13 Zacarias Moussaoui was convicted of conspiring to commit the terrorist attacks that occurred on September 11,
2001, United States v. Moussaoui, 591 F.3d 263, 266 (4th Cir. 2010); Wadih El-Hage was convicted of conspiring
to bomb the U.S. embassies in Kenya and Tanzania, In re Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d 93, 107 (2d Cir. 2008).

Members of an Atlanta street gang were convicted of conspiring to engage in drug trafficking, among other offenses,
United States v. Flores, 572 F.3d 1254, 1258 (11th Cir. 2009); motorcycle gang members were convicted of
conspiracy to traffic in drugs, United States v. Deitz, 577 F.3d 672, 675-76 (6th Cir. 2009).
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observed the Court, “[g]roup association for criminal purposes often, if not normally, makes
possible the attainment of ends more complex than those which one criminal could accomplish.
Nor is the danger of a conspiratorial group limited to the particular end toward which it has
embarked.” Finally, “[cJombination in crime makes more likely the commission of crimes
unrelated to the original purpose for which the group was formed.” In sum, “the danger which a
conspiracy generates is not confined to the substantive offense which is the immediate aim of the
enterprise.”

210.  Conspiracies and acts in furtherance are considered a single continuing act for
limitations purposes. The equitable doctrines of tolling and estopple apply to these claims.

XIV. Affirmative Pleading on Public Corruption

211.  Public corruption involves a breach of public trust and/or abuse of position by
federal, state, or local officials and their private sector accomplices. By broad definition, a
government official, whether elected, appointed or hired, may violate federal law when he/she
asks, demands, solicits, accepts, or agrees to receive anything of value in return for being

influenced in the performance of their official duties.

212.  Public corruption poses a fundamental threat to our national security and way of
life. It impacts everything from how well our borders are secured and our neighborhoods

protected...to verdicts handed down in courts...to the quality of our roads, schools, and other

Dominick Pizzponia was convicted on racketeering conspiracy charges in connection with the activities of the
“Gambino organized crime family of La Cosa Nostra,” United States v. Pizzonia, 577 F.3d 455, 459 (2d Cir. 2009);
Michael Yannotti was also convicted on racketeering conspiracy in connection with activities of the “Gambino
Crime Family,” United States v. Yannotti, 541 F.3d 112, 115-16 (2d Cir. 2008).

Jeffrey Skilling, a former Enron Corporation executive, was convicted of conspiracy to commit securities fraud and
mail fraud, United States v. Skilling, 554 F.3d 529, 534 (5th Cir. 2009); Bernard Ebbers, a former WorldCom, Inc.
executive, was likewise convicted of conspiracy to commit securities fraud, United States v. Ebbers, 458 F.3d 110,
112 (2d Cir. 2006)

56

17-20360.71


17-20360.71


Case 4:16-cv-01969 Document 1 Filed in TXSD on 07/05/16 Page 57 of 64

government services. And it takes a significant toll on our pocketbooks, wasting billions in tax

dollars every year.*

XV. DAMAGES

213.  Plaintiff Curtis is one of five beneficiaries of the Brunsting Family of Trusts, who
has been deprived of the enjoyment of her beneficial interests, forced to incur expenses and fees
in effort to obtain the use of her property, and has suffered extortionist threats of injury to
property rights and has suffered fraud upon both state and federal courts committed by corrupt
court officers in furtherance of a pattern of racketeering activity herein delineated with a

particularity.

214.  As an actual consequence and proximate result Plaintiff Curtis has been injured in

her business and property in an exact amount to be proven at trial.

215. Plaintiff Munson is a multi-disciplinarian with skills that include but are not
limited to information systems engineering and paralegal, among several other skilled crafts.
Munson has worked diligently as a paralegal on the Curtis v Brunsting lawsuit for more than four
years, in effort to obtain justice for Ms. Curtis, only to be frustrated by a blatantly corrupt

probate court and its officers herein named.

216. As an actual consequence and proximate result of the racketeering conspiracy and
the obstruction, intentional delay, refusal to administer justice and other means and methods
employed, Plaintiff Munson has been diverted away from other productive pursuits and has thus

suffered tangible losses to his property and business interests in an amount to be proven at trial.

' https://www.fbi.gov/about-us/investigate/corruption
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XVI. Prayers for Relief

217.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference herein all allegations set forth above, and by this
reference incorporate the same herein and makes each a part hereof as though fully set forth

below.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment against Defendants, each and every one of them,

for the following:

L. An award of compensatory, punitive, exemplary, and enhanced damages in an amount
sufficient to make Plaintiffs whole and to deter such future conduct by these Defendants, others

of their kind and those who may be so disposed in future;

II. For prejudgment and post judgment interest thereon at the maximum legal rate according

to proof at trial;

II.  An award of reasonable costs and expenses incurred in this action, including counsel fees

and expert fees as allowable under the Title 15, 18, 28, and 42 sections asserted;
IV.  Anaward of treble damages consistent with 18 U.S.C. §1964(c);

V. Such other legal and equitable relief as the Court may deem Plaintiffs entitled to receive,

including a referral of the acts found to be unethical or unlawful herein to appropriate authorities.
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury of all issues so triable.
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Plaintiff Candace Louise Curtis respectfully signs this complaint under penalty of perjury

pursuant to the laws of the United States and declares that it is consistent with the Federal Rules

requirement for candor.

Respectfully submitted,

O’@ 7(2/ 201

CANDACE L{QURTIS  Date
218 L a Street

American Canyon, CA 94503

(925) 759-9020
occurtis@sbcglobal.net

Plaintiff Rik Wayne Munson respectfully signs this complaint under penalty of perjury pursuant

to the laws of the United States and declares that it is consistent with the Federal Rules

requirement for candor.

Respectfully submitted,

ﬂ — 7/ 2 [zo/e
RIK WAYNE MUNSON = Date

218 Landana Street

American Canyon, CA 94503

(925) 349-8348

blowintough@att.net
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From

To

Date

APPENDIX A
Format

Purpose

Misapplication of Fiduciary Wire and Banking Fraud Selected Violations of 18 USC

Anita Brunsting
Anita Brunsting
Anita Brunsting
Anita Brunsting
Anita Brunsting
Anita Brunsting
Anita Brunsting

Anita Brunsting

Anita Brunsting

Anita Brunsting

Anita Brunsting
Anita Brunsting
Anita Brunsting
Anita Brunsting
Anita Brunsting
Anita Brunsting

Anita Brunsting

Anita Brunsting
Anita Brunsting
Anita Brunsting
Anita Brunsting
Anita Brunsting
Anita Brunsting
Anita Brunsting

Anita Brunsting

Anita Brunsting

Anita Brunsting

Anita Brunsting
Anita Brunsting
Amy Brunsting
Anita Brunsting
Anita Brunsting
Amy Brunsting

Anita Brunsting

§§1343 & 1344

5/27/2011 EFT 18 USC
§§1343, 1344
6/6/2011 EFT 18 USC
§§1343, 1344
6/27/2011 EFT 18 USC
§§1343, 1344
7/6/2011 EFT 18 USC
§§1343, 1344
7/15/2011 EFT 18 USC
§§1343, 1344
7/18/2011 EFT 18 USC
§§1343, 1344
9/6/2011 EFT 18 USC
§§1343, 1344
9/23/2011 EFT 18 USC
18 USC
§§1343, 1344
10/4/2011 EFT 18 USC
18 USC
§§1343, 1344
10/19/2011 EFT 18 USC
18 USC
§§1343, 1344
11/3/2011 EFT 18 USC
§§1343, 1344
11/7/2011 EFT 18 USC
§§1343, 1344
11/7/2011 EFT 18 USC
§§1343, 1344
11/8/2011 EFT 18 USC
§§1343, 1344
3/13/2012 EFT 18 USC
§§1343, 1344
3/13/2012 EFT 18 USC
§§1343, 1344
5/25/2012 EFT 18 USC §§
1343, 1344

Misapplication of Fiduciary
$461

Misapplication of Fiduciary
$2358.75

Misapplication of Fiduciary
$2364.34

Misapplication of Fiduciary
$2976.35

Misapplication of Fiduciary
$7242.83

Misapplication of Fiduciary
$1998.19

Misapplication of Fiduciary
$999

Misapplication of Fiduciary
$4767.00

Misapplication of Fiduciary
$2930.00

Misapplication of Fiduciary
$2033.00

Misapplication of Fiduciary
$102.52

Misapplication of Fiduciary
$10,000

Misapplication of Fiduciary
$10,000

Misapplication of Fiduciary
$3224.51

Misapplication of Fiduciary
$10,000

Misapplication of Fiduciary
$10,000

Misapplication of Fiduciary
$5000
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CANDACE L. CURTIS

e e xS sot e G
American Canyon, CA 94503 A
(925) 759-9020 :
occurtis@sbcglobal.net JUL 0 52016
C b —ourt
July 2’ 2016 IR d
David J. Bradley
Clerk of Court
515 Rusk Street
Houston, TX 77002

RE: Filing of Papers
Dear Mr. Bradley:
Enclosed please find an original complaint for filing with your office. I have enclosed a check

for $400.00 for the filing fee. The filing includes the original and two copies, a request for e-
filing approval, and the civil cover sheet. You will also find three (3) CDs.

1. The Complaint and the documents referenced above

2. A Rule 11 Motion for Sanctions in a related case, required to be filed separately from any
other motion

3. A Petition for Rule 60 relief in the related case

Please feel free to contact the undersigned if you have any questions or need further information.
Sincerely,
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United States Courts
Southern District of Texas
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FILED
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS JUL 03 2016
HOUSTON DIVISION

Plaintift, §
§

v § Civil Action No. 4:12-cv-00592
§
ANITA KAY BRUNSTING, et al §
Defendants §

PLAINTIFF CANDACE LOUISE CURTIS’
MOTION FOR PERMISSION FOR ELECTRONIC CASE FILING.

As the Plaintiff in the above-captioned matter, I respectfully ask the Court for permission
to participate in electronic case filing (“e-filing™) in this case. 1 hereby affirm that:

N =

I have reviewed the requirements for e-filing and agree to abide by them.
I understand that once I register for e-filing, I will receive notices and documents only by

email in this case and not by regular mail.
3. I have regular access to the technical requirements necessary to e-file successfully:

a.
b.

o oo

A computer with internet access;

An email account on a daily basis to receive notifications from the Court and
notices from the e-filing system.

A scanner to convert documents that are only in paper format into electronic files;
A printer or copier to create required paper copies such as chambers copies;

A word-processing program to create documents; and

A pdf reader and a pdf writer to convert word processing documents into pdf
format, the only electronic format in which documents can be e-filed.

Date: '7/?-/20/6;
Respectfully submitted,

Candac@ggo&rtis
218 Landana Sfreet
American Canyon CA 94503

925-759-9020
occurtis@sbcglobal.net
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
HOUSTON DIVISION

CANDACE LOUISE CURTIS
Plaintiff,

Civil Action No. 4:12-cv-00592

8
§
§ [PROPOSED] ORDER GRANTING
v § MOTION FOR PERMISSION FOR
§ ELECTRONIC CASE FILING
ANITA KAY BRUNSTING, et al §
Defendants § DATE:
§ TIME:
§ COURTROOM:
§

JUDGE:
The Court has considered the Motion for Permission for Electronic Case Filing. Finding

that good cause exists, the Motion is GRANTED.

IT IS SO ORDERED

DATED:

United States District Judge
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United States District Court
Southern District of Texas

ENTERED
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT July 06, 2016
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS David J. Bradley, Clerk

HOUSTON DIVISION

CIVIL ACTION NO. 4:161cv101969
Curtis et al v. KunzTtFreed et al

ORDER FOR CONFERENCE AND
DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

Counsel and all parties appearing pro se shall appear for an initial pretrial and
scheduling conference before

JUDGE ALFRED H. BENNETT
on October 28, 2016 at 09:00 AM
at United States Courthouse
Courtroom 8B, 8th Floor
515 Rusk Avenue
Houston, Texas 77002

Counsel shall file with the clerk within fifteen days from receipt of this order a
certificate listing all persons, associations of persons, firms, partnerships,
corporations, affiliates, parent corporations, or other entities that are financially
interested in the outcome of this litigation. If a group can be specified by a
general description, individual listing is not necessary. Underline the name of
each corporation whose securities are publicly traded. If new parties are added or
if additional persons or entities that are financially interested in the outcome of
the litigation are identified at any time during the pendency of this litigation,
then each counsel shall promptly file an amended certificate with the clerk.

After the parties confer (in person or by telephone) as required by Fep. R. Civ. P.
26(f), counsel and all parties appearing pro se shall prepare and file not less than
10 days before the conference a joint discovery/case management plan
containing the information as required by Fep. R. Civ. P. 26(f) using the form
available at http://www.txs.uscourts.gov/sites/txs/files/ahb_jdcmp.pdf.

The court will enter a Docket Control Order and may rule on any pending
motions at the conference.

Counsel and all parties appearing pro se who file or remove an action must serve
a copy of this order with the summons and complaint or with the notice of
removal.

Attendance by an attorney who has authority to bind each represented party is
required at the conference.

Counsel and all parties appearing pro se shall discuss whether alternative dispute
resolution is appropriate and at the conference advise the court of the results of
their discussions.
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8. Counsel and all parties appearing pro se will deliver to chambers copies of all
instruments filed within 7 days of the conference and within 7 days of any future
court hearing or conference. Unless this rule is complied with the court will not
consider any instrument filed within 7 days of any court appearance.

9. Fep. R. Civ. P. 4(m) requires defendant(s) to be served within 90 days after the
filing of the complaint. The failure of plaintiff(s) to file proof of service within
90 days after the filing of the complaint may result in dismissal of this action by
the court on its own initiative.

10. Counsel will deliver to chambers copies of all instruments filed under seal
regardless of their length.

11. Failure to comply with this order may result in sanctions, including dismissal of
the action and assessment of fees and costs.

By Order of the Court

Court Procedures: Information on the court's practices and procedures and how to
reach court personnel may be obtained at the Clerk's website at www.txs.uscourts.gov
or from the intake desk of the Clerk's office.
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AO 399 (01/09) Waiver of the Service of Summons

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the
Southern District of Texas

Curtis et al
Plaintiff
V.
Kunz-Freed et al

Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

Defendant

WAIVER OF THE SERVICE OF SUMMONS

To: Candace Kunz-Freed
(Name of the plaintiff’’s attorney or unrepresented plaintiff)

I have received your request to waive service of a summons in this action along with a copy of the complaint,
two copies of this waiver form, and a prepaid means of returning one signed copy of the form to you.

I, or the entity I represent, agree to save the expense of serving a summons and complaint in this case.

I understand that I, or the entity I represent, will keep all defenses or objections to the lawsuit, the court’s
jurisdiction, and the venue of the action, but that I waive any objections to the absence of a summons or of service.

I also understand that I, or the entity I represent, must file and serve an answer or a motion under Rule 12 within
60 days from 07/09/2016 , the date when this request was sent (or 9 days if it was sent outside the
United States). IfT fail to do so, a default judgment will be entered agains e gitity I represent.

Date: 7/7"1/ [ b
d : }ﬁtwl of the 7orney or unrepresented party
(F)roDA(ef kUNZ-FﬂEtD Gry s, KP(

Printed name of party waiving service of summons Printed name

ONE RWERWAY, suiTE 1700 fousTon,TX 27050
i = Address

CREEDQ TC\OAQS\)N £o€. Cgm

" E-mail address

[713)103-2213

e Telephone number

Duty to Avoid Unnecessary Expenses of Serving a Summons
Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure requires certain defendants to cooperate in saving unnecessary expenses of serving a summons
and complaint. A defendant who is located in the United States and who fails to return a signed waiver of service requested by a plaintiff located in
the United States will be required to pay the expenses of service, unless the defendant shows good cause for the failure.

“Good cause” does ot include a belief that the lawsuit is groundless, or that it has been brought in an improper venue, or that the court has
no jurisdiction over this matter or over the defendant or the defendant’s property.

If the waiver is signed and returned, you can still make these and all other defenses and objections, but you cannot object to the absence of
a summons or of service.

If you waive service, then you must, within the time specified on the waiver form, serve an answer or a motion under Rule 12 on the plaintiff
and file a copy with the court. By signing and returning the waiver form, you are allowed more time to respond than if a summons had been served.

17-20360.86
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AO 399 (0£/09) Waiver of the Service of Summons

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the -
Southern District of Texas
Curtis et al )
Plaintiff )
Y. ) Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969
Kunz-Freed et al )
Defendant )

WAIVER OF THE SERVICE OF SUMMONS

To: Albert Vacek Jr.
(Name of the plaintiff’s atiorney or unrepresented plaintiff)

I have received your request to waive service of a summons in this action along with a copy of the complaint,
two copies of this watver form, and a prepaid means of returning one signed copy of the form to you.

1, or the entity 1 represent, agree to save the expense of serving a summons and complaint in this case.

I understand that I, or the entity 1 represent, will keep all defenses or objections to the lawsuit, the court’s
jurisdiction, and the venue of the action, but that I waive any objections to the absence of a summons or of service.

I also understand that I, or the entity I represent, must file and serve an answgr or a motion under Rule 12 within
60 days from 07/12/2016 , the date when this request was senf/{or 90 days if it was sent outside the
United States). If ] fail to do so, a default judgment will be entered agaj

Date: 7 /7-7—/{ b
gnallre of the a(rorjey or unrepresented party

Allert Vucel Jr. Cor S. Reo

Prinfed name of party waiving service of summons Printed name

Ong RQVERWAY SUTE 1yov  HowTon, 7X 7705‘4

Address
CREEOQ THIMPSONCE . Cam
E-mail address
[715) 493-32313
! Telephone number

Duty to Avoid Unnecessary Expenses of Serving a Summons
Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure requires certain defendants to cooperate in saving unnecessary expenses of serving a summons
and complaint, A defendant who is located in the United States and who fails to return a signed waiver of service requested by a plaintiff located in
the United States will be required to pay the expenses of service, unless the defendant shows good cause for the failure.

“Good cause” does not include a belief that the lawsuit is groundless, or that it has been brought in an improper venue, or that the court has
no jurisdiction over this matter or over the defendant or the defendant’s property.

If the waiver is signed and returned, you can still make these and all other defenses and objections, but you cannot object to the absence of
a summons or of service.

If you waive service, then you must, within the time specified on the waivey form, serve an answer or a motion under Rule 12 on the plaintiff
_ and file a copy with the court. By signing and retumning the waiver form, you are allowed more time to respond than if a summons bad been served,

1 17-20360.87
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Unitey
Olithery, Ctl?:t,, ¢ t’;C.it. C?u
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR FlLep  —*°
THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS JUL 9 0 2015
HOUSTON DIVISION
) Davig 4
Curtis et al., § adley, Clery
§ f Cours
VS. §
§ Civil Action No.4:16-cv-01969
Kunz-Freed et al., §

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Pursuant to this Court’s Order of July 6, 2016, Plaintiffs provide the following list of

persons financially interested in the outcome of this litigation.

10.

1.

12.

13.

14.

15.

Candace Louise Curtis Plaintiff

Rik Munson Plaintiff

Candace Kunz-Freed Defendanf
Albert Vacek Jr. Defendant
Bernard Lyle Mathews Defendant
Anita Brunsting Defendant
Amy Brunsting Defendant
Neal Spielman Defendant
Bradley Featherston Defendant
Stephen A. Mendel Defendant
Darlene Payne Smith Defendant
Jason Ostrom Defendant
Gregory Lester Defendént
Jill Willard Young Defendant
Bobbie Bayless Defendant

17-20360.88
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16. Christine Riddle Butts Defendant
17. Clarinda Comstock Defendant
18. Toni Biamonte Defendant

19.  People of the State of Texas, of the United States, and anyone forced to seek declaration,
enforcement, or protection of a right, the redress or prevention of a wrong, or the punishment of
a public offense, are persons financially interested in this litigation, -

20.  Every honest legal professional whose legitimate work product is rendered worthless by
judicial corruption is a person financially interested in this litigation.

21.  Every dishonest legal professional that uses the court systems as a front for organized

crime is a person potentially financially interested in this litigation.

%\ 15/ zate

Rik Wayne Munsﬁs\ /" Date

-
(“’%% T 19/20/¢
Ca@e @ise Curtis 7 Date

Respectfully submitted,

17-20360.89
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SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

CLERK OF COURT

P.O. Box 61010 inited States District Court
HOUSTON, TEXAS 77208 WWW.IXS.USCEREIaM District of Texas
FILED
JUL 25 2016
O
gfgi‘lg dlggglgfrg;tlms David J, Bradley, Clerk of 09@

American Canyon CA US 94503

Case: 4:16-cv-01969  Instrument: 3 (2 pages) pty
Date: Jul 6, 2016

Control: 16071955

Notice: The attached order has been entered.
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CLERK

NITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

-cv-01969 Document 7 Filed in TXSD on 07/%5/16 Page 2 of 2

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
POST OFFICE BOX 61010
HOUSTON, TEXAS 77208

L _';- us. POSTAGE 3 PITNEY BOWES
ol : m f

4me

ZIP 77002 $ 000_465

02 1w

‘= (0001374615 JUL 06 2016
United States District Court

Southern District of Texas

FILED

JUL 25 2016

David J, Bradley, Clerk of Coutt
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AO 399 (01/09) Waiver of the Service of Summons

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of Texas

Curtis et al
Plaintiff
Y.
Kunz-Freed et al
Defendant

Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

R e

WAIVER OF THE SERVICE OF SUMMONS

To: Jason Ostrom
(Name of the plaintiff’s attorney or unrepresented plaintiff)

I'have rg:ceiv;d your request to waive service of a summons in this action along with a copy of the complaint,
two copies of this waiver form, and a prepaid means of returning one signed copy of the form to you.

I, or the entity I represent, agree to save the expense of serving a summons and complaint in this case.

__ D'understand that I, or the entity I represent, will keep all defenses or objections to the lawsuit, the court’s
Jurisdiction, and the venue of the action, but that I waive any objections to the absence of a summons or of service.

I also understand that I, or the entity I represent, must file and serve an answer or a motion under Rule 12 within

Date: _¢8/e%/ze\v Q oS /

/ Signature of the attorney or unre;;;;semed party
ded vn @S\"'OM Nstan % OS\'V"M

Printed name of party waiving service of summons Printed name

6363 Wookwey, Suie 30

" Address

» LUS0A Q SwWuvn meS NS . foviy
=

) E-mail address

713-§22-¢ 209

Telephone number

Duty to Avoid Unnecessary Expenses of Serving a Summons
Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure requires certain defendants to cooperate in saving unnecessary expenses of serving a summons
and complaint. A defendant who is located in the United States and who fails to return a signed waiver of service requested by a plaintiff located in
the United States will be required to pay the expenses of service, unless the defendant shows good cause for the failure.

“Good cause” does not include a belief that the lawsuit is groundless, or that it has been brought in an improper venue, or that the court has
no jurisdiction over this matter or over the defendant or the defendant’s property.

If the waiver is signed and returned, you can still make these and all other defenses and objections, but you cannot object to the absence of
a summons or of service.

If you waive service, then you must, within the time specified on the waiver form, serve an answer or a motion under Rule 12 on the plaintiff
and file a copy with the court. By signing and returning the waiver form, you are allowed more time to respond than if a summons had been served.

17-20360.92
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for the AUG 0 & 2016
Southern District of Texas
Davig 4 Bragi,
. e
Curtis et al ) ¥, Clerk of Court
Plaintiff )
V. ) Civil ActionNo. 4:16-cv-01969

Kunz-Freed et al )
Defendant )

WAIVER OF THE SERVICE OF SUMMONS

To: Christine Riddle Buits
{Name of the plaintifi"s atiorney or unrepresented plaintiff)

T have received your request to waive service of a summons in this action along with a copy of the complaint,
two copies of this waiver form, and a prepaid means of returning one signed copy of the form to you.

I, or the entity I represent, agree to save the expense of serving a summons and complaint in this case.

I understand that I, or the entity | represent, will keep all defenses or objections to the lawsuit, the court’s
jurisdiction, and the venue of the action, but that I waive any objections to the absence of a summons or of service.

1 also understand that 1, or the entity I represent, must file and serve an answer or a motion under Rule 12 within

60 days from 07/09/2016 , the date when this request was sent (or 90 days if it was sent outside the
United States). If1 fail to do so, a default judgment will be entered against me or the entity I represent.

Date: 7/21/16

e
gnature of the Wiorney or unrepresented party

Christine Butts Laura Beckman Hedge
Printed name of party waiving service of summons

Printed name

Harris County Attorney's Office
1019 Congress, 15th Floor,
—Houston; Fexas—77902
! Address
laura.hedge@cao.hctx.net

E-mail address
(713) 274-5137

Telephone number

Duty te Aveid Unnecessary Expenses of Serving a Summons
Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure requires certain defendants to cooperate in saving unnecessary expenses of serving asummons

and complaint. A defendant who is located in the United States and who fails to return a signed waiver of service requested by a plaintiff located in
the United States will be required to pay the expenses of service, unless the defendant shows good cause for the failure.

“Good cause” does not include a belief that the lawsuit is groundless, or that it has been brought in an improper veaue, or that the court has
no jurisdiction over this matter or over the defendant or the defendant’s property.

If the waiver is signed and returned, you can still sake these and all other defenses and objections, but you cannot object to the absence of
& summons or of service.

If you waive service, then you must, within the time specified on the waiver form, serve an answer or a motion under Rule 12 on the plaintiff
and file a copy with the court. By signing and returning the waiver form, you are allowed more time to respond than if a sumimons had been served.
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égﬁ?‘? Siates Disyic Coun
AO 399 (01/09) Waiver of the Service of Summons 6 Disriey of Texas
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  AUG 05 201
for the
Southern District of Texas David 4, grag,

: <Y, Cler, k of cgm
Curtis et al )
Plaintiff )

V. )  Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

Kunz-Freed et al )
Defendant )

WAIVER OF THE SERVICE OF SUMMONS

To: Clarinda Comstock
(Name of the plaintiff°s attorney or unrepresented plaintiff)

I have received your request to waive service of a summons in this action along with a copy of the complaint,
two copies of this waiver form, and a prepaid means of returning one signed copy of the form to you.

1, or the entity 1 represent, agree to save the expense of serving a summons and complaint in this case.

I understand that I, or the entity I represent, will keep all defenses or objections to the lawsuit, the court’s
jurisdiction, and the venue of the action, but that I waive any objections to the absence of a summons or of service.

I also understand that I, or the entity I represent, must file and serve an answer or a motion under Rule 12 within
60 days from 07/09/2016 , the date when this request was sent (or 90 days if it was sent outside the
United States). If1 fail to do so, a default judgment will be entered against me ox the entity [ represent.

Date: 7/21/16

{/ Signature ofké atterney or unrepresented party ™~
Clarinda Comstock Laura Beckman Hedge
Printed name of party waiving service of summons Printed name
Harris County Attorney’'s Office
1019 Congress, 15th Floor

~Houston, Texas_77002
Address

laura.hedge@cao.hctit.net
E-mail address
(713) 274-5137

Telephone number

Duty to Avoid Unnecessary Expenses of Serving a Summons
Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure re%uires certain defendants to cooperate in saving unnecessary expenses of serving a summons
and complaint. A defendant who is located in the United States and who fails to return a signed waiver of service requested by a plaintiff located in
the United States will be required to pay the expenses of service, unless the defendant shows good cause for the failure.

“Good cause” does not include a belief that the lawsuit is groundless, or that it has been brought in an improper venue, or that the court has
no jurisdiction over this matter or over the defendant or the defendant’s property.

If the waiver is signed and returned, you can still make these and all other defenses and objections, but you cannot object to the absence of
a summons or of service.

If you waive service, then you must, within the time specified on the waiver form, serve an answer or a motion under Rule 12 on the plaintiff
and file a copy with the court. By signing and returning the waiver form, you are allowed more time to respond than if a summons had been served,

17-20360.94
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AO 399 (01/09) Waiver of the Service of Summons

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of Texas
Curtis et al )
Plaintiff ) ;
v. ) Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-0188Yd. Bradley, Clerk of couy
Kunz-Freed et al )
Defendant )

WAIVER OF THE SERVICE OF SUMMONS

To: Bobbie Bayless
(Name of the plaintiff's attorney or unrepresented plaintiff)

I have received your request to waive service of a summons in this action along with a copy of the complaint,
two copies of this waiver form, and a prepaid means of returning one signed copy of the form to you.

I, or the entity I represent, agree to save the expense of serving a summons and complaint in this case.

[ understand that I, or the entity I represent, will keep all defenses or objections to the lawsuit, the court’s
jurisdiction, and the venue of the action, but that I waive any objections to the absence of a summons or of service.

1 also understand that I, or the entity I represent, must file and serve an answer or a motion under Rule 12 within
60 days from 07/09/2016 , the date when this request was sent (or 90 days if it was sent outside the
United States). IfI fail to do so, a default judgment will be entered againstme or the entity I represent.

Date: 5 zZz’ua / /,é é‘—@
Signature of the attorney or unrepresente

Bobbie G é«wzess (obbye & Agorecss "

Printed name of party wajbing service of summons Printed name ¢

A9 3/ Feevpas, %us?égz 7295

Address

Dryless @ Onplesssoos. om.

E-mbil address

(2 -522-222¢

Telephone number

Duty to Avoid Unnecessary Expenses of Serving a Summons
Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure requires certain defendants to cooperate in saving unnecessary expenses of serving a summons
and complaint. A defendant who is located in the United States and who fails fo return a signed waiver of service requested by a plaintiff located in
the United States will be required to pay the expenses of service, unless the defendant shows good cause for the failure.

“Good cause” does not include a belief that the lawsuit is groundless, or that it has been brought in an improper venue, or that the court has
no jurisdiction over this matter or over the defendant or the defendant’s property.

If the waiver is signed and returned, you can still make these and all other defenses and objections, but you cannot object to the absence of
a summons or of service.

If you waive service, then you must, within the time specified on the waiver form, serve an answer or a motion under Rule 12 on the plaintiff
and file a copy with the court. By signing and returning the waiver form, you are allowed more time to respond than if a summons had been served.
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United States Dist
gouthern Dist

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT wiy E
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 0 2
HOUSTON DIVISION MG 1
Curtis, et al § 14 J. Bradiey, Clerk of Gourt
Plaintiffs § Bavid J
§
v § Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969
§
Kunz-Freed, et al §
Defendants §

PLAINTIFFS’ NOTICE OF RELATED CASE (Local Rule 5.2)
Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969 currently pending before the Honorable Judge Alfred H.

Bennett is closely related to Civil Action 4:12-cv-00592.

A Rule 60 F.R.C.P. motion is pending before the Honorable Judge Kenneth Hoyt, that is
also relevant in the above-referenced action. All of the Parties to the above titled action are
hereby noticed that these cases and events are closely related and the findings of fact and

conclusions of law in the civil breach of fiduciary 4:12-cv-00592 will have a direct bearing on

fk Wayne Munson N Date

218 Landana Street
American Canyon CA 94503
025-349-8348
blowintough@att.net

the civil RICO 4:16-¢v-01969 action.
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Certificate of Service

I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the forgoing was deposited in the U.S.

mail, with postage fully prepaid on the Etr day of August 2016, via U.S.P.S. Priority Mail

addressed as follows:

Jason Ostrom

Ostrom Morris, PLLC
6363 Woodway, Suite 300
Houston, TX 77057

Bobbie G. Bayless
2931 Ferndale
Houston, TX 77098

Darlene Payne Smith
1401 McKinney, 17th Floor
Houston, TX 77010

Attorneys for Albert Vacek Jr., and Candace Kunz-Freed
Corey Reed

Thompson Coe

One Riverway, Suite 1700

Houston, TX 77056

Bernard Lyle Mathews III
2000 S. Dairy Ashford Rd, Suite 520
Houston, TX 77077

Stephen A. Mendel

The Mendel Law Firm, L.P.
1155 Dairy Ashford, Suite 104
Houston, TX 77079

Neal E. Spielman

Griffin & Matthews

1155 Dairy Ashford, Suite 300
Houston, TX 77079

Gregory Lester
955 N Dairy Ashford Rd # 220
Houston, TX 77079

17-20360.97
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Jill Willard Young
2900 Weslayan, Suite 150
Houston, TX 77027

Bradley E. Featherston

Featherston Tran P.L.L.C.

20333 State Highway 249, Suite 200
Houston, TX 77070

Tony Baiamonte 111
1608 Victor Street
Houston, TX 77019

Anita Kay Brunsting
203 Bloomingdale Circle
Victoria, TX 77904

Amy Ruth Brunsting
2582 Country Ledge
New Braunfels, TX 78132

Attorneys for Christine Riddle Butts and Clarinda Comstock
Laura Beckman Hedge, Assistant County Attorney

1019 Congress, 15™ Floor

Houston, Texas 77002

Via email at Laura.Hedge@cao.hetx.net

%\ 6 - ﬁ —25/'6
& Wayne Munson

218 Landana Street
American Canyon CA 94503
925-759-9020
blowintough(@att.net
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Curtis, et al

\Z

Kunz-Freed, et al

United States District Count
Southern District of Texas

FILED
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT AUG 10 2016
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
HOUSTON DIVISION
David J. Bradley, Clerk of Court

§
Plaintiff, §
§

§ Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969
§
§
Defendants §

PLAINTIFF RIK MUNSON AND PLAINTIFF CANDACE LOUISE CURTIS’

MOTION FOR PERMISSION FOR ELECTRONIC CASE FILING.

As the Pro se Plaintiffs in the above-captioned matter, we respectfully ask the Court for

permission to participate in electronic case filing (“e-filing”) in this case. I hereby affirm that:

1. I have reviewed the requirements for e-filing and agree to abide by them.

2. I understand that once I register for e-filing, I will receive notices and documents only by

email in this case and not by regular mail.

3. I have regular access to the technical requirements necessary to e-file successfully:

a.

b.

A computer with internet access;

An email account on a daily basis to receive notifications from the Court and
notices from the e-filing system.

A scanner to convert documents that are only in paper format into electronic files;
A printer or copier to create required paper copies such as chambers copies;

A word-processing program to create documents; and

A pdf reader and a pdf writer to convert word processing documents into pdf

format, the only electronic format in which documents can be e-filed.

17-20360.99
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&P .
Date: O-&-201G
Respectfully submitted,

Candace(Loyise{Cutis

218 Landarfa Street
American Canyon CA 94503
925-759-9020
occurtis@sbcglobal.net

A

Rik Wayne Munson N\
218 Landana Street
American Canyon CA 94503
925-759-9020
Blowintough@att.net
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

HOUSTON DIVISION

Curtis, et al §
Plaintiffs §
§

v § Civil Action 4:16-cv-01969
8
Kunz-Freed, et al §
Defendants §

Certificate of Service
I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the following documents was deposited in the
U.S. mail with postage fully prepaid on the Lt day of August 2016, via U.S.P.S. Priority Mail

addressed as follows:

1. Motion for Rule 60 Relief, Documents 115-119 in Case 4:12-cv-00592 filed TXSD 2016-
08-03.

2. Certificate of Interested Persons

3. Application for CM/ECF access

4. Notice of Related Case filing

Darlene Payne Smith Jason Ostrom

1401 McKinney, 17TH Floor Ostrom Motris, PLLC

Houston, Texas 77010 6363 Woodway, Suite 300
Houston, Texas 77057

Attorneys for Albert Vacek Jr.

and Candace Kunz-Freed Bobbie G. Bayless

Corey Reed 2931 Ferndale

Thompson Coe Houston, Texas 77098

One Riverway, Suite 1700

Houston, Texas 77056 Gregory Lester
955 N Dairy Ashford Rd # 220
Houston, TX 77079
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Stephen A. Mendel

The Mendel Law Firm, L.P.
1155 Dairy Ashford, Suite 104
Houston, TX 77079

Anita Kay Brunsting
203 Bloomingdale Circle
Victoria, TX 77904

Neal E. Spielman

Griffin & Matthews

1155 Dairy Ashford, Suite 300
Houston, Texas 77079

Attorneys for Christine Riddie Butts and
Clarinda Comstock

Laura Beckman Hedge Assistant County
Attorney

1019 Congress, 15™ Floor

Houston, Texas 77002

Via email at Laura.Hedge@cao.hctx.net

Bernard Lyle Mathews 111
2000 S. Dairy Ashford Rd, Suite 520
Houston, Texas 77077

Jill Willard Young
2900 Weslayan, Suite 150
Houston, TX 77027

Bradley E. Featherston

Featherston Tran P.L.L.C.

20333 State Highway 249 suite 200
Houston, Texas 77070

Tony Baiamonte I11
1608 Victor Street
Houston, TX 77019

Amy Ruth Brunsting

2582 Country Ledge
New Braunfels, TX 78132

A

Candace Lowige Curtis
218 Land Nireet
American yon CA 94503

925-759-9020
occurtis@sbcglobal .net

17-20360.102


17-20360.102


Case 4:16-cv-01969 Document 13-1 Filed in TXSD on 08/10/16 Page 1 of 1

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
HOUSTON DIVISION

Curtis, et al Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-001969
Plaintiffs
[PROPOSED] ORDER GRANTING
MOTION FOR PERMISSION FOR
ELECTRONIC CASE FILING

v

Kunz-Freed, et al

Defendants DATE:
TIME:
COURTROOM:

JUDGE:

O U L L O LD ORI O L

The Court has considered the Motion for Permission for Electronic Case Filing. Finding

that good cause exists, the Motion is GRANTED.

IT IS SO ORDERED

DATED:

United States District Judge

17-20360.103
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coT S United States District Court
Southern District of Texas

ENTERED
August 12, 2016
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT David J. Bradley, Clerk
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
HOUSTON DIVISION
Curtis, et al § Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-001969
Plaintiffs §
§ _ -—_ | ORDER GRANTING
v § MOTION FOR PERMISSION FOR
§ ELECTRONIC CASE FILING
Kunz-Freed, et al §
Defendants § DATE:
§ TIME:
§ COURTROOM:
§ JUDGE:

The Court has considered the Motion for Permission for Electronic Case Filing. Finding

that good cause exists, the Motion is GRANTED.

IT IS SO ORDERED

AUG 12 2016
DATED:

United /ates District Judge

17-20360.104


17-20360.104
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of Texas

Curtis et al.,
Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

Kunz-Freed et al.,

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Amy Ruth Brunsting
2582 Country Ledge
New Braunfels, TX 78132

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Candace Louise Curtis

218 Landana St.
American Canyon, CA9503

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

17-20360.105


17-20360.105
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any) ~ Amy Ruth Brunsting
was received by me on (date)

1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(3 | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ;or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because ;or
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

17-20360.106
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of Texas

Curtis et al.,
Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

Kunz-Freed et al.,

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Anita Kay Brunsting
203 Bloomingdale Circle
Victoria, TX 77904

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Candace Louise Curtis

218 Landana St.
American Canyon, CA9503

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

17-20360.107
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any) ~ Anita Kay Brunsting
was received by me on (date)

1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(3 | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ;or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because ;or
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

17-20360.108
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of Texas

Curtis et al.,
Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

Kunz-Freed et al.,

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Bernard Lyle Mathews IlI
2000 S. Dairy Ashford Rd, Suite 520
Houston, Texas 77077

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Candace Louise Curtis

218 Landana St.
American Canyon, CA9503

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

17-20360.109


17-20360.109
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)  Bernard Lyle Mathews llI
was received by me on (date)

1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(3 | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ;or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because ;or
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

17-20360.110


17-20360.110
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of Texas

Curtis et al.,
Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

Kunz-Freed et al.,

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Bradley E. Featherston
Featherdston Tran P.L.L.C.
20333 State Highway 249 suite 200
Houston, Texas 77070

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Candace Louise Curtis

218 Landana St.
American Canyon, CA9503

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

17-20360.111


17-20360.111
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any) ~ Bradley E. Featherston
was received by me on (date)

1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(3 | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ;or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because ;or
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

17-20360.112


17-20360.112
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of Texas

Curtis et al.,
Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

Kunz-Freed et al.,

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Darlene Payne Smith
1401 McKinney, 17TH Floor
Houston, Texas 77010

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Candace Louise Curtis

218 Landana St.
American Canyon, CA9503

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

17-20360.113


17-20360.113
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)  Darlene Payne Smith
was received by me on (date)

1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(3 | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ;or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because ;or
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

17-20360.114


17-20360.114
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of Texas

Curtis et al.,
Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

Kunz-Freed et al.,

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Gregory Lester
955 N Dairy Ashford Rd # 220
Houston, TX 77079

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Candace Louise Curtis

218 Landana St.
American Canyon, CA9503

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

17-20360.115


17-20360.115
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any) ~ Gregory Lester

was received by me on (date)

Date:

1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(3 | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ;or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because ;or
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

17-20360.116


17-20360.116
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of Texas

Curtis et al.,
Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

Kunz-Freed et al.,

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Jill Willard Young
2900 Weslayan, Suite 150
Houston, TX 77027

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Candace Louise Curtis

218 Landana St.
American Canyon, CA9503

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

17-20360.117


17-20360.117
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)  Jill Willard Young

was received by me on (date)

Date:

1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(3 | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ;or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because ;or
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

17-20360.118


17-20360.118
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of Texas

Curtis et al.,
Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

Kunz-Freed et al.,

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Neal E. Spielman
Griffin & Matthews
1155 Dairy Ashford, Suite 300
Houston, Texas 77079

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Candace Louise Curtis

218 Landana St.
American Canyon, CA9503

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

17-20360.119


17-20360.119
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)  Neal E. Spielman

was received by me on (date)

Date:

1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(3 | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ;or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because ;or
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

17-20360.120


17-20360.120
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of Texas

Curtis et al.,
Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

Kunz-Freed et al.,

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Stephen A. Mendel
The Mendel Law Firm, L.P.
1155 Dairy Ashford, Suite 104
Houston, TX 77079

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Candace Louise Curtis

218 Landana St.
American Canyon, CA9503

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

17-20360.121


17-20360.121
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Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any) ~ Stephen A. Mendel
was received by me on (date)

1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(3 | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ;or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because ;or
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

17-20360.122


17-20360.122
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
District of

)

)

)

)

Plaintiff(s) )

V. g Civil Action No.

)

)

)

)

Defendant(s) )

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

17-20360.123


17-20360.123
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

Date:

3 1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(A | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ;or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because por
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

17-20360.124
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

HOUSTON DIVISION

CANDACE LOUIS CURTIS §

RICK WAYNE MUNSON §

Plaintiffs §

§

VS. §
§ C.A. No. 4:16-¢cv-01969

§

CANDACE KUNZ-FREED., ET AL. §

Defendants §

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

Pursuant to this Court’s Order for Conference and Disclosure of Interested Parties [Dkt.

No.3] and Federal Rule of Civil procedure 7.1, Defendant Jason Ostrom disclose the following

persons, associations of persons, firms, partnerships, corporations, affiliates, parent corporations

and/or other entities that are financially interested in the outcome of this litigation:

i N

2,

8.

9.

Candace Louise Curtis, Plaintiff
Rik Munson, Plaintiff

Candace Kunz-Freed, Defendant
Albert Vacek Jr., Defendant
Bernard Lyle Mathews, Defendant
Anita Brunsting, Defendant

Amy Brunsting, Defendant

Neal Spielman, Defendant

Bradley Featherston, Defendant

10. Stephen A. Mendel, Defendant

11. Darlene Payne Smith, Defendant

17-20360.125


17-20360.125
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12. Jason Ostrom, Defendant

13. Gregory Lester, Defendant

14. Jill Willard Young, Defendant

15. Bobbie Bayless, Defendant

16. Christine Riddle Butts, Defendant
17. Clarinda Comstock, Defendant

18. Toni Biamonte, Defendant

Filed in TXSD on 08/24/16 Page 2 of 3

Respectfully submitted,

ostrom 1S, PLLC

By:

R. KEITH MORRIS, I1I
(TBN #24032879)
KEITH@OSTROMMORRIS.COM
StACY L. KELLY

(TBN #24010153)

Federal ID No. 28841
stacy(@ostrmmorris.com
JASON B. OSTROM

(TBN #24027710)
jason(@ostrommorris.com

6363 Woodway, Suite 300
Houston, Texas 77057
713.863.8891
713.863.1051 (Facsimile)
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that a true and correct copy of the above pleading has been served on this
24+ day of Auqm-ﬂ' , 2016, through the Court’s CM/ECF system,

which constitutes service on all parties.

Stacy L. Kel ly
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AO 399 (01/09) Waiver of the Service of Summons

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

United States Dis
Southern District of Texas strict Court

Southern District of Texas
FILED
Curtis et al

Plinif ) AUG 3 0 2016
v. ) Civil Action No. 4:16-cv-01969
Kunz-Freed et al )
Defendant ) David J, Bradley, Clerk of Cour

WAIVER OF THE SERVICE OF SUMMONS

To: Tony Baiamonte
(Name of the plaintiff’s attorney or unrepresented plaintiff)

I have received your request to waive service of a summons in this action along with a copy of the complaint,
two copies of this waiver form, and a prepaid means of returning one signed copy of the form to you.

I, or the entity I represent, agree to save the expense of serving a summons and complaint in this case.

I understand that I, or the entity I represent, will keep all defenses or objections to the lawsuit, the court’s
jurisdiction, and the venue of the action, but that I waive any objections to the absence of a summons or of service.

I also understand that I, or the entity | represent, must file and serve an answer or a motion under Rule 12 within
the date when this request was sent (or 90 days if it was sent outside the

United States). If 1 fail to nt will be entered agaipnst me or the entity I represent.
o BB A Pl Cnieiope.

Date: 8? “Q}“p WA/\
, Signatwf 0 th%attjrne%r unrepresented party

Tony Paiamonte Joman Hedeo

SO, a defaultj idg

Printe@me of party waiving service of summons Printed name

Harris Cowsrty %vmujifcwfca\ |
0

Hoviston, TR 72 oo

&
(8]
E-mail gddress ——

(D) 25133

Telephone number

Duty to Avoid Unnecessary Expenses of Serving a Summeons
Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure requires certain defendants to cooperate in saving unnecessary expenses of serving a summons
and complaint. A defendant who is located in the United States and who fails to return a signed waiver of service requested by a plaintiff located in
the United States will be required to pay the expenses of service, unless the defendant shows good cause for the failure.

“Good cause” does rot include a belief that the lawsuit is groundless, or that it has been brought in an improper venue, or that the court has
no jurisdiction over this matter or over the defendant or the defendant’s property.

If the waiver is signed and returned, you can still make these and all other defenses and objections, but you cannot object to the absence of
a summons or of service.

If you waive service, then you must, within the time specified on the waiver form, serve an answer or a motion under Rule 12 on the plaintiff
and file a copy with the court. By signing and returning the waiver form, you are allowed more time to respond than if a summons had been served.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

HOUSTON DIVISION

CANDACE LOUIS CURTIS §

RICK WAYNE MUNSON §

Plaintiffs §

§

VS. §
§ C.A. No. 4:16-¢cv-01969

§

CANDACE KUNZ-FREED., ET AL. §

Defendants §

UNOPPOSED MOTION FOR EXTENSION OF TIME TO FILE RESPONSIVE
PLEADING

Defendant Jason B. Ostrom respectfully requests that the Court extend his responsive
pleading deadline to Monday, November 7, 2016. Plaintiffs have consented to this Motion.
Pursuant to Section B(5)(B) of the Court’s Procedures and Practices, Jason B. Ostrom also submits

a proposed order.

Respectfully submitted,

ostrommorris, PLLC

By: @/ ééé&/ﬁ/

R.KEITH MORRI%III
(TBN #24032879)
KEITH@OSTROMMORRIS.COM
Stacy L. KELLY

(TBN #24010153)

Federal ID No. 28841
stacy(@ostrmmorris.com
JASON B. OSTROM
(TBN #24027710)
jason(@ostrommeorris.com
6363 Woodway, Suite 300
Houston, Texas 77057
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713.863.8891
713.863.1051 (Facsimile)

ATTORNEYS FOR JASON B. OSTROM
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CERTIFICATE OF CONFERENCE

[ certify that I have communicated with Plaintiffs, and they are unopposed to the relief

sought herein.
ééém

Stacy L. Ke‘ﬁy

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that a true and correct copy of the above pleading has been served on this
2w day of Septemnber , 2016, through the Court’s CM/ECF system,
which constitutes service on all parties.

~Stacy /. Kelly d
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

HOUSTON DIVISION

CANDACE LOUIS CURTIS §

RICK WAYNE MUNSON §

Plaintiffs §

§

VS. §
§ C.A. No. 4:16-cv-01969

§

CANDACE KUNZ-FREED., ET AL. §

Defendants §

[PROPOSED]| ORDER

Before the Court is the Unopposed Motion to File Responsive Pleading, filed by Defendant
Jason B. Ostrom. The Motion is GRANTED. The deadline for Jason B. Ostrom to file a
responsive pleading is hereby extended up to and including November 7, 2016. All other deadlines
remain in full force and effect.

SO ORDERED.

Date: September , 2016.

ALFRED H. BENNETT
UNITED SATTES DISTRICT JUDGE
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
HOUSTON DIVISION

CANDACE LOUISE CURTIS AND RICK
WAYNE MUNSON,

Plaintiffs,

§

§

§

§

§

V. § CIVIL ACTION NO. 4:16-CV-01969

§

CANDACE KUNZ-FREED, ALBERT §

VACEK, JR., BERNARD LYLE §

MATHEWS III, NEAL SPIELMAN, §

BRADLEY FEATHERSTON, STEPHEN §

A. MENDEL, DARLENE PAYNE SMITH, §

JASON OSTROM, GREGORY LESTER, §

JILL WILLARD YOUNG, CHRISTINE  §

RIDDLE BUTTS, CLARINDA §

COMSTOCK, TONI BIAMONTE, BOBBY §

BAYLESS, ANITA ‘BRUNSTING, AND  §

AMY BRUNSTING, §
§

Defendants. §

DEFENDANTS CANDACE KUNZ-FREED AND ALBERT VACEK JR.’S
MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM

TO THE HONORABLE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT JUDGE:

Defendants Candace Kuntz-Freed and Albert Vacek, Jr. (collectively referred to as
“V&F”) hereby file this Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim and would respectfully
show the Court the following:

I.
BACKGROUND

1. For the purpose of this motion, V&F incorporates the detailed background

contained in their Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction.
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11.
BASIS FOR MOTION TO DISMISS AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

2. Rule 12(b)(6) authorizes dismissal of an action for “failure to state a claim upon
which relief can be granted” if the plaintiff’s complaint lacks “direct allegations on every
material point necessary to sustain a recovery” or fails to “contain allegations from which an
inference fairly may be drawn that evidence on these material points will be introduced at trial.”
FED. R. C1v. P. 12(b)(6); Campbell v. San Antonio, 43 F.3d 973, 975 (5th Cir. 1995). Although a
court is required to accept all well-pleaded facts as true, a court does not accept as true
conclusory allegations, “unwarranted deductions of fact,” or “legal conclusions masquerading as
factual conclusions.” See, e.g., Tuchman v. DSC Communications, 14 F.3d 1061, 1067 (5th Cir.
1994). A claim must be dismissed if the claimant can prove no set of facts that would entitle it to
relief. Campbell v. City of San Antonio, 43 F.3d 973, 975 (5th Cir. 1995) “The court is not
required to ‘conjure up unpled allegations or construe elaborately arcane scripts to’ save a
complaint.” Id. For the reasons set forth in more detail below, Plaintiffs’ claims should be
dismissed because Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim upon which relief may be granted.

IIl.
ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

A. PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS SHOULD BE DISMISSED BECAUSE PLAINTIFFS HAVE NOT
ADEQUATELY PLEADED A VIOLATION OF THE RICO ACT.

3. To survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, Plaintiffs must allege the following:

(1) that a “person” within the scope of the statute (2) has utilized a “pattern of
racketeering activity” or the proceeds thereof (3) to infiltrate an interstate
“enterprise” (4) by [violations of § 1962 subsections] (a) investing the income
derived from the pattern of racketeering activity in the enterprise; (b) acquiring or
maintaining an interest in the enterprise through the pattern of racketeering
activity; (c) conducting the affairs of the enterprise through the pattern of
racketeering activity; or (d) conspiring to commit any of the above acts.
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Hon. Jed S. Rakoff & Howard W. Goldstein, RICO: Civil and Criminal Law and Strategy, § 1.02
(2006); see also Delta Truck & Tractor, Inc. v. J.I. Case Co., 855 F.2d 241, 242 (5th Cir. 1988),
cert. denied, 489 U.S. 1079 (1989); Cadle Co. v. Schultz, 779 F. Supp. 392, 396 (N.D. Tex.
1991).

4. Each of these elements is a “term of art which carries its own inherent
requirements of particularity.” Elliott v. Foufas, 867 F.2d 877, 880 (5th Cir. 1989). Thus,
“[u]nlike other claims, a RICO claim must be plead with specific facts, not mere conclusions,
which establish the elements of a claim under the statute.” Andrade v. Chojnacki, 65 F. Supp. 2d
431, 450 (W.D. Tex. 1999) (dismissing RICO claims for failure to include “specific facts” in
complaints). Plaintiffs are not entitled to submit a conclusory, barebones complaint that fails to
provide fair notice of the facts on which they rely. Likewise, including paragraph after paragraph
of irrelevant allegations will not satisfy Plaintiffs pleading burden. The onus of asserting clear
and understandable allegations falls squarely on Plaintiffs, who cannot avoid that obligation by
filing a confusing complaint that requires the court or the defendant to strain in an attempt to
comprehend the incomprehensible. See, e.g., Old Time Enterprises v. Int’l Coffee Corp., 862
F.2d 1213, 1218 (5th Cir. 1989) (dismissing RICO allegations and stating “[i]t is perhaps not
impossible that a RICO claim may lie hidden or buried somewhere in [plaintiff’s] complaints and
the Standing Order case statement. [Plaintiff’s] pleadings do not unequivocally negate such a
possibility. However, they also do not state a RICO claim against defendants with sufficient
intelligibility for a court or opposing party to understand whether a valid claim is alleged and if

so what it is.”).

1. PLAINTIFFS HAVE NOT ADEQUATELY PLEADED THE NECESSARY
PREDICATE ACTS.

S. Plaintiffs have brought their RICO action under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) and (d). To

avoid dismissal for failure to state a claim, a plaintiff must articulate how each defendant
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engaged in a prohibited pattern of racketeering activity or “predicate acts.” Cadle Co., 779 F.
Supp. at 397 (citing Elliott, 867 F.2d at 882). The only “facts” cited by Plaintiffs regarding
V&F’s predicate acts are contained in paragraphs 133 and 145 — 151. The RICO Act defines
“racketeering activity” by reference to various state and federal offenses, “each of which
subsumes additional constituent elements that the plaintiff must plead.” Id at 398. As
demonstrated below, Plaintiffs have failed to adequately plead these necessary predicate acts.

a. PLAINTIFFS HAVE FAILED TO ALLEGE AN UNLAWFUL ACT
AGAINST V&F.

6. With respect to V&F, Plaintiffs have listed four federal crimes that appear in 18
U.S.C § 1961(1)’s definition of racketeering activity. However, to successfully plead a RICO
claim under § 1962(c), Plaintiffs must do more than simple list the predicate act crimes necessary
to establish a pattern of racketeering activity. Plaintiffs must also plead specific facts that, if true,
would establish that each predicate act was in fact committed by V&F. Elliott, 867 F.2d at 880.
Plaintiffs’ Complaint fails to meet this standard. For most of the identified predicated acts,
Plaintiffs simply identify the statute, provide a general description of the conduct it prohibits, and
then asserts that V&F violated the statute. However, these allegations are baseless on its face and

a far cry from the truth. Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ claims must be dismissed.
b. PLAINTIFFS HAVE FAILED TO ADEQUATELY PLEAD WITH
PARTICULARITY THEIR FRAUD-BASED PREDICATE ACTS AS

REQUIRED BY FEDERAL RULE 9(B).

7. Most of Plaintiffs’ predicate acts are, at their core, allegations of fraudulent
behavior. Because all of Plaintiffs’ allegations are fundamentally grounded in fraud, “rule 9(b)
applies and the predicate acts alleged must be plead with particularity.” Walsh v. America’s Tele-

Network Corp., 195 F. Supp. 2d 840, 846 (E.D. Tex. 2002) (citing Williams v. WMX Techs., Inc.,

112 F.3d 175, 177 (5th Cir. 1997)); FED. R. C1v. P. 9(b) (“In all averments of fraud or mistake,
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the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake shall be stated with particularity.”).
Underpinning the heightened pleading requirement for fraud claims is the federal courts’
determination that “defendants are not required to guess what statements were made in
connection with a plaintiff’s claim and how and why they are fraudulent.” Allstate Insurance
Company v. Benhamou, No. 4:15-CV-00367, 2016 WL 3126423, at *17 (S.D. Tex. June 2,
2016). Thus, Plaintiffs’ fraud allegations must specifically refer to the “time, place, and contents
of the false representations, as well as the identity of the person making the representation and
what the person obtained thereby.” Tel-Phonic Servs., Inc. v. TBS Int’l, Inc., 975 F.2d 1134,
1138 (5th Cir. 1992); Skidmore Energy, Inc. v. KPMG LLP, No. CIV.A.3:03CV2138-B, 2004
WL 3019097, at *3 (N.D. Tex. Dec. 28, 2004). When pleading a claim for mail or wire fraud,
Plaintiffs must specify the content of the alleged communications and how those
communications advanced the alleged scheme to defraud the Plaintiffs. Elliott, 867 F.2d at 882;
Old Time Enterprises, 862 F.2d at 1218; Tel-Phonic Servs., 975 F.2d at 1138.

8. Here, Plaintiffs have failed to allege the contents of any of the purported false
representations made by V&F, or how they advanced the alleged scheme to defraud Plaintiffs,
flaws that are fatal to their claims. Moreover, as stated above, Plaintiffs offer no real factual
support for their obstruction of justice, mail and wire-fraud allegations, or truly any of their
claims. Given these fatal defects, the Court should dismiss Plaintiffs’ RICO action.

C. PLAINTIFFS HAVE FAILED TO PLEAD RELIANCE IN CONNECTION
WITH THEIR FRAUD RELATED CLAIMS.

9. RICO cases based upon fraud require a showing of detrimental reliance by the
plaintiff. Summit Properties, Inc. v. Hoechst Celanese Corp., 214 F.3d 556, 562 (5th Cir. 2000)
(dismissing RICO claims where plaintiff failed to allege reliance in connection with fraud-based

predicate acts); Sherman v. Main Event, Inc., No. 3:02-CV-1314-G, 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
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1571, *¥16 (N.D. Tex. Feb. 3, 2003) (Fish, J.) (unpublished) (dismissing RICO claims for mail,
wire, and bankruptcy fraud where plaintiff failed to allege reliance). This requirement, the Fifth
Circuit has determined, is consistent with the Supreme Court’s admonition in Holmes that federal
courts employ traditional notions of proximate cause when assessing the nexus between a
plaintiff’s injuries and the underlying RICO violation. See Holmes v. Securities Investor
Protection Corp., 503 U.S. 258, 279 (1992); Sandwich Chef of Texas, Inc. v. Reliance Nat'l
Indemnity Ins. Co., 319 F.3d 205, 219 (5th Cir. 2003); In re MasterCard International, Inc., 313
F.2d 257, 263 (5th Cir. 2002) (noting that district court’s reliance analysis was “particularly
compelling”). But, despite this firmly established requirement, Plaintiffs in this case have
asserted no allegations—indeed, not even a conclusory allegation—detailing how they
purportedly relied upon V&F’s allegedly fraudulent conduct. Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ RICO

claims, most of which are fraud-based, should be dismissed.

2. PLAINTIFFS HAVE FAILED To PLEAD A CoGNizZABLE RICO
ENTERPRISE.
a. PLAINTIFFS ENTERPRISE ALLEGATIONS ARE TOO VAGUE AND
CONCLUSORY.
10.  An enterprise is defined as “any individual, partnership, corporation, association,

or other legal entity, and any union or group of individuals associated in fact although not a legal
entity.” 18 U.S.C. § 1961(4); see also Elliott, 867 F.2d at 881. The Fifth Circuit requires that
“[i]n order to avoid dismissal for failure to state a claim, a plaintiff must plead specific facts, not
mere conclusory allegations, which establish the existence of an enterprise.” Elliott, 867 F.2d at
881.

11.  To establish an “association in fact” enterprise under 18 U.S.C. § 1961(4) a

plaintiff must show ‘“’evidence of an ongoing organization, formal or informal, and ... evidence
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that the various associates function as a continuing unit.”” Atkinson v. Anadarko Bank & Trust
Co., 808 F.2d 438, 440-41 (5th Cir. 1987) (quoting U.S. v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 583 (1981)).
The Supreme Court in Turkette stated that the “enterprise is an entity, for present purposes a
group of persons associated together for a common purpose of engaging in a course of conduct.”
452 U.S. at 583. The Fifth Circuit has enumerated the requirements of an enterprise as requiring
that it “(1) must have an existence separate and apart from the pattern of racketeering, (2) must
be an ongoing organization and (3) its members must function as a continuing unit shown by a
hierarchical or consensual decision making structure.” Landry v. Air Line Pilots Ass'n Int'l, 901
F.2d 404, 433 (5th Cir.1990).

12.  “[T}wo individuals who join together for the commission of one discrete criminal
offense have not created an “association-in-fact” enterprise, even if they commit two predicate
acts during the commission of this offense, because their relationship to one another has no
continuity.” Montesano et al. v. Seafirst Commercial Corp. et al., 818 F.2d 423, 426-27 (5th Cir.
1987). However, “if the individuals associate together to commit several criminal acts, their
relationship gains an ongoing nature, coming within the purview of RICO.” Ocean Energy II,
Inc. v. Alexander & Alexander, Inc., 868 F.2d 740, 749 (5th Cir. 1989) (quoting Montesano, 818
F.2d at 427).

13.  Plaintiffs have provided virtually no facts concerning the alleged enterprise, how
it operated, how decisions were made, what conduct beyond the alleged predicate acts they
purportedly engaged in, how the operations of the individuals were carried out, or how they went
about accomplishing their purported goals. Instead, Plaintiffs allege the text book elements of an

enterprise characterized with inflammatory exaggerations and baseless conclusions.
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14.  Plaintiffs fail to allege any specific facts that would demonstrate a conspiracy of
any kind—when it began, who was actually a part of such conspiracy or any facts suggesting that
any defendant had actual knowledge that any of the seemingly harmless acts were done in
furtherance of some secret conspiracy. In the absence of these or any other supporting facts,
Plaintiffs’ pleadings are simply insufficient.

15.  Given RICO’s “draconian” penalties and the fact that the very pendency of a
RICO suit can be stigmatizing and costly, Plaintiffs should be required to satisfy their pleading
obligations. See Fitzgerald v. Chrysler Corp., 116 F.3d 225, 228 (7th Cir. 1997) (characterizing
RICO’s penalties as “draconian™); Miranda v. Ponce Federal Bank, 948 F.2d 41, 44 (1st Cir.
1991) (characterizing RICO cases as “stigmatizing” and “costly”). Hence, to avert dismissal
under Rule 12(b)(6), a civil RICO complaint must, at a bare minimum, state facts sufficient to
portray (i) specific instances of racketeering activity within the reach of the RICO statute; and
(ii) a causal nexus between that activity and the harm alleged.” Miranda, 948 F.2d at 44-45
(emphasis added) (affirming dismissal of RICO claims where the pleadings “though copious,
[were] vague and inexplicit”). Plaintiffs have failed to meet even this “bare minimum”
requirement. Therefore, this case should be dismissed.

b. PLAINTIFFS ALLEGED ENTERPRISE LACKS CONTINUITY.

16.  Because the RICO Act was enacted to address continuing threats of racketeering
activities, the alleged RICO enterprises must meet certain “continuity” requirements. See, e.g.,
Delta Truck, 855 F.2d at 242-43 (“The concept of continuity as a means of controlling the scope
of RICO has also been incorporated into the enterprise element of section 1962.”). Specifically,
“[a]n association-in fact enterprise (1) must have an existence separate and apart from the pattern

of racketeering, (2) must be an ongoing organization and (3) its members must function as a
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continuing unit as shown by a hierarchical or consensual decision making structure.” Crowe v.
Henry, 43 F.3d 198, 205 (5th Cir. 1995). These requirements limit the application of the RICO
Act, and serve to prevent an overly-broad application to general commercial conduct that was
never really the intended focus of the Act. Delta Truck, 855 F.2d at 242-43.

17.  Here, the purported enterprise fails to meet RICO’s “continuity” requirement on
all three levels. First, nothing in the Complaint even remotely suggests that the alleged enterprise
is an ongoing organization that maintains operations that are separate and apart from the alleged
predicate acts. Second, there are no facts in the Complaint suggesting that the enterprise is an
ongoing organization, or that the various enterprise members function as a continuing unit.
Lastly, there are no allegations of any hierarchical or consensual decision making structure. The
absence of factual support for these key allegations is fatal, and thus, Plaintiffs have failed to

meet the pleading standard for a cognizable enterprise.

3. PLAINTIFFS HAVE FAILED TO ADEQUATELY PLEAD A PATTERN OF
RACKETEERING ACTIVITY.
18.  Plaintiffs have also failed to plead facts sufficient to show a “pattern of

racketeering activity,” an element comprised of (1) the predicate acts and (2) a pattern of such
acts. See In re Burzynski, 989 F.2d 989 733, 741-42 (5th Cir. 1993) (citing Delta Truck, 855 F.2d
at 242-43). To properly allege a “pattern” of predicate acts, Plaintiffs must plead both that the
acts are related to each other and that those acts either constitute or threaten long-term criminal
activity, thereby reflecting “continuity.” H.J., Inc. v. Northwestern Bell Tel. Co., 492 U.S. 229,
239 (1989). When used in discussion of predicate acts, the term “continuity” has a meaning that
differs from the “continuity” requirement imposed on RICO enterprises, even though the label is
the same. Establishing continuity in this context requires facts sufficient to show that the

predicate acts “amount to or threaten continuous racketeering activity.” In re Burzynski, 989 F.2d
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at 742-43 (finding no continuity where the acts complained of had ended and, thus, did not
threaten long-term criminal activity). Such continuity may refer “either to a closed period of
repeated conduct or to past conduct that by its nature projects into the future with a threat of
repetition.” Id. (quoting H.J,, Inc., 492 U.S. at 241).

19.  Here, Plaintiffs alleges several times throughout their Complaint that V&F
engaged in a “pattern of racketeering.” However, their conclusory allegations fail to set forth the
necessary pattern of predicate acts and the supporting facts to establish that they amount to or
threaten continuous racketeering activity.

4. PLAINTIFFS HAVE NOT ADEQUATELY ALLEGED A CONSPIRACY CLAIM
UNDER § 1962(d).

20. A claim under § 1962(d) necessarily relies upon a properly pleaded claim brought
under subsections (a), (b), or (c). Because Plaintiffs have failed to adequately plead violations of
those other subsections, the § 1962(d) conspiracy allegation fails to state a claim. Nolen v.
Nucentrix Broadband Networks, 293 F.3d 926, 930 (5th Cir. 2002) (affirming dismissal of §
1962(d) claim where plaintiff did not adequately plead § 1962(a) and (c) claims). Plaintiffs’
conspiracy allegations are conclusory and lack supporting factual details. See Lovick v.
Ritemoney Ltd, 378 F.3d 433, 437 (5th Cir. 2004) (holding that courts need not rely on
“conclusional allegations or legal conclusions disguised as factual allegations” in considering a
motion to dismiss); see also Crowe, 43 F.3d at 206 (dismissing § 1962(d) claim because
plaintiff’s allegations were conclusory and failed to allege adequate supporting facts). Plaintiffs
mere insistence that V&F conspired to participate in a criminal enterprise is insufficient to

support a RICO claim. As a result, this claim too should be dismissed.
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C. PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS SHOULD BE DISMISSED BECAUSE PLAINTIFFS’
ALLEGATIONS DO NOT SATISFY RICO’S PROXIMATE CAUSE STANDARD.

21.  To recover damages under the RICO Act, Plaintiffs must prove that they suffered
an injury to their “business or property by reason of” a statutory violation. 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c).
The “by reason of” language of RICO has been interpreted by the Supreme Court and to require
a showing that the violation was the “but for” cause and “proximate” cause of the injury. Z-Tel
Communications, Inc. v. SBC Communications, Inc., 331 F.Supp.2d 513, 559 (E.D. Tex. 2004)
(citing Holmes, 503 U.S. at 279). That is, a plaintiff must allege facts which show that, “but for”
defendant’s conduct, the plaintiff would not have suffered the injuries claimed. Ocean Energy I1
v. Alexander & Alexander, Inc., 868 F.2d 740, 744 (5th Cir. 1989). A plaintiff must also allege
facts which show that its alleged injuries were a foreseeable consequence of the defendant’s
conduct. Navigant Consulting, Inc. v. Wilkinson, 508 F.3d 277, 289 (5th Cir. 2007). More plainly
stated, a RICO plaintiff “only has standing if, and can only recover to the extent that, he has been
injured in his business or property by the conduct constituting the [RICO] violation.” Sedima,
473 U.S. at 496.

22.  Thus, to avoid a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal, Plaintiffs must allege the existence of a
“direct relation between the injury asserted and the injurious conduct alleged.” See, e.g., Anza v.
Ideal Steel Supply Corp., 547 U.S. 451, 452 (2006), 1996 (2006); Old Time Enterprises, 862
F.2d at 1219. These allegations must include specific facts; conclusory and generalized
allegations are insufficient. Fernandez-Montez v. Allied Pilots Ass’n, 987 F.2d 278, 284 (5th Cir.
1993). “When a court evaluates a RICO claim for proximate causation, the central question it
must ask is whether the alleged violation led directly to the plaintiffs’ injuries.” 4nza, 547 U.S. at

452.
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23. The United States Supreme Court emphasized RICO’s proximate-cause
requirement in Anza v. Ideal Steel Supply Corp. In explaining its conclusion, the Supreme Court
identified circumstances that emphasized the lack of the necessary causal connection. One such
circumstance was the difficulty the trial court would have accurately ascertaining damages. The
“less direct an injury is, the more difficult it becomes to ascertain the amount of a plaintiffs’
damages attributable to the violation, as distinct from other independent factors.” Id. If the case
were allowed to go forward, the court reasoned, the trial court would be faced with the difficult
task of accurately ascertaining the plaintiff’s damages. Id.

24.  Applying the above-referenced strict proximate-cause requirements in this case, it
becomes clear that the required direct relationship between the injury asserted and the alleged
injurious conduct is simply lacking. Plaintiffs’ Complaint contains the following allegations
regarding Plaintiffs’ alleged injuries, which fail to meet the required pleading standards:

» Plaintiff Curtis is one of five beneficiaries of the Brunsting Family of Trusts, who has
been deprived of the enjoyment of her beneficial interests, forced to incur expense and
fees in effort to obtain the use of her property, and has suffered extortionist threats of
injury to property rights and has suffered fraud upon both state and federal courts
committed by corrupt court officers in furtherance of a pattern of racketeering, activity

herein delineated with a particularity.

» As an actual consequence and proximate result Plaintiff Curtis has been injured in her
business and property in an exact amount to be proven at trial.

> Plaintiff Munson is a multi-disciplinarian with skills that include but are not limited to
information systems engineering and paralegal, among several other skilled crafts.
Munson has worked diligently as a paralegal on the Curtis v. Brunsting lawsuit for more
than four years, in effort to obtain justice for Ms. Curtis, only to be frustrated by a
blatantly corrupt probate court and its officers herein named.

» As an actual consequence and proximate result of the racketeering conspiracy and the
obstruction, intentional delay, refusal to administer justice and other means and methods
employed, Plaintiff Munson has been diverted away from other productive pursuits and
has thus suffered tangible losses to his property and business interest in an amount to be
proven at trial.
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25. Clearly, these allegations are insufficient to properly plead a violation of the
RICO Act because they are vague, conclusory and generalized. Nevertheless, just like in Anza,
Plaintiffs has alleged a similar disjunctive causation pattern with respect to their claims against
V&F. There is not a direct relation between the injury asserted and the injurious conduct alleged
as anticipated by Anza. At a minimum, the necessary causal link is missing. Because Plaintiffs
have failed to allege facts necessary to meet the Supreme Court’s high proximate-causation
standard, this case should be dismissed.

D. PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS SHOULD BE DISMISSED BECAUSE A VIOLATION OF THE
HOBBS ACT DOES NOT CREATE A PRIVATE CAUSE OF ACTION.

27.  Onits face, the Hobbs Act is a criminal statute which contains no reference to any
private civil right of action. 18 U.S.C. § 1851. While the Fifth Circuit has not specifically spoken
to this issue, other courts, have specifically held that the Hobbs Act creates no private right of
action. See, e.g.,, Trevino v. Pechero, 592 F.Supp.2d 939, 946-47 (S.D. Tex. 2008); Decker v.
Dunbar, No. 5:06-cv-210, 2008 WL 4500650, *43 (E.D. Tex Sept. 29, 2008). Because the
Hobbs Act cannot support an independent civil action, Plaintiffs’ Hobbs Act claim should be

dismissed for failure to state a claim.

E. PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS SHOULD BE DISMISSED BECAUSE V&F CANNOT BE
CIVILLY LIABLE FOR AIDING AND ABETTING

28.  There is no statutory provision holding persons civilly liable for aiding and
abetting violations of the RICO statute, and thus this claim must be dismissed as it is not a viable
cause of action against V&F. See Central Bank of Denver v. First Interstate Bank of Denver,

N.A., 511 U.S. 164, 182 (1994).
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F. PLAINTIFFS® CLAIMS SHOULD BE DiISMISSED BECAUSE PLAINTIFFS HAVE NOT
ADEQUATELY PLEADED A VIOLATION OF PLAINTIFFS’ CIVIL RIGHTS.

1. Plaintiffs HAVE NOT ADEQUATELY PLEADED A CLAIM UNDER § 1983.

29.  Section 1983 “provides a federal cause of action for the deprivation, under the
color of law, of a citizen’s ‘rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution and
laws’ of the United States.” Livadas v. Bradshaw, 512 U.S. 107, 132 (1994). To state a claim
under § 1983, a plaintiff must allege facts that show that he has been deprived of a right secured
by the Constitution and laws of the United States and that the deprivation occurred under color of
state law. See Flagg Bros, Inc. v. Brooks, 436 U.S. 149, 155 (1978); Cornish v. Corr. Servs.
Corp., 402 F.3d 545, 549 (5th Cir. 2005). Plaintiffs cannot meet the essential element of this
claim — identify a specific constitutionally protected right that has been infringed. See Graham v.
Connor, 490, U.S. 386, 394 (1989). The requirement that the deprivation occur under color of
state law is also known as the “state action” requirement. See Bass v. Parkwood Hosp., 180 F.3d
234, 241 (5th Cir. 1999). A private party, like V&F, will be considered in a state action for §
1983 purposes only in rare circumstances. See Gordon v. Neugebauer, 57 F.Supp.3d 766, 773
(N.D. Tex. 2014). V&F requests the Court dismiss Plaintiffs’ § 1983 claims because Plaintiffs’
Complaint fail to allege facts that, if true, would amount to a violation of § 1983.

30.  There are two ways that a private actor can be considered a state actor for
purposes of imposing § 1983 liability. First, the plaintiff can show that the private actor was
implementing an official government policy. See Rundus v. City of Dallas, Tex., 634 F.3d 309,
312 (5th Cir. 2011). Plaintiffs have included no facts in their Complaint which, if true, would
show that any of the governmental units sued by Plaintiffs had an official policy that caused the

alleged constitutional violations—much less that V&F implemented that policy.
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31. The second method for proving state action under § 1983 is a showing that the
private entity's actions are fairly attributable to the government. See Rundus, 634 F.3d at 312.
This is also known as the “attribution test.” The Supreme Court has articulated a two-part inquiry
for determining whether a private party's actions are fairly attributable to the government: (1)
“the deprivation [of plaintiff's constitutional rights] must be caused by the exercise of some right
or privilege created by the State or by a rule of conduct imposed by the state or by a person for
whom the State is responsible” and (2) “the party charged with the deprivation must be a person
who may fairly be said to be a state actor.” Lugar v. Edmondson Oil Co., 457 U.S. 922, 937
(1982); see also Bass, 180 F.3d at 241. Here, V&F are private citizens. Thus, V&F can only be
liable under § 1983 if their conduct that forms the basis of this lawsuit is fairly attributable to the
state of Texas or one of its political subdivisions.

32.  The Supreme Court utilizes three different tests for determining whether the
conduct of a private actor can be fairly attributable to a state actor under the second prong of the
attribution test: (1) the nexus or joint-action test, (2) the public function test, and (3) the state
coercion or encouragement test. See Richard v. Hoechst Celanese Chem. Grp., Inc., 355 F.3d
345, 352 (5th Cir. 2003); Lewis v. Law—Yone, 813 F.Supp. 1247, 1254 (N.D. Tex. 1993)
(describing the three tests as applicable to the resolution of the second prong of the attribution
test articulated by the Supreme Court in Lugar).

a. NEXUS/JOINT-ACTION TEST

33.  Under the nexus test, a private party will be considered a state actor “where the
government has ‘so far insinuated itself into a position of interdependence with the [private
actor] that it was a joint participant in the enterprise,”” and the actions of the private party can be

treated as that of the state itself. Bass, 180 F.3d at 242; see also Blum v. Yaretsky, 457 U.S. 991,
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1004 (1982). Plaintiffs have pled no facts which would suggest that any state governmental
entity has “insinuated itself into a position of interdependence” with V&F. Indeed, Plaintiffs fail
to plead any facts which would show that V&F ever interacted or communicated with the any
state governmental entity regarding the estate planning documents. Plaintiffs have failed to plead

facts that would satisfy the nexus test for state action under § 1983.

b. PusLIC FUNCTION TEST
34.  Under the public function test, a “private entity may be deemed a state actor when
that entity performs a function which is traditionally the exclusive province of the state.” Bass,
180 F.3d at 241-42. Here, Plaintiffs’ Complaint is devoid of any facts showing that V&F was
performing a function that was traditionally the exclusive province of the state when they drafted
the estate planning documents.
c. STATE COERCION OR ENCOURAGEMENT TEST
35. Under the state coercion test, “a State normally can be held responsible for a
private decision only when it has exercised coercive power or has provided such significant
encouragement, either overt or covert, that the choice must in law be deemed to be that of the
State.” Bass, 180 F.3d at 242. State coercion or compulsion can be found where the plaintiff
establishes that the private defendants were engaged in a conspiracy with state officials. See
Tebo v. Tebo, 550 F.3d 492, 496 (5th Cir. 2008).
36.  To establish such a conspiracy, the plaintiff must show that the private and public
actors entered into an agreement to commit an illegal act. /d. At the motion to dismiss stage, the

plaintiff must “allege specific facts to show an agreement.” See id. (quoting Priester v. Lowndes
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Cnty., 354 F.3d 414, 421 (5th Cir. 2004)). Here, Plaintiffs have included no facts in their
Complaint which would suggest that V&F entered into an agreement or was acting at the
direction of any government official when they drafted the estate planning documents. There are
simply no facts which would, if true, show the existence of an illegal agreement between V&F
and a governmental entity. Plaintiffs have thus failed to plead facts showing that V&F was
coerced or encouraged by any governmental entity with respect to drafting of the estate planning
documents. Priester, 354 F.3d at 420 (conspiracy alleges that are “merely conclusory, without
reference to specific facts,” will not survive a motion to dismiss).

37.  In sum, Plaintiffs’ Complaint is devoid of the factual allegations necessary to
plead state action under the nexus test, the public function test, or the state coercion or
encouragement test. Plaintiffs have failed to establish the necessary state action required to hold
a private actor liable under § 1983. Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ § 1983 claims against V&F should
be dismissed for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

2. Plaintiffs HAVE NOT ADEQUATELY PLEADED A CLAIM UNDER § 1985

38.  To state a § 1985 claim, a plaintiff must plead: (1) a conspiracy involving two or
more persons, (2) to deprive, directly or indirectly, a person or class of persons of equal
protection of the laws, (3) that one or more of the conspirators committed an act in furtherance of
that conspiracy, (4) which causes injury to another in his person or property or a deprivation of
any right or privilege he has as a citizen of the United States, and (5) the conspirators’ action is
motivated by “discriminatory animus.” Wong v. Stripling, 881 F.2d 200, 202 (5th Cir. 1989).

39.  Plaintiffs’ § 1985 claim fails for several reasons. First, a viable § 1985 claim
requires an underlying violation of constitutional rights or privileges secured elsewhere. See

Griffin v. Breckenridge, 403 US. 88, 102-04 (1971).
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40.  Plaintiffs’ § 1985 claim also fails because Plaintiffs failed to properly identify
facts sufficient to support the elements of a § 1985 claim. Plaintiffs’ Complaint, as to this cause
of action, is very brief and does not contain any factual averments from which a neutral fact
finder could conclude that a conspiracy existed, that it was race-based, that Plaintiffs are in a
protected class, or that it involved obstruction of justice or denial of equal protection of the laws.

41.  Finally, Plaintiffs’ § 1985 claim fails because they have provided no evidence
whatsoever of class-based animus. Nor do Plaintiffs allege that they are members of a protected
class. As such, Plaintiffs’ § 1985 claims against V&F should be dismissed for failure to state a
claim upon which relief can be granted.

F. TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH INHERITANCE RIGHTS IS NOT A RECOGNIZED
CAUSE OF ACTION IN TEXAS

42.  Neither the Texas Legislature nor the Texas Supreme Court have recognized a
cause of action for tortious interference with inheritance rights. See Anderson v. Archer, 490
S.W.3d 175, 176 (Tex. App.—Austin 2016, pet. filed May 18, 2016); Walker v. Kinsel, No. 07-
13-00130-CV, 2015 WL 2085220, *3 (Tex. App.—Amarillo Apr. 10, 2015, pet. filed Aug. 19,
2015). Because this is not a viable cause of action, Plaintiffs claim for tortious interference with
inheritance rights should be dismissed for failure to state a claim.

Iv.
PRAYER

WHEREFORE PREMISES CONSIDERED, Defendants Candace Kuntz-Freed and
Albert Vacek, Jr. hereby request that their Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim on all

claims alleged by Plaintiffs.
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Respectfully Submitted,

By:/s/ Cory S. Reed
Zandra E. Foley
Texas Bar No. 24032085
S.D. Tex. No. 632778
zfoley(@thompsoncoe.com

Cory S. Reed

Texas Bar No. 24076640
S.D. Tex. No. 1187109
creed@thompsoncoe.com

Thompson, Coe, Cousins &Irons, L.L.P.
One Riverway, Suite 1400

Houston, Texas 77056

Telephone: (713) 403-8210

Telecopy: (713) 403-8299

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS

CANDACE KUNTZ-FREED AND
ALBERT VACEK, JR.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
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I certify that on the 7th day of September, 2016, a true and correct copy of the foregoing
was served was served via the Court’s ECF system upon the following counsel of record:

Candace L. Curtis

Rik Wayne Munson

218 Landana Street

American Canyon, California 94503

/s/ Cory S. Reed
Cory S. Reed
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
HOUSTON DIVISION

CANDACE LOUISE CURTIS AND RICK
WAYNE MUNSON,

Plaintiffs,

V. CIVIL ACTION NO. 4:16-CV-01969
CANDACE KUNZ-FREED, ALBERT
VACEK, JR., BERNARD LYLE
MATHEWS III, NEAL SPIELMAN,
BRADLEY FEATHERSTON, STEPHEN
A. MENDEL, DARLENE PAYNE SMITH,
JASON OSTROM, GREGORY LESTER,
JILL WILLARD YOUNG, CHRISTINE
RIDDLE BUTTS, CLARINDA
COMSTOCK, TONI BIAMONTE, BOBBY
BAYLESS, ANITA ‘BRUNSTING, AND
AMY BRUNSTING,
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Defendants.

DEFENDANTS CANDACE KUNZ-FREED AND ALBERT VACEK JR.’S
MOTION TO DISMISS FOR LACK OF SUBJECT
MATTER JURISDICTION

TO THE HONORABLE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT JUDGE:

Defendants Candace Kuntz-Freed and Albert Vacek, Jr. (collectively referred to as
“V&F”) hereby file this Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction and would
respectfully show the Court the following:

I.
SUMMARY OF MOTION

1. This is the most recent lawsuit filed in the “Brunsting Sibling Saga” and Plaintiff
Candace Louise Curtis second attempt to have a federal judge consider these issues. In addition,

similar claims are currently pending against V&F in Harris County, Texas. This Court does not
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have subject matter jurisdiction over this case because Plaintiffs do not have standing to assert
the present claims. Simply, Plaintiffs do not have an actual case or controversy with V&F.
Plaintiffs cannot articulate any action traceable to V&F, which has caused any injury under any
of the theoretical approaches taken by Plaintiffs. Additionally, V&F cannot be held liable to
Plaintiffs. Accordingly, V&F requests that this Court dismiss Plaintiffs’ claim for lack of subject
matter jurisdiction.

1L
BACKGROUND

A. V&F HANDLED ESTATE PLANNING FOR THE BRUNSTING FAMILY.

2. Prior to their deaths, V&F had performed general estate planning legal services
for Elmer and Nelva Brunsting beginning in 1997. On February 12, 1997, Elmer and Nelva
created a living trust (the “Brunsting Family Living Trust™) for their benefit and for the benefit of
their five children. The stated co-successor beneficiary distribution was to be equal, 1/5 for each
of the five Brunsting children'. Elmer and Nelva restated the Brunsting Family Living Trust in
2005, and amended it for the first time in 2007. The 2007 amendment replaced Amy with Curtis
as co-successor trustee with Carl Brunsting (the only son of the family). After being diagnosed
with Alzheimer’s and Dementia, Elmer died in 2009. Thereafter, Nelva made all the decisions
with respect to the Brunsting Family Living Trust until she resigned as trustee in December of
2010. She later died in November of 2011. Since the death of Nelva there have been numerous
lawsuits filed by Curtis and her brother Carl against the rest of the Brunsting siblings.

B. CURTIS FIRST FEDERAL LAWSUIT ALLEGED SIMILAR ALLEGATIONS.

3. On February 27, 2012 Curtis originally filed an Original Complaint and

Application for Ex Parte Temporary Restraining Order, Asset Freeze, Temporary and Permanent

! The beneficiary distribution has never been changed.
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Injunction against Anita and Amy (“the Current Trustees™) in the United States District Court for
the Southern District of Texas” alleging breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, and intentional infliction
of emotional distress. Generally, Curtis argued that the Current Trustees failed to meet their
obligations under the Brunsting Family Living Trust.

4. Specifically with regards to the breach of fiduciary duty claim, Curtis alleged that
Anita and Amy were acting jointly as co-trustees for the Brunsting Family Living Trust, of
which she is a beneficiary and named successor beneficiary. Curtis claimed as the Current
Trustees, they owed a fiduciary duty to Curtis to provide all beneficiaries and successor
beneficiaries of the Brunsting Family Living Trust with information concerning trust
administration, copies of trust documents, and semi-annual accounting. Curtis further contended
that as the Current Trustees, they owed a fiduciary duty to provide notice to all beneficiaries
prior to any changes to the trust that would affect their beneficiary interest. Curtis also alleged
that the Current Trustees exercised all of the powers of trustees while refusing or otherwise
failing to meet their first obligations under that power.

5. As to Curtis’ fraud claim, she alleged that the Current Trustees refused or
otherwise failed to meet their obligations to provide full, accurate, complete and timely
accounting or provide copies of material documents or notification of material facts relating to
trust administration which constitutes fraud. Curtis also alleged that there was a conflict of
interest between the Current Trustees and the beneficiaries or successor beneficiaries of the
Brunsting Family Living Trust. In particular, Anita held the general power of attorney for Nelva,
but at some point required her to resign making Anita her successor trustee. Curtis contended

that Anita transgressed the limitation placed upon her authority by the Brunsting Family Living

See Cause No. 4:-12-cv-00592; Candace Louise Curtis v. Anita Kay Brunsting, et al; In the United States
District Court for the Southern District of Texas.
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Trust by refusing or otherwise failing to meet her obligations to provide full, accurate, complete
and timely accounting or provide copies of material documents and facts relating to trust
administration, the concealing of which coupled with multiple conflicts of interest constitute
manifests acts of fraud.

6. Curtis’ intentional infliction of emotional distress claim stemmed from the
Current Trustees failure to provide her with information related to the Brunsting Family Living
Trust and the trust's administration.

C. CURTIS ATTEMPTED TO SUE V&F IN THE ORIGINAL FEDERAL LAWSUIT FOR
SIMILAR CLAIMS.

7. On April 29, 2013 Curtis filed her First Amended Complaint attempting to add
V&F as named Defendants to the Federal Court Suit’. As to Curtis specific allegations against
V&F she had alleged conspiracy, fraud, elder abuse, undue influence, false instruments, breach
of fiduciary duty, aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty, tortuous interference with
fiduciary obligations, conversion, and violations of the Deceptive Trade Practices Act. She
claimed she was informed and believed V&F assisted the Current Trustees in “rupturing the
Brunsting family trusts” by creating documents improperly disrupting the dispositive provisions
of Elmer and Nelva's estate plan. Further, V&F provided substantial assistance in such
conspiracy resulting in the transfer of assets for th